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Mace Limited

Strategm report
Year ended 31 December 2022

The Mace Group is an interpational development, consullancy, construction, and facilities management Company founded on
exceptional people, a commitment to service exceltence and an entrepreneurial spirit. The Mace Group comprlses Mace lelted
and iis subsidiarias.

‘Overview headlines : .
Tne Mace Group has reported profit before taxation of £50.9m {a 5% decrease on 2021). Revenues at The Mace Grouyp were
£1.838bn (2021: £1.933kn).

Alungsnde lmprovamenks in produclwlly and cost efficiency across the Mace Group, there was significant growth in lhe .
’ consultancy business' revenues in 2022 : '

Key highlighls and the resulls‘of Mace Limited ("lhe Company") and its subsidiaries ("the Group*) are:

= - Group revenui of £1,936bn (2021: £1.933bn).

. Profit before taxation of £50.8m (2021 £53.6m).

. Consultancy revenue increased by 36% to £500m (2021: £366m).

. By the end of 2022, employee. headcount oi tha Mace Group had increased 10 6, 710 (2021 5, 054) This increase also
supported Consult's grawth in revenue.

. International activities contributed £516m (2021: 2485m) to Group revenue

. Construction contributad £1.4bn (71%) of revenue (2021: £1.5bn (78%)). . .

. £214m (2021: £382m) of construction work was uadertaken by third panies on schemes where Mace is employed
under a conslruclion management contract. Mace has no contractual arrangament with the supply chain on these
schemas and.the value of these works ls notincluded in Group revenue:

. Net cash posilion of £115m (2021: £122m). The net cash position is calculated as gross cash (excludlng restricted
cash) less averdrafts and bank loans.

. Cash balances net of overdrafts totalled £144m at the year-end (2021 £125m)

. Expenditure on research and development amounted to £67m (2021: £48m).

. 77% of lhe Group's budgeted 2023 revenues were secured by the end of 2022,

+  The Mace Group made denations to the Mace Foundation of £0.44m (2021: £0.29m). The Mace Foundancn is a UK
reg|slered charity {charity number 1150134) and is a separale legal €nlity to the Mace Groun.

« - No donations-wese made to political parties (2021 gnil). k .

. The averall tax charge for 2022 was £16.0m (2021: £11.0m), which was an effective tax rate of 31% {2021: 21%) of
profit on ordinary activities.

»  Atthe end of the year; the average ume taken for Mace Limiled to pay invoices was 28 days {2021 29 days), 95% of
invoices, including those in dispute, were paid within 80 days (2021: 94%), .

2022 was the secand year in the delivery of the Graoup's 2026 Business Strategy, which set out Mace's purpose - ‘o redefine ihe
houndaries of ambilion’ — and three strategic pricrities: grow together, pursue a sustainable world, and deliver distinctive value.
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key Performance 1nd|cat6r5

The Graup has establlshed largets for the 2026 Strategy 2022 is the secand year in which performance has been measured
against these largets. ' ’

Pursue a sustainable world © 2026 Target .- a0z 2021
| . : , , .

- o ‘ 10% annualiy 7% 11.6%
Corporate carbon reductian ) 7,379 tonnés COze - 11,429 tonnes COze 1 12,276 tonnes COn
Clieft caron reduction - - 10 million tonnes COze 1,135,467 tannes CG §55,416 tonnes GO’
(Secured Pipeline of Savings) . n * peeER i ’ 2
Bicodiversity gain . ) ’ 500 heclares * 54.3 hectares ". . 14 hectares

Despite increased emigsions .associated with business travel, fuel use on consiruclion sites and increased electricily
consumptian, the Group has achieved a 7% reduction in carbon emissions compared to 2021, This correspends to a total
reduction of 57% compared to 2019. Measures ta reduce business travel emissions and Increase the use of low emissions fuels
on construction sites wili be required ta further reduce emissions.

Carbon targets will be re\newad to align with the Science Based Targeis Intiative Guidance for Building when It is relzased in .
‘mid-2023.

In 2022, the Group identified a secureg plpelnhe of client carbon savings from across its global projects and programmes of mare
than 1 million tonnes. As a resull, the 2026 Stralegy target has been increased from 1 million to- 10 million tonnes, and the Group

has moved from tracking actuatl savings, to now reporting the metric of pipellne savmgs

Biadiversily Gain is presented as curnulative measure: 14 hectares were achieved in 2021 and 40.3 hectares were achieved in
2022, The Group is on track to achieve the Biodiversity Gain target for 2026. Since 2021, the Group has partnered wilh UK
Wildlife Trusts to provide longer term biodiversity support through funding and volunteering. Through this, the Graup has sectired
a pipeline of circa 180 hectares. Additional Biodivers ity Gain prujects and employee volunteering have further supported progress

towards this target.

Grow together - ‘ 2026 Target 2022 © 2021

Accident frequency rate -~ ) ’ . )
(Par 100,000 Hours Worked) 0.04 : . 0-_0,3 . D.08

27.7% i 31.2%

Reduce gender pay gap - 10% anaually &, Aor] 2021 in 5April 2022) | (6 April 2020 t0 5 Aprit 2021)
) .. 253% : 24.2%
Reduce elh!'ucn.y pay gap . 10% annually | . (6 April 2021 1o 5 April 2022) (6 Aprit 2020!0 5 Aprit 2021)

tn 2022 the Mace Group RIDDOR reportable accident frequency rate improved significantly to 0.03 {2021: 0.05). The reduction
in injury rates emanated from a combination of factors as our recorded audits and inspections continue 1o imprave. There were
8 reportable incidents (2021: 25). Lost time to injuies per 100,000 hours worked also significantly reduced to 0.12 (2021; 0.20).
The Mace Group continues to seek continuous improvement in its health and safely contrels and practice. ’

The Mace Group Gender Pay Gap statistics were affecled by several factors — including the praportion of women refative to men
who are promoled or récruited, internal restructuring (employess moving belween the Mace Group entlues] and pay reviews
through which salaries have been increased to reduce any pay gap.

Through Made Fmarging Talenl Recrultment policies, lhe Mace Group seeks to ensure diverse representation in development
programmes: Developing Success, Developing our Future and Talent Pathways. The Mace Group reviews thé plpeline of ethnic -
mingrily sénior managers and above for succession plans. The Mace Group is also signed Up tothe Race al Work Charter, whlch
makes the Mace Group accountable for its progress
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! | . s

E Grow together J 2026 Target |. ) 2022 | 2021

: . i

| . | Ny

‘i Employee engagement score [ &5% B4Y% ! éa% i

L | | |

Value to socrely (Anaual) . £70G0m : - £682.4mJ : ' £535.8m

L . . ot .

| | 1

Despite a.slight reduction in employee engagement score from 86% (2021) to 84% (2022), the scare remains high, The slight'
decline was caused by econamic circumstances. Actiors have focused ot lmprovements in the wark envrronmem ta enhance
wellbeing and engagement. :

The Mace Group evaluates ils impact on local comimunities using an independent "Value2Sociely' calculation which takes into
account a wide range of secio-economic factors including how fMace affects natural, social, intellectusl, manufactured, human -
and financial structures in society. In this way, the Mace Group is able to quantify the social value generated by its work and then-
demanstrale the langible benefits that are created for the environment and focal cammunities. The directors engage lhe
organisation Route2 to measure Value to Society (using a Total Capital Impact calculation). The Mace Group cuntrlbullon to
society was quantified as £682.4m in 2022, an increase of 27.4% on £535.8m in 2021, . .

. . . { . }

Deliver Distinctive Value 2026 Target 2622 ‘E 2021

. |
l . ) .

Good days at wark H

{score out of 100) | 20 . 85 ! 84

Client satisfaction score l . 85% l - 86% 88%

Profit Growth (Profit on Ordinary ) . . -

Activities Before Taxalion) ! 20% annually {5.2%) 6%
! Research and development | .. o J . o :
1 expenditure | - -3.5% of revenue l . 3.0% 2.5%
{ .

_"Gnod days &l work” is a measure of raspdnses 1o questions on a five-point Likert scale. The-questions cover perceptions of
experiencing positive emations, feeling cannecled, ach\E\nng tasks, and performing meaningful wark,

Mace undertakes customer sahsfacuon surveys with clients. Queshons are. desngned to elicit honest and open feedhack The
client provides a scored response to each queslion between O and 5. A percentage score is calculated for each cluster of
guestions and for the survey averall. This.is the Cfien safisfaction scare. 16 standard questlons are asked, with addittanal
queslions depending on the service being provided. The standard questions relale o gverall sewvice provided, time taken, cost
to clientvaiue for money, peaple interaction, communication, customer focus, reporting and overall performance. Depending on
the service provided, additional questions are also asked about construction dehvery, cost consullancy, facﬂmes management,
programie, and pra;ect management. B

Despite a slight reducnun in-Client Satisfaction Score from 88% (2021} to 86% (2022}, the scare remains high. The Graup is on
track lo achieve its targel for 2026,
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For the third year in a row, the Mace Group was carben neutral, reducing its emissions by 7% and cffselting 11, 430 tonnes with
gold standard offses. Four years ahead of targel, the Group ldemmed mare than a milion lonnes of carbon {o save on behalf of
its clients.

Supporting the delivery of distinctive value, the Grouﬁ announced the launch of the Innovation Fund ~ a fund designed lo support
new ideas and appraches willin the Group; allowing colleagues auiuss the Lusiness to benent persanally from the innavations
they suggest.

Investment in new technolagy enabled us to drive praductivity impravements, create new service offerings for clients and enable
safer working ~ including at Heathrow Airpert, where we are testing Lhe next gensration of construction defivery through robotics.

The Mace Group continued ta invest in its most important asset: its people. As the Group grew together with colleagues across
the globe, the number of graduates and apprentices il employed increased In 2022.

The Mace Group also achieved its best-ever health and safety performance on record, reporting a 0.03 AFR; helping ta meet the -
goal that everyone who works for Mace or in one of our workplaces can ga home safe and well, every day.

Reflecting the Mace Group commitment to being a responsible business, in 2022, the Mace Group was one of the first built
environment businesses in the UK to be offered. ESG-linked finance facilities, In January 2022, £60m was secured in liquidity
financing facilities; lnked to measures araund carbon renewable enargy and health and safety.

The pragress made in the year regarding the target KPIs is explored in more detail in the business review below.

Business Review

Mace Limited's consolidated pront before tax on ordmary aclivities in 2022 was £60.9m (2021: £53.8m). Since if was founded in
1990, the Group has made a profit in every year, 2022 being the 32nd consecutive year of maklng a prafit. Group revenue was
£1.94bn (2021: £1.93bn).

The Graup comprises four pperating divisions, called Engines for Growth. These are: Develop, Cansult, Constrict and Operate.
These operaling divisions are supported by Group Services, which provides Corporate Governance, Risk and Assurance, Legal
& Commercial Services, Finance, Information Technology, Marketing & Communlcahons Procurement and Human Resource
expertise.

Develop .

The Develop-business manages and delivers regeneration and development projects. Dusing the year, aclive development
ménagement prajects and pipeline were transferred from the Develop engine ta Consult to ensure greater alignment of the nature
of services being provided by the engines, Several schemes have been delivered over the past ten years, the more significant
ones that confinued through 2022 were as follows: .

Botley/Oxford: Mace holds a 50% JV interest in this mixed-use development project in West Oxfard. The development comprises
two phases. Phase 1 reached Praclical Completion in 2020 and is now operaticnal. This phase comprises 261 studen! rooms,
'20 build to rent {B¥R") apariments, a 123-bed hotel let to Premier Inn and 15 commercial retail units. Phasa 1 aiso delivered a
new local commurily facility that includes a library. Whilst the JV continues to hold and cperale this asset, the intention is to sell
Phase 1 assets as a corporate sale in the next 12-18 months. Phase 2 will comprise 150 residential BTR apafments and 7
commercial retail units. [n. September 2022, {his phase was forward funded with Grainger, which enabled development of this
site to commence in November 2022

The Bolley develapment is financed by £69m of external developmenlt debt, which is non-recourse to the Mace Group, and an
£82.9m {2021: £85.8m) shareholder loan fram Mace. At the year end, following the partial offers received and a RICS "red book”
valuation of the development praject, o reflect the devalualion of the asset over lhe course of 2022, the directors provided a .
fuither £93m (2021: £10m provisian) against the shareholder loan and accrued interest. This is accounted for an exceptional
iterm |n the year. -

$G1: §G1 is a development agreement between the Develop business and Slevenage Borough Council for the regeneration of
the town centre.-Outline planning was securad in 2020 on the entire scheme which will have a £500 milion GDV, providing 1,860
new homes, shops, reslaurants, a health centre, library, primary “schodl, sporl, leisure, and cuitural facilities. The development
will be progressed in phases, with Phase 1 achieving detailed planning consent in 2020. At the end of 2022, no exlernal debt was
raised or secured on this development, After receiving. full planning approval in May 2023, the |ntenlron is to commence
development tawards the end of 2023.

Greenwich Square: During 2022 this development sold ils remalnmg residential units. In total, Greenwich Square deiwered 685
new residential hormes, new community buildings and retailleisure amenities over two phases. Phase 1 completed in 2016 and
Phase 2 compieteq in 2020: Phase 2 comprised 325 residential units, of which 239 were private apartments and 86 were
affordable homes which have been sold {o L&Q.
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Consult - .

Mase Consult's {° Consu1t) pnmary services lnclude projecl, programime, and censtruction management, programme
managament office (PMO) secvices, planning, cos! consullancy and commercial management and a range of business advisory
and transformatign services, cavering strategy, sustainabifity, net zero carbon solutions and digital aclivities. Our appraach draws
on delivery-focused Consultancy services, hands-on experience, and a global track record across the public and privale sector.

2022 was anather strong year for the Consult business. There has been significant and sué.lained grawth over past three years.
In 2022, Consult generated revenues of £500m. This represented a 36% increase year-on-year, with 42% of Consull's income
coming from aulside the UK. In 2022, Consult generated profit before tax and before recharges of £66.98rm (2021: £64.15m).

" Rising global infrastructure investment; magbr pragramme appoiniméents and movement into new seclers (such as hospitality and
resorts) drove success in the Ameticas, the Middle East, and Asia Pacific. There were strong eamings through 5|gn|fcant
programme wins in Saudi Arabia, Canada Lalin America and in Asia Pacific markets

As Consult project work has grown, there was a 27% increase in headeount duding lhe year. Cansull's global workforce ccmpr;sed
4,434 people at (he end of 2022 (2021: 3,486), The Mace Group remain commitled to investing in talent globally and the business
has continued to invest in strategic hires to support sustainable growth and enhance client service offerings.

Projected grawlh in 2023 and the pipeline of work remain strong.

In the LK, Consult is continuing to build on its tragk record in the UK defence sector, providing critical management services to

shape some of the country's most impanant defence projects and pregrammes. Paragon, a joint operation led by Mace and

Tuener & Townsend, secured a thres-year contract extension on exisling work as the Cammercial Delivery Pariner for the Mmrstr‘y
. of Defence’s Defence Equipment & Support {DE&S) organisation.

Consult led a construction team that is working to complete the innovative HMP Five Wells prison in collaboration with lhe M\mstry
of Justice (MoJ). The Mod's investment will create 18,000 new prison places across England, including new buildings, expansions,

. and refurbishments. Using a Design for Manufacturing and Assembly (DMAA) approach, Mace adopted offsite manufacturing on
the prajact. The digital standards set for the programmes are considered to be internationally gmund breaking, putting the UK
and Mol at the forefront of modem ceastruction praject delivery. .

10 years since the London 2012 Olympies at the Queen Elizabeth Dlympic:Park, working in partnership with ciients and partners
to recognise the legacy transformation and impact that has shaped people and business, Consult also saw the completion of the.
fandmark Commenweaith Games and extended commissions on gavernment frameworks including with the Depantment of Work
and Pensions. .
t - . .

Consult secured a five-year coniract to deliver commercial services on bwo of National Highways' major projects through its
Complex Infrastructure Programime (CIP). Acting as agile partners for National Highways, the overriding abjective is to create
belter outcomes for clients and the wide range of stakeholders involved and affected by these sighificant projects.

Consult’s CEO continued to play an aclive role in promoting the UK’s construction and infrastructure delivery capability alongside
gavernment and industry peers. He pramoted apportunilies lo capilalise an the UK's warld-teading infrastructure delivery record
10 increase expors and imprave the way in which infrastructure is cummlﬁsmned and built wnh!n the UK ta improve connectivity
and boost economic growth. .

Consuit has cantinued to build its global capability and i lmprove its dwerchatlon and resilience in lme with its 2026 strategy by
broadening its geographicaf foolprint.outside of the UK.

Consult now opera!es through faur giobal hubs ~ Amnericas, Middle East and Africa, Asia Pacific, and Europe. It works in seclors
ranging from health and life sciences lo transport infrastructure (including rail, highways, and aviation), energy and uliliiies,
defence, corporate Teat estale, integrated resorts, sports and regeieration.

In Saudi Arabla, Consult is warkmg directly with the gdvernment and with quasi-government bodies to help create the cities of
the future, heiping to tead the way ta a more connecled, resilient, and sustainable world. The Cansuit offering resonates strongly

. wilh clients in this region who are familiar with construction management delivery models and value the Group's strang emphasis
on dellvery

Consult has been operating successfully across the Middle East and within Saudi Ar:ibia itsell for more than 20 years tﬁrough
commissions across the praperty and Infrastruclure sectors that are multi-year, multi-disciplinary, complex and delivery facused,

fn 2022, working with pariners Comtech and SYSTRA, Consult was awarded the Program Delivery Pariner conlract for the fargest
transit infrastruclure program in Canadian history: Melrolin’s GO Expansion program, This 10-year rall infrastruciure programme
is tha largest and mast ambitious investment in Metrolink's history and will significantly expand the GO Transil rail service. This
complex program of works includes new stations, the electification of existing lines, the installation of new rail lines, upgrading
of existing stations, new signalling, and more. The Pragram Delivery medel brings skilled external partners inta the Metrolinx
team, to collaborate in rmanaging the integration and delivery of all the major projects that make up the program. With a lang-term
vision of providing two-way, all-day service, every 15 mmules or fess on care segmenls of its rall netwark, Metroltnx wili improve

- connections between communities.

Alsa in the Atmericas, Consult was appointed by Alfanza Lima to deliver a new Infrastructure lmproverent Pian for Alianza Lima,
one of Peru’s most important foolball clubs, and to deliver positive soclal cutcomes for communities across the region
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Consult formed a parinership with the leading Southeast Asian project management provider Tenman Tpm in August 2021 and
are seeing rapidly expanding footprint In regions such as the Philippines, drawing on Mace's glgbal best practice and Tenman
Tpm'’s Associatian of Southeast Asian Nalicns (ASEAN) markels expertise. Leading telecom provider, ePDLT, awarded Mace a
contract 1o support the delivery of the first and largest hyperscaler in the country. ePDLT, a fully owned subsidiary of PLDT, is
the natior's largest ICT service provider and will bufld its 11th operalianal data centre by 2023.

Consult won-four awards at the Project Control Expo Awards 2022 recognising the business focus on driving best praclice across:
its programmes. UK Project Controls Social Impact of the Year.- The Rosalind Franklin's Laboratory; Global Project Controls
Transformation Project of the Year - ARCC Government to Government Reconstruction with Changes; Global Project Contrels -
Megaproject of the Year — East Bank Project in London's Queen Elizabeth Olympu: Park; and Global Projecl Controls Innovation

. ofthe Year - Melbourne Metro Tunnel - RSA Command Centre.

Consull's focus for 2023 is to grow across all the geugraphicaihubs by leveraging global best practice, adopting a holistic, globa!
market-driven approach covering a broad range of seclors and continuing to invest in building and nurturing high performing
teams lo drive exceptional 0u!comes for clients, colleagues and the communities in which the business works.

GConstruct

Canstruct provides a range of services, including fixed-price contracling, construction management fil-out and specialist services. -
in 2022, Construct remained facused on driving stable, sustained and profitable growth by working with long-term clients in &
range of markets, secters, and geographies. Economic issues delayed some project starts and reduced revenues, Margins
remained consisten. In 2022, Construct generated proﬂ before lax and before recharges of £81.95m (2021: £74. ?6m)

The Construct Englne is divided Into six core business units: Major Projests, Offices, Imerrurs Public Sector & Llfe Sciences, ’
Technology & Manufaciurmg and Aviatian. Along5|de this, it operates two specialist functions, Mace MEP and Mace Loglsllcs It

- operates primarily in London but has a growing presence |n Oxford and Cambridge, as well as a presence in Ireland and in the
Netherands. .

Canslruct generated revenues of £1.38bn in 2022 (2021: £1.47bn), whjch was 71% (2021: 76%) of the Group's turnover, Revenue
included fee income from several major Canstruction Management projects, Including Phase 2 of the Battersea Power Station-
Redevelcpment, AsiraZeneca's global headquarters in Cambridge, Shard Place and The Forge.

The most significant milestane in 2022 was the Practical Completion of Phase 2 of the Battersea Power Station Redevelopmant. '
This is ane of the largest and most complex projects Mace have ever completed. Qver a five-year period, Conslruct transformed
the Grade II* Listed power station, which had been decommissioned 40 years ago, restoring it to the highest modern standards,

As companies looked lu'atiract staff back into its uffcés the Qffices division grew in 2022. It completed several major office
developmenis [n the year including Warwick Court, the JJ Mack Building {Charterhouse Street), 78 Sl James Street and 50
Fmsbury Square.

The Aviation business worked an several major infrastructure j}npmvemenrpmjecls at Healhvow, including the Cargo Turinel.
The Mace. Group also successfully secured a place in three major lols on Heathrow's H7 Framework, which will maintain the
pipeline of wark in this sector aver at leas! the next five years. -

The Technology & Maﬂufacturtng business continued to progress several major data cenlres with a number of high-profile
technology companies, building data centres in lreland and the Netherfands It also expanded the reach of this business unit by
wmmng its hrsl project in the semiconduclor market.

The Life Sciences and Publn: Sectar business went from strength to strength in 2022. Mace Construct continued to work closely
with AstraZeneca at their Headquariers in Cambridge, compleling the 'AZ Trave!l Hub' and progressing the ‘Amenities Hub’ at
their Macclesfield campus. Mace Construct suceessfully bid and wan wark with BjoMed Reality in Cambridge, L&G Begbroke
Scient Patk in Oxford, and Precis Advisary at Belgrove House in Kings Cross. Mace Construct made significant progress at the

-UCL East campus in Strafford and the Nationa! Satelllle Testing Facility at Harwell, Oxfordshare ’

Mace Interiors grew in 2022, taking on ambitious fl-uul prejects for blue-chip clients across the nnanclal ‘legal and insurance
markels, as well as expandlng inta the laboratory fit-out sector_ It alse won its biggest fil- out job at Peterborough Court in more
than 10 years. ]

Mace Construct reméinéd number one contracter in London (Dy revenue) in the industry league tables. Mace rose to number
" three in the UK in the Glenigan Contractor League Table for the year. Mace won Cuntfactor of the Year (£500m+ Award) at the
2022 Construction News Awards. .
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Ogerate :

The Operate dIVISIOn s core business eﬂea’mg is Fcililies management, overseering as either a managing agent or principal
contraclor a wide range of premises on behalf of clients, including’commercial offices, industrial units, warehousing, research
facilities, government buildings, cultural landmarks, schools, and other education facililies. In support of this, along with delivering
operational support services the division provides strategic consultancy services o help chents adjust and 'improve their ©
workplaces and to make their premlses more sustainable.

Operale warks for blue-chip clients-in seclors mcludmg financial “services, oil and gas, education, retail, pharmaceuticaf,
professional services, and manufacturing. As mast client frameworks are global, Operate's revenues are not concenlra’(ed within
any one jurisdiction.

During 2022 the revenue of the faciliﬂes management business was £90m inc!udiﬁg costs recharged to clients (2621: £110m) -
with headcount decreasing to 609 (2021: 830}. This reduction in revenue and headcount reflects lhe impact of COVID-19 and-
the slow raturn ta full office uccupancy

War in Ukraine
The war in Ukraine -and global manufacturing issues raslrrcled lhe supply of a number of key construction materials in 2022,
There were also mgmfcanl increases in energy costs.

To mitigate the risk of material shortages delaying project delivery, the Group has strengthened lhe clese monitoring system it
developed through COVID-19 lo allaw qurck and proactive responses 1o malerial ar producl availabilily, or supply chain so!vency‘
issues.

" Cash position and financing C ) : .
The Group cash position at the end of December 2022, nel of overdraft was £144m (2021 £125m).

10-
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Shareholders' funds

Shareholders’ funds increased from £61.6m to £84.0m as the result or
£35.0m from profif afler tax for the year; '
v {£18.7m) from dividends paid in the year;
= £52m of cusrency transialion differences; and
+ af1nmgain’nn apn:} pmplnymﬂni benefit scheme..

Risks and Uncertainties

Mace's strategy is designed to reduce risk and build a sustainable and profilable business with reliable income sireams and
increasing margins. Details of the financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group, ‘tagelher with its exposure to
material financial risks, are set out in note 3 to the financial stalements, The Board, assessing the probability that risks will occur,
- and the likely impacls of those risks has delermined that the principal business risks, in no pardicular order, are those sel out in

the table below.

expectations about the liming, cost, quality, or
salety requiremesnls of a project either because
of adverse bidding and - contractual
arrangemenis, or not controlling the project or
development effeclively. During the past -two

impact af lthe War in Ukraine, COVID-19 _and
Brexit on the Group's operalions. The viability
of the supply chain and the supply, availability
and cost ol malenals are mallers which are
being managed in delail.

years, this risk has been exacerbaled by he.

breach of contracl claims and liquidated
damages from the client and legal
claims from the supply chain. Loss of
markel repuialion ieading lo losing new
and recurring chients. Diversion of
resources (cash and pecple) lo dealing
wilh legal praceedings rather than
building business,

Cast infiation has made sonmie Develop
and Consirucl schemes challenging,
and . unceralnty has made growth
. chailenging for Operate which is sllll
affected by COVID-19.

Delays are being experienced in lhe
time Il {akes for projects to go from initial
contract  {pre-conslruction service
agreement) award threugh (o slarling on
she. The uncertain pest Brexii and pos!
COVID-19 ecanomic environment also
helghlens the risks of delays in signing
up new waork,

Principal risk | Potential business impact [ Mitigation ]
1. Major project delivery failure
No!l meefing 1he conWraciyal, legal or client | Significant financial losses including | Early [dentificallon of .issues and proactive

managemeni lo resolve. Focus on selective
bidding' achieving reallstic programmes and
masglns, mabilisation, design control, commercial
terms and coniract management, supply chala

managemant, qualily of delivery and service
excellence and sharing of best praclice
(knowledge management Including lessons

learnt). Since 202C, a Service Excelience and
Quality process has been embedded for all
projects based on galeway reviews, to idenlly
issues for resclution al the earliest possible
juncture. Effeclive engagement wilh clienis andior
emgployers has been essenlial lo ensure the
business conlinues to millgate the impact of
delays to lhe delivery ol projecls and cosl
overruns due to effects from Brexil, COVID-18
and the war in Ukraine.

Risk management of the threals on the Group's
aperalions is actively being taken by the Group,
ingluding the {hreats of:

- Shertage of skilled labour ihrough supply
- chain partners.
- Matedal shorlages and |n!errupl|uns to
global supply chains.
- Higher .inflalion on staff costs and supply
chain where raw matefal and energy
prices have increased.

The business conlinued lo oparale risk
management sirategies during 2022 o Imit
adverse impacls experanced in tha UK and
elsewhere in the world. These risk management

2. Major supplier failure

slrategies wili continue lg be deployed.

a significant rele in the successiul deli‘very’ of
one or more projects. During the pasl two years
this risk has been exacerbated by the impac!s
ol COVID-18, Brexit, and the War in Ukraine.
The supply chain has addilionally had to adapt
ta the adverse cash flow impacls from the
imnplementation by UK HM Treasury in March
2021 af the Reverse Charge regime for VAT,

The eoliapse of a supgly chaln partner that has

Project disruplion, potential additional
casts through delivery delays, - and
repulational damage. Current inflation
experienced in 2022 and H1 2023 on
supply chain materials will make lhe
impaci of this risk higher. -

Aclively managing relalionships with the supply
chain, ensuring appropriate levels of due
diligence and checks lo their fnancial sirength.
Ensuring good breadth af supply chain pariners fo
contrel volumes of work. Early identficalion of
problems and rabust  knowledge  and
understanding of cantract position. Enhanced
supply chain analysis and rmore reqular intemal
reporting of concerns has been implemented
since March 2021, due lo GOVID-18. The
relevanl processes conlinue o be operated 10
enable Mace (o idertify and acl upon potenlial
concerns with ils supply chain.

1.




Mace Limited

S'trategic report (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

Principal risk

. Potential business impact

Mitigation

| 3. Health and safety issues
The accurreace of major heailh and salety
incidents, Ingiuding fatatities, an projects.

5y

Project disruption, significant fines, and
repulalional damage, Polential cuslodial
sanlences for senior employees. Hnpacl
on mental health of employees who
witness incidents.”

High slandards of héallh, safely and wellbeing are
embedded in everylhing Mace does. ltis a central
padl of the Mace cullure. One of ‘the Group's key
values is “Safely first —going home safe and well®.
Foslering a cuilure where health and safety
remains a prionty. Focus on health and safely
tralning, the role of supervisors, best praclice,
knowledge sharing and working with suppliers to
embed Mace's standards. The implementation of
new pracedures o lackle evolving risks on site.
Mental health training and suppont for emplayees.

4. Failure {o win the right work
‘Inability 1o win work either by negotialion or by
competitive tender.

Reduced revenue and profil. 1Less work
generally could lead to poar staff
utifisation, redundanctes aadfar staff
teaving. Failure to secure good qualily
work  could lead to employee
demofivation as well as delivery issues.

Long term business developmenl planning.
Senior managemenl review of bidding processes,
cost budgeting and programme estimation o |
ensure Mace are realistically competitive and thal
Mace price complex prajects and programmes for
the risk involved. Seeking to move inta new
sectors  andfor geographies 1o expand
opportunities o wia new wolk. Invesiment in
Innovation and bulld upon mature relationships
and genuine partnerships wilh clienls and
supgliefs. i

5. Retention and attraction of employees

Significan| chalienges In bolh atiracling and
recruiting the right people and retaining people
o defiver projects for clients or to supporl
carparate aclivity.

Inability to deliver on promises 1o clienis.
Loss of skills, experlise, or corporate
knowledge when employees leave,

Competilive salefies and falr grading siruclures,
Incentivisation arrangements and open promotion
opportunities, logether” wilh  a first-class
development and learning programme for
employees. Development of an employee value
propasition. Increased facus on gender, ethnicily,
inclusion, and workforce diversily. Praductve
working arrangements are maintained an siles
that encourage inclugion and suppon the effor to
Increase diversity of all employees, A very small
" proportion of colleggues originate-from regions
alfecled by the war in Ukraine. Diversity risk in
relation ta the labour force is discussed by the
Mace Executive Board al the Slant of the Week
meelings. Mitigating actions also taken through
the Risk and Audit Committee.

6. Market fluctuations including the effects of product, materials and energ

y cost infiation

Macroeconomic and industry sector changes
affect ~confidence andfor investmen! levels,
reducing the pipeline of available work and the
pausing or cancéllation of new or current
assignments. Furthermare, costinflation driven
by excess demand and shortages in the supply
of skilled labour, malerials and products,
foreign exchange fluctuations, and additionally
by the impact of the economic sanclions on
Russla. ’

Reduced revenue and prafits. Possible
reduclions in stalf headcount and ather

- costs ereale challeages in the delivery of
.projects. The impacts of (he war in

{kraine have heighlened this risk as a
result of constralnis ﬁn supply chain and
inflafionary prassures. :

Civesificalion info new seclors, markels, and
.major programmes, logether wilh the ability to
adjust the workiorce fevel and cosls if fevenua
decreases. Innovale o become a confraclor of
- choice during a changing market. New coniracis
will reflect lalesl- supply chain inflalion and
contracts going forward are likely to include
inflation profection for the Company. Aclive
management of malerials and praduct logisiics,
foreign exchange sxposures and supply chains.

7. Cyber security incident or IT systern failure plus data misuse/toss

Major business disruption caused by a cyber
securily incident, IT failuee or breach of the data
prolection/GOPR regime,

Major Impact on the ability to efectively
work for days or even weeks. Disruption
to projects or cllents. Signilicant fines or
failre  to  comply = with relevan)
legislation.

Move away from legacy systems o cloud
lechnology, ensuring appropriale patches and
revisions are in piace together with an effective
cyber sacuwily and Mace-wide dala proteclion
regima. Securily screeming for afl employees and
enhanced checks for those cperating in secure
clieni enwironments.  Mainlain 15027001

8. Eﬁvironmental damage

Information Management acereditation.
1

Major environmental demage as

a resull of a
Mace project. .

Significan| lnancial penallies, combined
with repulatienal damage, which could
affecl the Group's abifity 1o win work in
the future.

e,

Responsible business strategy thalincludes best
practice environmental praclices and monitaring.
The assurance of projecis (0 ensure they are
meeling Mace slandards.

[
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Strategic report (Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2024

9. Regulatory or statutory non-compliance

Action taken against the business for failing 1o
put in place effeclive arrangements 1o mitigatle
the rsk af breaches o tegistation/regulation
{e.g.. Modemn Slavery Agi, Sdbery. Act, or -
relrospective changes to Ieglslailonkegulalfons
e.g., Building Safety).

Custodial  sentences  for  senlor
employees.  Repulalional  damage.
Being prohibited frem bidding for certzin
pleces of wark. Significant lirancial
penallies to the business.

Compliance iraining for all employees on existing
and upcoming issuves, rigorous policies, and a
clear diseiplinary process for breach of the Code
of Ethics of the business. Horlzon scanning 1o
leok ahead for legislative and regulatory change.
Top-down commitment to a culure of elhical
behaviour demonslrated in promalion of, and
adhererce to, corporate compliance palicies.

10. Major client failure

The failure of current ciien{s

Projecl(s) disruption, potenlial loss of

Miiigalling aclions inciude the easly identification

secured inceme, potentiai cashficw { and reparting of prablems. Mace has a diverse
shortage and reduclion in profit. client porfalio and a robust knowledge and
. ' underslanding of key contra¢l posllicns. Client
credil worlhiness is also appraised and. assessed,
s and credit control procedures are lcllowed.
11. Inadequate finangla) liquidity and funding . .
Inabllity to secure adequate funding to meet | Inadequate financial liquidity and | The procurement of new 3 year, E60m commilted
operalional liquidity needs, rundlng could impacl the ability. of the | lquidity facllitles in January 2022,
‘Group  io . mesl s financlal | Expected proceeds from the reafisation of Mace” s
commiiments. equity investment in the Botlay joint venture.

12. Business modsl disruption/inefficiency caused by a failure to innovate and investment in technology

Failure to keep ahead of competitars fn lerms

Failure to win work and fallure 1o be’

Foster a cullure jn which the identificallon and

clienl which results in financial loss for the
busingss.

of foracasts which result in a loss of
value andfor breach of lenders
covenants and any repulatlonal risk that
might be oreatad

of innavation and opefalional effecliveness and | competitive  {which ~ may reduce | development of innovalive concepls and
a-consequent fallure 1o meet the needs of the { margins). - | initiatives is prized (o remain operational efficient
market, resulling In the business belng and¢ compeltive (and in which innovation is
uncompeiitive, . funded appropriately).

3. Fraud .

A fraud by an employee, JV partner, supplieror | Fi ial misstat ntof actuals andfor | Financtal contel, particulary segregalion af

duties, Is applied to key finandial processes,
including banking pracesses. Regular
management review of management accounts.

14, Poor internal governance or non-compliance

Paer decision making or a lack of compliance
with covenanls, nJles, regulalions, coniraci
conditions and/or laws.

Failure o make senslble and timely
declsions and/or faliure ta be compliant.

Governance struclure ncludes delegalions, o
commitiees ‘and individuals. Miligalions in raspect
of polential covenanl breaches include covenant
projections plus open communications, regular
weekly and monihly meelings, and reports o
lenders'in acesrdance with facilily sgreements.’
Mitigatlons agalnst breaching contraciual lerms
with clients include regulas monitoring and lialson
wilh cllents.

15. New pandemic

Major business disruption caused by a new
pandemic aifecling the heallh and welibeing of
colleagues acrass the Group and their abllity to
underake their wark.

Major impact on Mace's ability lo serve
clients, causing delay and financial
exposure to contract losses and claims,
from cllents and suppliers due’ to the
potentially foreseeable nmature of a

pandemic.

MNew operaticnal ways of working, including social
dislancing were developed during the pandemic.
They could be incofporaled inlo operalional
practices. The use of digital tocls such as Zodm
and Teams are established as effetlive means to
coninua to eollaborate and communicate at work.

Post balance sheet events

Reslructure of Subsldlﬂnes

On 1 January 2023, Mace Limited teansferced the fol&owmg entilies 10 other subs‘dlarses of the Group with total cor]s;derahon of
£14.2 million and gain on dssposal of £14.2m in Company level income stalement There is no accounting impact on the '
consolidated balance sheet and incorhe statement.
- Mace Internatianal Limited {and its subsidiaries), Mace Holdings Limited (and its subsmilanes) Mace Cost Cunsuftancy
Limited and MSecure Limited were transferred from Mace Limited to Mace Consult Limited.
- Mace Construgt Specialist Services Limited was transferred from Mace Limited to Mace Construct Limited.

Disposal of subsidiary

On 14 March 2023, the Group disposed Bethnal Green Regenerahon Limited for consideration of £0.05m resulting in 2 gain of :

disposal of ED.05m.

Legacy projecf provision - updare

On 26 June 2023, a court judgement was handed down in respect of a legacy contract for which a remediation provision has
been made. The formal hearing has been adjourned, and lhe judgement remains subject to polential appeal. The judge
- determined several principles that are positive for Mace and are expected to resuit in the value of the year end provision being

reduced. At this stage, it is not possible to quantify the petential impact on the year end provision. '
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Strategic report {continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

Section 172 Companies Act 2006
The directors have had regard to the matters set oul in sechon 172(1)(&) to (f) when performing their duty under section 172 of

the Companlas Act 20086.

|
The dlrecmrs meet formally as the Mace Executive Board (MEB) on a quarterly basis and less formally at the “Start of the Week”
meeting. The directors are careful to ensure that in their decision-making process they manage both the expeclations of the
shareholders {some dlrec(ors are also shareholders) and the expeclal:ons of other stakeholders,

To suppud this, declsmn making processes are guided by a Govemance Framewark thal was intraduced into the business in
January 2022 to support the 2025 Business Strategy. The Framework is a transparent, informative, and inchusive process which
enabies recommendations to flow efficiently from the Sub-Boards through to the MEB. The table of delegated authenues included
in the Framework provides clear guidance an levels of autherity for dE!GISIUI'l making processes.

The Mace Group launched the 2026 Business Strategy inearly 2021. The strategy outlines gur new drive to be a purpose-led
business.and sels out exaclly how it will help Mace emerge over the next.five years as an even.bolder, stronger, and more
resilient Group. This strategy reflects the Group's purpese to “redefine the boundaries-of ambition™. 1t shows the world that the
Mace Graup is bald, canfident, and focused, réady te lead from the front and-take on new chalienges driving lmprovemenis and
change for peaple, economles and societlies.

The Board has focused their decision rnakmg on three key priorities:

Pursue a Sustainable World ' Grow Together

Accelerate the built environment's response to the chmaie Engage, develop and inspire our people, clients, panners
emergengy. ) : - and communities

Deliver Distinct Value .
Service excellence, innovation and industry transfarmation

Each of these priorities and assodiated targets has been eslablished to ensure thal Mace meets the needs of its stakeholders,
taking inlo account how our activities impact them. This is reflected in our focus on being a responsible business, whare we
measure our performance basad on the wellbeing of our peogie, ourlrrrpacton tha enviranment and how effectively we generated
social value for the communities and regions we work in,

Qur purpose and pn'arities were developed in partnership with Mace people through direct engagement. They provide a clear
framewaork through which we engage with ail of Mace's stakeholders — fram our peopie to our supply chain, clients and beyond.

Stakeholder interests and key Board decisions

QOur process for decision making demonstrates our successful application of Section 172 of the Companies Act 2008. From the
initial assessments and the decision making by the Board in.March 2022, and at subsequent points in the year, the Board directly
tack decisions addressing the needs of various stakeholders. ‘ '

In discharging its Section 172 duties, the Board has adapted a strategic approaci ta stakehalder engagament. While the Board ’
has overall responsibility for maraging relationships with all our stakeholders, it detegales some of the practical responsibilities
for engaging with stakeholders to the divisional CEQ's and their teams,

" The Board continues to operata under a governance framewark that protects and enables organisational effectiveness and high-
quality decision-making. It helps to avoid duplication of work, reduce cost, and emipowers colleagues to become an unstappable
force for good. The Board has effectively considered the impact of decision- -making on key siakehnider groups in the daily
management of the business and in {he setting of the Graup's tong-ferm slra(eglc vision.
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Strategic report (éontinued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

The tallowing lask summarises seme examples ofstakeholdar engagemem undertaken by the Mace Group

Engagement with employees: 1

The results were:

‘Cur ambition at Mace is to ensure that we are always in close dialogue wnth
our colleagues

Mace cantinued o be fransparent and open as pussnble with its employees
throughout 2022, This included: :

- Embedding new cammunicalion channels and ioals
o  Digital collaboration channels, including Teams and Yammer.
o A regUlar drumbeat of wellbeing content to mitigate lhe |mpact af
mental health chalfenges.
o Regular video updates from the CEQ, -
o A series of mare than 100 internal virtual events in different formats,

- In2022 we continued to run regutar 'pulse’ surveys of our'employees to
measure coileagues’ general engagement and wellbeing.

- Virtual mid-year and end of year communicalions sessions delivered |
- live across the globe to our people. |

The Board recognized the competitive pressures in the workforee, and
fn respanse, placed considerable focus on recruitment and retention of
staff throughout the year.

The outcome of these engagemeant approaches
resulied in:

- Despite a slight redguction in Employee
engagement score from 86% (2021} to 84%
{2022), the score rerhains high. The slight
-decline  was caused by economic
circumstances. Aclions’ have focused: on
Improvements in the work environment to
enhance wellbeing and engagement.

Engagement with clients:

The resulls were:

Mace works hard to ensure thal we are consistently engaging with all our
clients, both on an operational and corporate leval; sharing best practice and
knowledge " with- our cliemts and always working to ensure that our:
relationships are open and colfaborative.

This included:

- Embedding a 'collaboration first’ approach to managing any centraciual
risks and Impacts associated with the continued difficult operational
environment, minimising any resuiting contractual of legal challenges.

- Undertaking regu!ar chient surveys o ensure that aur service delwew
remained consistently exce!lenl throughout the year,

- Measuring how our siralegic and key clients and othars are accessing |

Mace resources through our webslle

.~ The pramotion of effective customer relationship management {CRM)
across the arganisation, using digital tools and careful planning o

- Continuing to deliver a high quality, safe and
responsible service to all our clients.

- The Board reviews sach client survey
encouraging the sharing of best practice and
the prompt fixing of any issues ar cancerns,

- Qur client base remained consistently
engaged and informed throughout 2022,
resulting in  significant repeat business
orders.

ensure that client’s needs are met cansistently.




Mace Limited

* Strategic report [continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

. Engagement with tHe supply chain:

The results were:

As one of the world's largest and most diverse managemenl and
cansfruction companies, Mace aims (o be a leader and champion of best
practice {in the process of managing the risks assaciated with the
procuremenl of Contractors / Consultants ISupleers

ﬁn 2022, this included:

_ our shrategic supply chain lo ensure thal they were informed and
_ engaged with our response lo the market challenges Lhey faced; and
had the opportunity to feedback io Mace. .

Chain.

- The Group’s Procurement Directer was personally available 1o assisl
with any issues the supply chain-had regarding material availability and
then waork ta'unblack the supply chain with the relevant manufacturers.

- Adopting a-‘callaboration first’ approach to managing the confractual
risks and. impacts. associated with 2022's difficult - operational
envirpnment, minimising any, resulling contractual or lega! challenges.

wide array of issues, including the |mpacl of global economnc and
_marenals challenges .

- Delalled support for our project teams 1o help them develop a
: comprehensive and detailed understanding of how our supply chain
was operaling; including labour ievels, materials and product sources,

" and productivity acrgss our siles. .

- Throughaut the year there was a constant drive to collect cash from
clients and manage down debtors and accrued incomne, while ensuring
we continued to pay promptly to our suppliers. .

- The introdustion of reguiar supply chain’ brlet’ngs detivered v1r1ualiy te’

-~ Sharing Informat\cn received fram BulldIUKIBElS wilh the Supply‘

- A steady drumbeat of broader supply chain engagement via email on a

A consistently high standard ofdelwery from
our supply chain to our clfents,

A ‘higely effeclive response to the glabal
econaomic challenges, ensuwring thal Mace
was abie to ‘support parners through
numerous challenges, including changes in
reguiation.

Belter engagemenl and buy m from the
supply chain.

Prompt Daymenl helped support our supply
chain.

-Engagement in research_and development

The results were:

Expenditure in research and development which helps the Group -by
improving technical know-how and solulions on key challenges spacific to
our projects and lndustry In 2022 the Group incurred expendllure of E57m
£2021: £48m).

Development of our High-Rise Solution
capabilily {seeking to further reduce time
during  construclion by 25%, vehicle
movements by 40% and construction waste
by 75%]).

~
Development of new madular wall panels
ang lightweight gauge steel frame.

Deavelopment of new lecad bearing floating

-brick louvre solution and air plenum seal

solution. ¢

Engagement with hnancnal |nsututlons

The results were:

Mace shares details of ils' operational and ﬂnancla[ performance its
praspects and plans and its key risks and opportunities with stakeholders
on a regular basis. In general, this is through meetings that the CFO holds
with banks, insurers, ‘surelies, credit insurers, auditors, and cnenls Mace
adhered lo ils bank and covenant requirements.

. The highly effective managemem of our

financial  resilience  throughout 2022,
including respanding to market changes.

Financial stakeholders gained a much better

understanding -of the financtal and
operational performance of the business.

-Ongoing covenant  compliance was
achieved. . .
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. Strategic feport (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

Engagerment with local communities What were the resu!tsi

As confraclors and consultants, the work we do has a direct impact on | -
hundreds of thocusands of people across the glebe each year, and we are
committed to‘ensurjng that we engage with those communities closely.

To ensue we are communlcatlng etfccuvely and r'upponmg our local
communlhes we.

- Operate an established team of communily engagement managers,
" gach of whom takes responsibility for different Mace projects.

.- Engagement and communication with residents about major | -
distuption that might be caused by the conslruction wosrks we are
deljvering an behalf of our clieats.

- Wark closply with Incal community organisations and ‘our clients to
identify opporunities to use local labour on our projects.

- Build & pipeline of young apprentices and graduales across our | -
business that are drawn from a diverse range of communities.

- Pravide each Mace team member with a voli.lnleering day each year,
ang proactively identify oppostunities for them to support goad local
causes acrass Lhe globe.

- Many of aur projects also provide ad-hoc suppert and engagement
with their local communities, ingluding school visits.

The successful maintenance cof good

* relationships with the communities around

our major projecls; ensuring that we are
working effectively with them to minimize
disruption.

Effective mitigation of the risk of disruption to
our projects (hat could be generated through
local cemmunily campaigning of challenge.

Positive feedback from cilents who are
pleased with how we are engaging with the
lecal communities surrounding their prajects.

Supporting the usc of local labour an olir
projecls and site in the UK,

We were able to ensure that our net zero
carbop strategy and 2021-2026 Pursue a
Sustainable Warld business priority/KPls are
ahgned with emerging policy/macket changes
and apé represemallve of industry-leading
commitments.

-Engagernent with government and industry stakeholders - What were the results?

As a responsible business and a leading private UK Company, Mace is | -
committed to working with our peers and our government stakeholders to
improve our entire indusiry.

' To communicale and engage with our peers and government, we:

- - Take an active role in trade associations and senior industry leadership
bodies such as the Construction Leadership Council and Build UK.

- Take an aclive role in engaging with local, regi'onal. and nattonal
Government, including working direcily on behalf of central
govemment departiments and local autharities in the UK and beyond.

- Sup‘port and play a leadership role for non-governmental regional

Landen First and others.

- Take part in cross-sector working groi.l‘ps and activily;

business groups, such as the Noithern Powerhouse Partnership, | - -

A detailed understanding of the issues and
threals facing our sector, peers, clients and
suppliers_thal was able to direcily inform
Board decision making.

The maintenance of ‘effective relationships
with Government, regulatory bodies and
other key organisations thal enables us lo
share knowledge and improve-best praclice

across our industey,

Maintaining a  high-qualily  reputation
amongst our public sector partners that
ensures we can keep retaining and winning
new work and clients.

Effective horizon scanning through industry
groups of the issues and risks that are likely
to affect our business,-and confidence that
those groups are working on our behalf ta
ensure our interests are represenied.

Signed on behalf of the Board of directors

. Mark Reynolds

- Chlef Executive Officer
7 July 2023
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"Carporate Governanee Report
Year ended 31 December 2022

The Mace Group being subject ta The Companiés {Miscellanecus Reperting) Regulattans 2018, has applied for the Wates
Carporate Govemance Princlples for Large Private Companies (the "Principles®) as an appropriate framework when making a
disclosure about the Mace Group corparate governance arrangements for the year ended 31 Decernber 2022.

Following the launch of aur growth plans in January 2021, which are detailed in the 2026 business strategy the Mace Executive
Board (“MER"), invested in further developments of its corporate governance. To this end wark was undentaken to review the
corparate gavernance framewark to check its suitability against the 2026 plans and lo identify any areas that could be further
clarified or simplified as the business readied itself for 2023. The resull of this work was a governance framework which will
ensure our gavemance programme continues to mature and support our 2026 Business Strategy. Throughout 2022 the MEB
worked to embed the framework and ensure we have a well-tuned governance programme. o

Purpose and leadership

‘The 2026 Business Strategy launched in 2021 oullines our ambitious plans for the next five years as a purpose-led business
that is committed to being diverse and inclusive, and to leaving a positive impact on people and communities globally.

This strategy reflects the Grayp's purpase o redefine the boundaries of ambition. It shows the world that the Group is bold,
confident and focused, ready to lead from the front and take an new challenges diving improvements and change for peop'e,
economies and societies. The Group's Key Performance indicators help focus the business on our ambitious growth targets and
on our current perfarmance. : .

The MEB recagnises the key role Mace will play in helping the world adapt to the rapid and transformative changes happening
right now and understands how imporiant our culture and the business engines are to that role. The engines need to operale
under a governance framewgrk which does more to betler protect (manage risk) and enable arganisatianal effectiveness and
decision making {driving value and margin through performance) so that we avoid duplication of wark, reduce cost, and empower
colleagues to become an unstoppable force for good.

Purpose-fed Qur culture an# Engines Marketfocus
priokities . .
Our values and behaviaurs define our CREATING A
culture and our business CONNECTED AND

PUASYE A .
SUSTAINABLE ) ... Ourvalies
WORLD .,

o

RESILIENT WORLD

SHAPING CITIES
OUR PURPOSE: . T ?xg[alﬂénmc
TO REDEFINE cRow i
THE BOUNDARIES > TOAGETHER > H CQMMUNITIES
OF AMBITION i
Operate ( ’
A
A
S HEALISING
b OUR CLIENTS’
DELIVER o AMBIFIONS BEYOND
DISTINGTIVE 7 DELIVERY

VALUE

Our Engines are the focus lor
our grawth

Our valugs: safety first, client focus, create opportunity, integrity — permeate through everything we do. Together with aur clear
vision and missian, our values guide our behaviours and foster a culture of innovation and service excellence. These have helped
us forge cooperative leng-term partnerships and relationships with clients and suppliers that are increasingly focused on great
mutual outcomes rather than transactional rewarding arrangements., ‘

Being a Responsible Businass cantinued to be a key focus area for the leadership in 2022 and the MEB’s commitment to this
conlinues to permeate throughout the business.

In support, the MEB continued its focus on the implementation of the Code of Ethics and the six-monthly certification requirement
whereby employaes are required to confirm their adherence to the Code and underying pelicies. In addition to this, the Code of
Conduct was rolled out as part of the onboarding process to new suppliersfsubcontractors which clearly sels out the behaviours
expected by Mace of all its stppliers/subcontractors in the conducting business. Safecall continued as our external whistieblowing
senice pro\'n‘der. : '
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Our behavioura! framewark, Behaviours for Suecess, which includes Act Inclusively, that focuses on treating people with respect, |
in 4 fair and consistent manner, was included in the employee appraisal pregramme. it provided a framewaork for employees to

conduct a self-assessment and identify those areas. which required further devetopment. Continved focus was placed cn the

deve oping and |mplemenung of a culture whmh seeks to embrace diversity and inclusion.

in 2022 the Mace Group achieved a7% annual reduction in- our carbon emissions as paﬂ-of our net zero carben reduction
pathway, and conlinue to be a carbon neutral business by offsetting any residual emissions through the procurement of Gald
Standard carbon offsets. Mace also has identified mare than oné million tonnes of carbon savings on behalf of its clients, four
years ahead of target. The Group achieved a 57% reduction in cur carbon emissions verses our 2019 baseline. '

The Board is firmly committed to the principles of tax lransparency and the implementation of maasures globally tu preven't the
© facilitation of tax evasion As parn of our incraased focus on ‘governance, procedures, and a programme of improvement to align
with the annual Senior Accounting Officer (SAO) abligations, a clean SAO cettificate for 2021 was subm;lled in September 2022.
A clean ceniificate for 2022 Is expected ta be submitted over the coming months.

,The Mace Group has been an accredited Fair Tax Mark business since November 2021. This is the gold standard of responsibie
lax conduct, demonstrating our cammitment le responsible tax conduct and tax transparency.

UK Taxes contributed in the year:

2022 2021
Corporate-incame tax payments/(receipls) . e - ’ i -
" Research and De(fﬂ]opmenl credit ‘ ) (3,569) (8,82?l)
Employment-related taxes B . 38,925 31,365
Other Taxes ) ' " 1,330 1:324
Taxes collected fér the goverament (in addition to taxes borne above):. .
Employment related taxes - . : - 20,734 16,992
IS ’ : . < , 455 ) 875
VAT ) : . C 198,180 . 133227
Total tax contribution (taxes generaled from the Mace Group aclwnty) B 2‘56,055 ‘ 175,056
Government grant income received - . ' {644) (155)
Total tax contribution net of government granis received 255,411 s 174,901

As a global business operating within four industry sectors: developmants, consultancy, construction. and facullhes management,
the Group's exposure {o risk’is mitigaled as a result of the diversification of its portfolio, The Group's Risk and Audit Committee
holds a delegated authority from the MEB and provndes assurance that the business is fulfilling its corporale governance duties.

During 2022, the Group s internal Compliance & Audit team ran a programme of internal audits..In total 76 Intemal audils were
" underaken. External audits of our 7 ISC certified managernant ‘syslems across |nvolved 20 auwdits undertaken across 14 Mace
locations, in tolal 82 audit days.

To suppod the MEB's 1arget lo achteve a workforce which reflects society, we have a Diversity and Inclusion-Steering Committee
{D1SG) who are responsible for driving positive change. This is chalred by our Inclusion Manager and members of this Committee
are drawn from across the business to ensure we consider a vanety of perspecdlives.

The Mace Group continued to embed tha Diversity and Inclusion Strategy, setiing targels around recruitment, a reduction in the
gender-pay gap and other measures, These targels were reviewed and refreshed in the 2026 Business Stategy, with an
ambitious target set ta reduce our gender pay gap and ethnicily pay gap by 10% year on year to 2026. Some improvements have
been made in relation to the ethnicily pay gap and work continues to ensure we maet our 2026 targeis on gender and ethnicity

pay gaps.
. COVID19

The effects of CQVID-19 still had some conllnued impact, primarily for the Operate englne with Lhe slow return of workers to
offices.
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War in Ukraine

The war in Ukraine resulted in vérious stakeholders seeking clarification 01 any potential associated risk for the Company and its
supply chain. The business was able to respond quickly, following the aclions taken by the leadership during lhe COVID-19
pandemic to protect the supply chain. In addition, in 2021 the Cansuit business decided to liquidate entities. in Eastern Europe
which_continued into 2022 with Consult enlities in Belarus, Montenegro, North Macedonia, Serbia and Sfovakia havmg now been
de regmtered

Board composition . . !

The Board comprises the statutory directors, Mark Caslie resigned as a non-executive direcior on 31 March 2022, Richard
Bienfait, resigned on 31 August 2022 and stepped dowa from his role as Chief Financial Officer with immediate effect. Patrick
Dixon resigned as a nan-executive dlrector an 7 October 2022. David Allen was appointed as Chief Financial Officer on 9 January
2023. " .

The MEB comprises of the executive dnreclors the non-execulive director and senior managemeni The MEB together with the
~ Board represent the knowledge, experience and experise required 1o run-an orgamsahon as large and diverse as the Mace
Group. Membership of the Board and the MEB is listed below. . .

. Both the Board and MEB recognise there is slill work to be done to improve their diversily of the Board and ate committed to

- increasing diversity amongst the senior lzadership team. -

Board ’ MEB

-Mark Reynolds — Chairman & Chief Executive Officer . Mark Reynolds ~ Chairman
Jonathan Mark Holmes - Deputy Chairman Dravid Allen {appointed 9 January 2023)
Richard Bienfait - Chief Financial Qfficer {resigned 31 August2022) Michel|le Barkess :
David Allen - Chief Financial OFficer (appointed 8 January 2023). Richard Bienfait (resigned 31 August 2022)
Stephen Jeffery - Chief Technical Officer : Amanda Baldwin
Gareth Lewis - CEO Construct - Davendra Dabasia (appomled 4 January 2023)
Jason Milett . CEO Consult & Develop Jonathan Mark Holmes :
Lee Penlington - Commercial Ditactor : . Andrew Jackson
Mandy Willis - Direclor of Strategy - Stephen Jeffery
. Mark Castie — Non-Executive Director (resigned 31 March 2022) Gareth Lewis
Patrick Dixon {resigned 7 October 2022) - Jason Millett
‘Carolyn Pate
Lee Penlington
Mandy Willis

The following people are members of the MEB but are not statstory directors: Michelle Barkess {Chief informatian- Ofﬁcerj
Amanda Baldwin {Chief Peaple Officer), Davendia Dabasia {Chief Operating Execuuve — Consull), Andrew .Jacksun (Chief
Operating Exec.utwe - Construct) and Carolyn Pate (Company Secretary).

Directors’ rEspDnsibiH!Ies -
The MEB met quarterly in 2022 and'in addltlon met less formally during weekly operaluona! meetings.

The Mace Group comprises four operahng divisions,_ called Engines for Growth. These are Develop, Consult, Construet and
Operate, each has its awn CEQ who is responsible for delivering the business plan for their respective division. Ross Abbate is
the CED far Operate but is not a member of the Board. Mark Holmes is the Board Sponsor for the Operate Engine, Each engine
has its own Board chaired by the respective divisional CEC or the Group CEQ. These Sub-Boards meet on a quarterly basis and
sit under the authority of the MEB. These operating divisions are supported by Group Services, which provide Cerporate
Governance, Risk and Assurance, Legal & Caommercial Services, Finance, Information Technology, Mafkehng &
Communucalmns Procurement and Human Resource expertise.

During the past year lhe direciors have sought to carry thelr dulles as required under 5172 of the Companies Act 2006 ((ha Act)
as referred to in the Slrateglc Report.

In 2022 the Board- focused dn the new three straleg:c priorities which underpin lhe new 2026 Business S(rategy, pursue a
sustainable world, grow together and deliver distinctive value.

For each priority, KPI's were agreed, and progress was measured at each guarterly meetmg Thea standing items on the anrd
agenda during the past year were grouped in jine with the three strategic pricrities.

Oppartunity and risk

As part of the priority to achieve stable and sustainable growth, the Board set 2 larget to achieve a robust risk management
pregramme in 2022. Due to organisational changes during the year, theé oversight function of the Risk and Audit Committee was
elevaled to the Board and rmainlained as a regular lem on their Agenda.

The Risk and Audit Commiliee members continued to monitor and review the development and delivery of the Group Risk and
~ Audit strategy, ensuring -plans were afigned to enable delivery of the 2026 Business Strategy and ta mitigate the business’
principal risks, as identified in the Strategic ‘Report.- Recommendalions by Commiitee members were directly noufed lo lhe
Board. The Risk and Audit Committee has returned to its usual patlern of meetings in 2023.
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Remuneration
Key cobjeclives of the Board, whilst operating within the principles of good governance, are to:
«  Assess execulive remungsation and reward packages for the individual executive direclors..
. Determing {he remuneration of the Chair, the executive directors, and thie Graup management team.
+' Determine the total remuneration packages for these |nd|vnduan 1nclud|ng any compensahon on termination of office;
and .
+ Approve annuat buius dli..mguncnla and share awards, inviuding the performance targets that apply

Execulive remuneration is structured to drive both accountability and performance, creating long-term value for all stakeholders.
In detemnining the remuneration, the performande of the business during the financial year is taken into consideration, tagether
with future slrategy Pay Ievels are commensurale with_ elernal pay levels,

Performance is continuously under review and remuneration packages are tevised appropriately. - N -

Stakeholders
" Our engagemenl with our internal and extema] stakeholders is at the heart of our success as a busmess

Durlng 2022 we warked hard lo enzsure tha! we cummumcated openly and transparenlly with our staksholdm Qur objective is
for our carmmuaicalion {as far as practicable, both inside and oulside of Ehe organlsahon) to be an open and authentic dialogue.
We are open to new ideas and best practice from outside Mace.

By far our most importanl stakehblder group is our Mace calleagues, of whom we are exiremely proud.,

Our internal cemmunications strategy relies on a broad range of channels to engage directly with our colleagues, including our
intranet, regular events, emails, and direct engagemenl to create an open conversation across the organisalion. We carry oul-
annual engagement and wellbeing surveys ta measure engagemenlt and run regular internal campaigns to promote information
aboul topics that are imporiant to our people, inciuding sustamabn:ty, mental health and diversity and inclusion.

. To help people, we ran regular work, mental health, and wellbemg communication channels, including regular leadership videos
and bnet‘ngs We also introduced new digital collaboration tools; all-Company briefings continued throughout {he year.

To support Iower paid émployees adversely affected by cost-of-iving pressures during Ihe year, Mace provtded a ane-off salary
increment. .

Mace also supports a series of emptayee-run natwork groups, including Pride at Mace, Wamen at Mace, the Ethnic Diversily
Inclusion Nelwork, the Mace Military Network, Enabled al Mace and Parents at Mace. Throughout 2022, these groups played a
key rale in working with our carporate team te engage with important groups of our colleagues; share lnfcrmahon and best practice
and engaging on impariant policy and aperaticnal decision making.

Externally, our care stakeholder-audiences are our clients, our s_tralegic supply chain, insurers, bond providers, investors, industry
organisations, public sector bodies, including both local and national government, and the communities we work in.

During 2022 we continued tc work hard to ensure that our core stakehalder groups were kep! informed and updaled aboul how
we were responding to markel challenges and how that would affect our work. We cammunicate with those audiences thraugh a
wider variely of channels, bolh as pant of our day-to-day delivery and wider communications channpeis and campaigns. This
Includes promoting our work through media and SOCla| media, provide regular updates to our clients aboul our work and carry out
regular cusiomar suiveys.

Of note is our role in helping ta lead and shape the wider ind uslryrs r'espanse to key issues and challénges. Our Group Chaifiman
and CEQ (Mark Reynolds) worked closely with key industry and Govermnment stakehoiders (including in his role as co-chair of the
" Gonsulting Leadership Gouneil) to ensuie that construction continues to develop in a way that meels sociely’s needs.

External reporting :

_In additian to our Annual Regon, we regulagly publish information, mcruding our business payment practices and performanne
under the Duly 1o Report requirements which are filed al Companies House. In addition, we produce our Annual Business Review,
which is published on our website, alongside our Annual Report. We published our third Gender Pay Gap repart in April 2022
The Company alse published payment practlces and performance statislics iwice a year in accordance with our Duty to Repori.
requwements .

External auditors
Following the appoiniment by the Mace Group of Mazars LL.P as auditors on 4"' May 2021, Mazars were re- appomled to conduci
the 2022 audll . |

Asa pnvate Company, the Mace Group is nal subject 1o external resirichons in terms of noa-audit work provided by the external

auditors, but for good governance has chesen to implement lls awn policy in relaticn to the level of their remuneration and the '
extent nf their non-audil services.
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Sub-Boards
The new Corporate Governance Framewnrk sponsored by the Beard has redefined the Group's Sub- Board and Commiltee

_structure. Governance at the Mace Group is defined as the ‘business system and architecture that oullines rights and

responsibilities and how aclivities are organised 'to achieve and redefine ambiilion’. Towards the end af 2022 the MEB introduced
an Advisory Board as part of the Gavernance Framewark, The inilial meeling was held on 15 December 2022. The role of the
Advisory Board is to support the decision-making pracess of the Mace Executive Board by adv:smg and providing canstsuctive
chaltenge and suppod ta 2l of the Mace !eade{sh:p team.

Chale: Chelr and Group CEQ

) i : Mace Execullve Board — Quarledy ard Weekly :
Advlsory Board ) Chalr: Chalr and Group CED . .

[P ) T J Iy T

Mace Finenta Ltd” {'Shareholder'} Board — Annually in Decamber and by ex;eplton J

Davelop Boara . Consuit Board construct Board Opeis Board | TR »
Cascade and Trlves frowth 800 delivery | | Bives piowin ang selivery Cuives grovah and delvery Drives grawih ans dexrvery Cascada and
communicatians to the ol our purpose and ol our purpase and of aur pumpose ang of our purppse and communications ta the
witder business and prioties for Develop. priorkies for Consul, priorities for Construcl, nroples fr Opeeate,
. widar gusinass and
cofesgues .|  evsuang its plans are easuring 0s plans are ensuring tis plans are _ensufng is pians are aa
. allgned and zonvinutiag (o | | 2igned and contfuling o . | atgned and coniibuting 1o | | aigned and conrmutingta | CONAAGUES
business p:armmq pusiness plaanlig - business planning Bustness panaing

2 1
Gierw T Inno chn Fi3 Tnnlfo Healtt, Ssfoty || Risk & gudit - Gary Ramunsrailen ‘Heaith Core Trust
Bu;lnen (Panplu :grat-nl) Sl-emm Gmup nncdo\':nllit‘:‘cinn Committee: Lurdnrlhlp Comminze .
N Wi fte e EaM -

04 Steertze, rmsc;\
W a
Suauss eﬂ'u! Cl,, Daie .
Sirategic SteerCo’s. driving aui priorties- N
Pursug g austainable world, Grow logether, Osllver dislinctive value .DperannaI SlearCo’s. -
{Canstruction te Production, Data & Digitei)

Steering Commitiees
The Steering Commit tees wark as a system with clearly delinealed rafes ta drive activity and results.

Responsible Business Commillee

The Responsible Business Commitlee was commissioned to fead the Mace Group in the developmem and dehvery of the

Responsible Business Strategy. Responsibilities include but are not limited to:

+  Proviging direction and guidance to the Responsible Business team on the Respons:ble Business strategy and plans ‘o
ensure delivery of programmes and inifiatives remain on track;

» Identifying developments (from ather instilutions and organisations}) that could be considered besl practice, considering, and
adapling lhese.

= Champloning the broad Responsible Business agenda within buslness units and across the Mace Group o achieve a
consistent approach; and

+ Commissioning of working groups, eslablishing appropriate objeclives in accordance with the 2026 Busmess Strategy and
monltonng progress for the duration of the waorking group.

Grow Together Bgard (Pecple and Talent) Committee

The Grow Tagether Commlitee acts to ensure the delivery of the Mace Group HR strategy. Responsibilities include but are not

limited to:

» Reviewing and momtonng the Mace Group MR stralegy to ensure it is aligned fo the delivery of the 2026 Business Strategy,

« Oeveloping and momlonng a scorecard of key measures agreed with the MEB and reviewsd and agreed by the MEB ona
quarterly basis,

+  Selting the HR Polities for the Mace Group;

« Providing direction and guidance to the HR team on changes 1o the HR sirategy and plans to ensure delivery of programmes
and initiatives remain on track. Suppart ihe MR {eam in developing rali-out strategies that will gain maximum traction acrass
the business; and

- Identliylng developments (from other instilutians and organisatiens) that could be con5|dered best praclice, considering, and
adapling these, as apprapriate for pussible introduction at Mace.

lnnavation Committee ' ) .
The lnnovation Commiltee monitors and reviews the development and delivery of the Mace Group Innavation strategy, ensuring
its plans are ahgned lo and enable the business to defiver the 2026 Business Strategy. Responsubulmes inciude bul are not hmlted

‘KO

+ ‘Selting the innovation Poticies for the Mace Group for approval by the MEB;

+  Providing direction and guidance o the Innavation team on changes lo the lnnovation strategy and plans to ensure delwery
of progremmes and initiatives remain on irack Support the Innovaticn team in daveloplng roll-oul sirategies that will gain
maximum traction across the business;, ~

«  Identifying developments (from other institutions and organisations) that cauld be cons:dered besl practice, conmdenng and
adapting these, as appropriate for possible introduction at the Mace Gioup; and

» Championing Ihe broad Innovation agenda within business units and across the Mace Group, fo achisve a consistent
approach.
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Transformation Steering Greup Committee

The Transformation Steering Group Committee proposes and oversees a portfolm of transformation and change projects across
the Mace Group that will deliver our purpose and suppart progress against all priorities to deliver distinctive value. Reviews and
recommends business cases {including investment appraisals) for MEB declision and tracks status and benefits realisation. '

Health, Safety and Wellbeing Committee
The Health, Safely and Wellbeing Commlllcc monilors and raviews lhe development and dehvery of the Mace Group health,

safely, and wellbeing sirategy, ensuring its plans are aligned to and enable the business to deliver the 2026 Busmess Strategy.
. Responsibilities additionally include but are not limited to:

« Developing and monitoring the scorecard of key measures as agreed W|lh the MEB;

+ Selting the health, safety, and welibeing policies for the Mace Group;

»  Providing direction and guidance to the HS&W team on changes to the sirategy and pians to ensure defivery of programmes
. and initialives remain on track;

+ Supparing the HS&W team in develnpmg roll-out strategles lhat will gam maximurn traction across the business;

« Evaluating of tha Groups investment in the health, safely, and wellbeing; and

+ Championing the broad healih, safety, and wellbeing agenda within business units and across the Mace Group, to achleve a

consistent approach to carporate challenges.

Risk aid Audit Committee

The Risk and Audit Committee monitars and reviews the developrnent and dellvery of the Risk and Audit strategy. Responslblulles
inciude but are not limited to:

Monitaring a scorecard of key measures set by the MEB,

Setting the Risk and Audit Policies for the Mace Group under the authority of the MEB,;

Suppotting the Risk and Audit team in developing rcll-out strategies that wili gain maximum traction agross the busmess.
Commissioning of working groups, establishing appropriate objeclives in accordance with the 2026 Business Stralegy and
monitaring progress for the duration of the warking group; and

= Pre-screening and making recommendations lo the MEB regarding corporate propoesals which fundamentally affect fulure
corparale sirategy, culture, organisatien, deb¥capital raises and items of 5|gn|f'can1 business risk. .

Group and Commercial Services Comrmiltee
The Group and Commercial Services Committee manitors and revlews the develapment and delivery of the Mace Group and

Commercial Services strategy, ensuring itls pfans are aligned to and enable the business lo deiiver the 2026 Business Strategy.

Responsibilities include but are not limited to:

» Setlting the Mace Group and Commerciat Services Policies for the Mace Group for approval hy the MEB;

- Providing direction and guidance to the Group and Commercial Services teams on changes to the slrategy and plans to
ensure delivery of programmes and initiatives remain on track;

+  Supporiing the Group and Commercial Senvices team in developing rolllout strategies that will gain maximum traction across
the business;

« Identifying developments (from other |nshlutmns and organisations) that could be considered best practice, considering, and
adapting these, as appropnate for possible introduction at the Mace Group,

« Evaluating the investment in the Group and Commercial Services agenda; and

« Championing the broad Group and Commercial Services agenda within business units' and across the Mace Gmup to
achieve a consistent approach. .

Mace Heallh Care Trust Commiltee

Ta pricritise and effectively govern the héalthcare prowders for our peaple and, in doing so, build employee and stakeholder
confidence that their health and healthcare is an important element of our employee value propaosition (attracting and retaining
great talent in a highly competitive market). For the UK employees this is speciic to the actual Trust For the rest of the Mace
Group, the focus is to oversee the relevan! benef ts provided to global employees

Remco (Remuneralion) Committee

To recommend, align and monitor the level and structure of remunerahon for senior management to support sustamable business
performance and success and the delivery of the 2026 business Sirategy, to mitigate reward risk and advise the E!Oard op Reward
Strategy to ensure a fair and apprupnate remuneration policy and its exedution for employees.




Mace Limited

- Directors' report
Year ended 31 December 2022

The directors present their annval report on the affairs of the Group, together with audited financial slatements and auditor's
report, for the year ended 31 December 2022, .

Principal activity .

The Group is an international cansultancy and construction group whose principal acuwhes connnue to be conslruction delivery,
project management, cost consultancy and facilities management. |n addition, the Group-has made certain investmenls in
properly development prajécts. ’

Results and dividends : .
" ~The conscligated profit for the year before taxatmn amounted to £50. gm (2021; £53.8m). The Company has pa1d dlwdends of
£18.0m (2021: £15.0m) fa the year anu‘ ra further drwu'end is proposed for the year.

Strategic repon

The Group is required by section 414A of the Companies Act 2006 1o present a Strategic report in the Annual Report. The
Strategic Report also conlains, where appropriate, an indication of the directors’ wew on hkely future developments in lhe
business of the Mace Group.

Directors
The dlrectors whao held oh‘”ce during the year were: '

“'Mark Castle {resigned 31 March 2022)
Palrick Dixon (resigned 7 Gclaber 2022)
" Richard Bienfait (resigned 31 August 2022)
Jonathah Mark Holmes
Stephen Jeffery
Gareth Lewis
Jason Millett
Lee Penlingtan
Mark Reynolds
Mandy Willis

David Allen was appointed as Director on 9 January 2023. . -

Financial Instruments
Further information regarding the Group financial instruments related poltcnes and a consn:leralton of its liguidity and ather
rnancmg risks are set out in note 3 to the financial statements.

Energy and carbon emisslons

The.Group has been a member of the RE100 Chmate Group since 2017. This committed the Group to procure 100% power
fram renewable sources by 2022, Through the Group's Electricity Supply and New Connections contracts with Npower, EDF
Energy and Ecotricily, the Group has procured 100% renewable or REGO hacked electricity where the Group has financial
control of the energy. Through the paninership with Ecotricity as much ‘green’ gas has been procured-as possible (there is a
fimitedt armount and demand ouistrips supply) and cffsets the remaining COZe through — the falfowing projects:

. Dagachhu Hydrapower project, Bhutan, COM ref 2746 .
»  Valdivia Biomass to powar project, Chile, COM ref 1787
+  Maharashira Biomass to power project, india, GOM ref 4078

This siaternent of energy use and carbhon emissions compltes with the “Enmronmenla\ Reporing Guidelines: including
streamlined energy and carbon reporting guidance March 2019 (Updated Introduction and Chapters 1 and 2)". The statement
belaw covers energy use and associatéd greenhouse gas emissions relating lo gas, electricity, diesel and business travel via
private vehicles, an intensily ratio and.informalion relaling to energy efficiency actions. The Scape far this report excludes
emissions from international and joint arrangements, included in the scope are emissions from the Mace Group UK only
operations where the Group has financial control, .
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Current repoting year (January 2022 - Decsmber 2022)

Repoﬁing Year,[UK Operations only Excludes JA's) . ] 2022 2021 —];Change [_Uﬁits

Tolal energy ué,e covering eleclricily;g‘as,rdiesel and fransport 33.5{7,356 32,576,966 3% kKWh

Total emissions generated through combustion of gas ‘ 302 - 1032 - (71%) thZe

Total e;'niSSioﬁs generated through use of_;;urchased electrisity - 4,227 3,920 8%  1COZe

Tutal emission.s generated thrﬁugr} use of olher fuels ’ - © 1,524 ' ) 11362 12% tCOz2e

Total emissions generated through business trave ' 1,197 ‘ 1,173 - 2% iCO2e .

Total gross emissions ) o - 7,250 7,496 3%y woze
_1COz2e

i . _ per£m

intensity ratio (lotal gross emissions} - 4.71 471" D% ‘Revenue

Explanation of Energy Consumption

The figures above show an increase of 5% in energy.use from 2021 te 2022. This increase is due 1o offices returning to normal
and people Working under narmal conditions, the Wmchesier Region moved inte a new larger office which uses gas as the primary
heating fue1

+  Gas: The 71% decrease in gas consumption is due fo three large projects with decemrallsed energy syslems bemg
transferred 10 clients and therefore ceasing to be lhe Group's direct responsibility.

*  Electricity; The 8% increase in electrictty use across offices and sltes was mostly due to some very large projects
_Nearing comple‘hon and one thaj was commissioned and reached practical completion in Decernber. Also, more people
have relurned to offices this year - 1his has increased eleclricity censumplion,

. Other Fuels: The 12% increase in consurmption of ather fuels is due o an increase in generator-use due ta pawer not
being available on project sites. A policy has been intreduced-this year thal for contractor's diesel use is by exception

only, The Group is unable to separate diese! generator use from diesel used in other plant equipment, sa the Group*

has chosen to include all diesel usage.

. Business Travel: The introduction of ‘Agile Working' and culléagues fravelling to sites and_prcu‘ects post lock-down,
has increased business travel mileage in the Group s ‘grey fleet’ by 2% year on year.

Asa result for UK oparations year on year gross emissions have decreased by 3% and when compared wﬂh the intensity metric
of 'Revenue’. .

Energy efficiency i
In January 2020 Mace launched ils Net Zero Stralegy and a hehavmurchange iniliative called 'Sieps without Footprints’. The repost
'Steps without Footprints ane year on’, details the 2020 journey and future targets - htips:fwww macegroup.com/about-us/a-

responsible-business/steps-withoul-foolprints-repor. in December 2021 Mace lauriched the ‘Environmental, Social and -

Governance Report 2020. In the report Mace cnmmlis to Building a Better Fulure by

*  Transforming the Group's Jmpact on socnety and planet: Evolving the way business is done to ensure that
operations are sustainable, ethical and robustly governed, The Group’s ESG slrategy links 1o the Group s slrateglc
priorities, connecting every element of what we do ta aur puspose.

. ValuezSaciety: Creating-shared value sits at our heart. Supporting commumtles and generaling cpportunities to

" deliver belter outcomes for saciety. 1t's what we do bacause it's the right thing to do. Cver the |ast few years, we have -

increased qur Value25ociely, but there is always more that we can do and our new target of E700m by 2026 will see
us add advanced value by bringing further benefils to those whom our projects touch, now and in the future.

. Carbon Emisslons: Globally wa havé reduced our Scope 1, 2 and 3 carbon ernissions by 4% We will continue secure
annual verificatian of aur net zero position with a target to reduce our corparate carbon footprim by 10% each year.
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‘Directors' report (;ontinded)
Year ended 31 December 2022

To become net zero the Mace Group committed to sngmﬂcanlly reduce carbnn emlssnons associaled with:
*  Energy use —the electricily, gas and diesel purchased; .
- Embodied carbon ~ from manufaciuring and transporting the materials used in the budemgs developed and own;
+  Business travel ~ our flights, trains, taxis, cars, and hotel accommodalion,
.. Water and wasta — the water we use and wasta we send ta landfll;
*  Purchased Goods and Services,
- Waste and waler discharge;
+  Purchased goods and services,
- Welito tank; ’
+  Employee commuting; and
+ . Fugilive emissions.

Having achieved carbon neutral in 2020, The Mace Group is committed to a Net Zera future, this involves the continued reductian
. ‘of enargy use, business travel and on-site diesel. The Mace Graup recognises climale change is a global issue and has
commitled to reducing its environmental impact and assisting its clients to reduce their impact on the environmeni and has
commilted to a 2026 kargel o reduce 1m tonnes of clien! carbon.

In 2022 the' Mace Group committed to.
. Adjusitimings on HVAC {Healing, Ventilation and Air-Conditioning) and reduced fuaning time;
+  HVAC set points adjusted incrémentally; .
+  Trialled on half fieor operalion of fan colls at 50%;
+  FCU's only running for a few hours a day;
Instlalled timecfocks on weliare and praject sites;
+  Install PIR's on project sites;
+ LED lighting an constructian sites, in sile offices and cantaens;
. Lighting upgrades where necessary;
"+ Reduction in business travel achieved through availability of vrdeo conferencmg and introduction of ihe Agite Workmg :
’ Paolicy; '
+  'Reduce on-site diesel for energy generaliari by using hybrid generalion and securing 2arly grid connections; and
+  Continued use of Demand Logic in the head office building to optimise the hl.nldlng canditions and highlight areas ofenergy
wastage.

The fo!lowing energy efficiency measures are under cronside-raiion for implementation during 2023.

+ Conduct ESOS, (Energy Saving Opportunity Scheme) audits;

+  Replace fluorescent lighting with LED lighting In Head Office;

- Continue to source energy efficient site accommodation; )
+  Continue o update heating and controls in all ofices, site accommortation canleens and drying raoms;

»  Continue (g reduce business trave! by use of video canfesencing and agile working;- -
- Conlinue research and development of new methods of construction;

- Continue to reduce embedied carben: .

« Investigale ways to reduce energy use and emissions from ICT; ~

+  Reduce waste and use of landfil}; B

= Work with the supply chain to reduce emissions; and

- lmp|emenl ESOS Phase 3 findings where appropriate.

Methodology used in the calculation of disciosures.

The methodology used.in the calculation of the data disclosed in this repon has followed lhe formal of the Mace Group ESCS
Reponts and complies with Environmental Reporling Guidelines mcludmg lhe streamlmed energy and cartbon reponlng guvdance
March 2019 (Upda!ed Intraduction arid Chapters 1 and 2j.

The Mace Group scope for SECR reporting ks activities where the Mace Group acts as a project/construction manager. The
Mace Group has conlral of emissions associated wilh the construchon set-up and construction activities and the Mace Gmup
has financial’ conlrol of the uhlllles

Any estimations used for data use the pro-rata calculation technique. This is used in the case where there are data gaps, as
the billing period covers more than the reporting year and needs to be quantified using a propertional method based on meter
readings. The consumption for a billing perlod is hroken down inte a dany consumption and mulhplled into monthly consumption
to cover the data gap.

The intensity ratia is calculated using UK revenue far 2022 and is staled as tonnes of COze per £ tevenue (UK aperations oaly).
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Directers' report (continued)
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Directors® indemnity insurance

The Company provides a direclors’ and officers’ insurance policy which was in place during the year and remains in force at the
date of this report.

Going concern '

The directors conlinue ta adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Group's 2022 financiat stalémenis,

The directors have carried out an assessment on the Group's abllliy to conlinue as a going concern for the period of al least 12
months from the date of approval of the financial statemenis. The assessmenl has cansidered:

+  The likelihood of the principal risks of the Group occurring;

«  GCurrent liquidity levels and financing arrangements,

«  The most recent unaudited trading performance of lhe Group at me point at which the assessment took place, being
March 2023;

e .The anhclpated results for the 2023 and 2024 financial years wilh reference to secyred levels of work; and

» _ The lotal value and phasmg of the Group's forward order book.

In perfarming their assessment, lhe directors have modelied the impadl of the scturrence of five adverse scenarios, which were
selected through a detailed review of the Group’s principal risks.  The impact of the following five risks on the Group's financial
performance and liquidily has been assessed at varying levels of severity:

A reduction in unsecured work;

Inflaticnary increase above assumed forecast levels for all categories of cost,.

An increase in base rates (SONIA);

Delays in receipls from key customers; and

Delays in investmen! payback. These scenarios replicate the impact ofa 5|gmﬁcant delay in cash receipts which could
be applicable in a range of different scenarios. .

I I T

tn the mast severe of these scenatios, the Group is stilt expected to remain profitable, retain sufficient liquidity to operate efficiently
and remain within ils banking covenants throughout the going concern penod The directors also consider that a wide range of
mitigating actions would be available to mitigate any adverse scenaria.

Events after the reporting date
Details of significant events after the reporting date can be found in the Sirategic Report and in note 31.

Employees

The directors recognise that employees are fundamental to lhe Mace Group's success and are commilted to the invalvement and
development of employees at all levels. The directors wish to ensure that the Mace Group is a diverse and inclusive grnup that -
respects amployee's protected characleristics including race, religicn, sexual orientation, and any dlsabnnaes

The Mace Group gives a full consideralion to applications for employment fiom disabled persons where the requirements of the
job can be adeguately fulfiled by a disabled person. Where exisling employees became disabled, it is the Mace Group's policy

- wherever practicable to provide continuing employment under normal terms and conditions and to provide training and-caveer
development and promotion to disabled employees wherevar apprapriate.

Arrangements exist to keep all employees infarmed on matters of concemn fo. them and information an the Mace Group's
performance and prospects is disseminated widely, The directors ensure that employees or iheir representatives are consulted

. on a reguiar basis sa that the views of employees can be considered in making decisions which are likely to affect their interests.
Employees are encouraged to be concerned with the performance and efficiency of the. Mace Group and various profit sharmg
and bonus schemes operate to emphasise and reinforce this.

The directors would, like to thank all employees far lheir hard work.during the year.

Engagement with stakeholders
The Mace Group continued lo engage with stakehoiders throughout the year as disclosed in the Strategic Report.



Mace Limited
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Year ended 31 December 2022 |

Research and development

Expenditure an research and development is the key to driving the business forward. In 2022, the Group invested £57m (2021:
£48m) which included developrent of the Group's High-Rise Solulion capsbility (seeking to reduce time during construction by
25%, vehicle movements by 40% and construction waste by 75%), development of new construction elements, temporary works
processes, and making substantlial improvements in mechanica! and elestrical servies.

Branch
The Company has a branch ofﬂce in'the Republlc of irefand.

Disclosure of information to auditars

Each of.the persdns who is a Direclor as-at the date of this report canfirms that: -

. so'far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Gompany's auditor is unaware; and

. the Director has taken all steps that they cught to have taken as a direcior lo make themselves aware of any relevant
audit, lnformatlon and lo establish that the Cumpany s auditar is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of 5418 of the Campanies Act 2006.

" The financjal'stalements are pproved by the Board and signed by order of the directors.

-Cdrolyn Pate
Group Company Secretary
7 July 2023
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* Directors' responsibilities statement
Year ended 31 December 2022

The directors ace. responsable for preparing \he Strategic Repon, the Directors' Report, the Corporate Governance Repor! and the ~

financial stalements in accordance with apphcable law and regulations,

Company {aw requires the directors lo prepare financial stalemenis for each financial year. Under thal law the dlrectors have elected

to prepare lhe financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted ifternalional accounting standards and applicable law and have
elected lo prepare the parent Company financial statements in accordance with UK accounting standards and applicable law,

including FRS 101 Redired Nisctocure Framawarl. Under Cunpatly law ditsglors must not approve the financial statements unfess -

they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of their profil or loss
far that period. The direclars consider the financia! stalements {o be true and fair.

In preparing theése financial statements, the direclors are required to:

+  selacl suitable accounting pulicies and then apply them consistently;
» make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

« stale whelher the Group financial slalemenls have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted inlernational accounl!ng .

standards;
= stale whether the Company financial stalemenls have been ptepa:ed in accordance with FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure
" Framewark; and
s prepare the financial statements on the going concern basws unless itis inapproprlate to presume that the GmUp and Company
will continue in business. .

Thea directors are responsible for keepin'g adequale accounting records that are sufficlent to show and explain the Group and
Company's lransaciions and disclose with réasenable accuracy al any fime the financial position of the Group and Company and
enable them to_ensure that the financial stalements comply with the Companies Acl 2006. They are also iesponsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Group and Company and hence for laking reasanable steps for the prevention and deteclion of fraucl
and other irregularities. . - .

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and inlegnly of the corporale and financial infarmalion included en the Gompany's
website. Legislation in the Uniled Kingdom govermng lhe preparatron and dissemination of the Anancial statements may differ from
legisiation in otherjunsdlcltons
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Independent auditer's report to the members of Mace Lumlted
Year ended 31 December 2022

Opinion

We have audited the financial statemenls of Mace lened (the ‘Parent Company’) and its subsidiaries {the “Group’} for the year ended 31
December 2022 which comprise the following:

Consolidated Statement of Camprehensive Inceme
- Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Company Statement of Financial Position
Consalidated Stalement of Cash Flows
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equily
* ' Company Statement of Changes in Equity, and
. notes to the financial statemnents, including a summary of significant accounhng pohcles

P e >

The financial reporting framewark that has been applied in the preparation of the Grcmp financial statemenls is a;:phcable law and UK-
adopled inlernalional accounting standards.

The financial reporting framework that has been applled in the preparation of the Pareni Company fnanmal statements s applucable law
and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 "Reduced D|sc|osure Framework” (Uniled Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice).

In aur apinion:

) the financial statemenis give a ffue and falr view anhe state of the Group sand ofthe Parent Company's affairs as at 31 December
2022 and of the Group s profil for the year then ended;
. the Group financial stalements have been properly pnapared in acgordance with UK-adopted internalional accounting-slandards;
. the Parent Company financial stalements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generaliy Accepted
Accounting Practice; and
. the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of lhe Companies Act 2006
Basis for apinion :
We conducted our audit in accordance with Inlernationat Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities
" under those standards are further deseribed in the "Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the linenciat statemenis” section of our repor.
We are independent of the Graup and the Parent Company in accordance with the ‘ethical requirements that are relevant to our sudit of the

financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfiled our ather ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requiremerits. We believe that the audit evidence we have oblained is sufficient and appropriate o provide a basis far our opinion.

Conclusmns relatmg to going concern . .

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the du’ectors use of the going concetn basis of accountling in the- preparahon
of the financial statemenls is appropriate. Our audit procedures to evaluate the directors” assessment of the Group’s and ihe Parent
Company s ability to continue to adopl the going.concern basis of accounting included but were not limited to:

. Undentaking an initiai assessment al the planning stage of lhe sudit \o identify events or condilions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's and the Parent Company's ability to continue as a gomg CONCern;

S Oblammg an understandmg of the relavant controls re ahng to the dlrectors going cancern assessmﬂnl
. Assessmg the histarical aceuracy-of projechons prepared by the directdrs;

«  Assessing the data inpuls and the assumplions underlying the base case going concern mode), and the assumphans used inthe
downside and upside scenarios;

. Reviewing management's forward order book;
. Testing the forecast mode) and covenanl calculations for mathematicai accuracy and lagical inlegrity;
. Assessing projected liquit;lily and projected 't':ovenanl compliarice aver the going concern period; and
. Fvaluating the appropnaleness of the directors’ disclosures in the ﬁnancual statements on going concermn.
Based an the wark we have perfarmed, we have nal identified any material uncertainties relating to evenls or conditions that indivigualty

or colleclively, may cast significani doubt on the Group's and the Parent Campany’s abllity 1o conlinue as a golng concern for a pariod of at
least twelve manths from when the financial statements are authcn‘sed far issue. .

Qur responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors wnh respect lo going concem are described in the relevant s.echons of this
repor.

Other information

The other infarmalion comprises the information inclided in the annual repart, other than the financial statemerits and our auditor's report
thereon. The directars are responsible for the other infarmation contained within the annual report. Our opinion on the financial stalements
daes not caver the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly sla(ed in our report, we do not express any form of
assurance conclusian thereon.

Qur respansibility is to read the other informaliun and, in doing 50, consider whether the olher information is materially inconsistent with the
financial slatements or our knowledge abtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise appears 10 be matedally misstated. If we identify
" such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstalements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise 1o a material
_ misslalernent in lhe financial statements themselves. If, based an the work we have performed, we canclude that there is a material
misstaternent of this ather information, we are reguired 1o report that facl. We have nolhing to report in this regard.
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Independent auditor's report-to,the_members of Mace Limited {continueﬂ)
Year ended 31 December 2022 '

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In cur cpinion, pased on the work undertaken in the course of the augit:
« the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for whlch the financial statemeants are
prepared is cansistent wilh the financlal stalements; and
s (e sudeylc ipUIt #1d the directors' report have been preparfed in accordance with apphcabie legal reqm{ements
Matters on which we are required to report by exceptlon
In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Parent Company and their environment obtalned in the course of the
audit; we have not idenlified material misslatements in the strategic report or the directars’ report.-
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation 1o which the Companies Act 2006 requires usto re-pnri o ymn if, in
our cpinion:
v adequate accounting records have not been kepl by the Parent Company, or returns adequale for our audil have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or -
« the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting recerds and rel(unﬁ; or
«  certain disclasures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are nol made; or

« wehave not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Respeonsibilities of Dlrectors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responmbllllles statement set out on page 29, the chreclors are responsible for the greparation of

the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is

necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatemnent, whather due 1o fraud or eivor.

\n preparing the financial stalements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Parent Company's abilily to continue
. as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matiers related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the

direclors either intend to liquidate the Gmup or the Parent Cumpany or to cease operatlons or have na realistic alternalive bul to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our ebjectives are o obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstalemnent,
whetker due to fraud or erfor, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance
but is not a guaraniee that an audit conducted in accardance with 1SAs (UK} will always detect a malerial misstatement whan il exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
. expected to influgnce the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial stalemeints.
The exient ta which our praceduses are capable of detecting lrregularities, including fraud is detailed below.
Irmegularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and, regulations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstaternents in respect of irregularities, including fraud.
Based on our understanding of the Group and the Parent Company and theirindustry, we considered that non- compliance with lhe following
laws and regulations might have a material effect on the financial statements: employment regulation, Bribery Act and Modern Slavery Act,
Health and Safely regulation, anti-money laundering regulation, General Daia Ptoiection Regulation (GDPR), Building Acl and Regulalions
and Fire Safety Act.
To-help us identify insiances of non- comp!lance with these laws-and regula‘uons and In |denhfymg and assessing the I'ISkS of material
misstaternent in respect to non-compliance, our pracedures included, but were nat limited to:
- » _ Inguiring of management and, where appropriate, those charged with governance, as to whether the Group and the Parent
Company is in compliance with laws and regulailuns and discussing their policies and procedures regarding compliance with
laws and reguiations; .

+ |Inspecting correspondence, if any, with relevant licensing or regulatory avthorities,

. Communicating identified laws and regulations to the engagement team and remaining alert to any indications of non-
compliance thraughout our audit: and E - .

« Considering the risk of acls by the Group and the Parent Company which were contrary lo apphcable laws ard regulatmns
_|nclud|ng fraud.

. We also consldered thase laws and regulahons that have a direct effect on the preparation of the Iinanma[ statements, such as lax |eg|s|ahon-
and the Companies Act 2006. :

In addition, we evaluated the directors’ and managemenls incentives and cpportunities for fraudulent manlpulatlon of the financial

slatements, inciuding the risk of management override of controls, and determined that the principal risks related to posling manual journal '

entries to manipulate financial performance, management bias through judgements and assumptions in signilicant accounting estimates,

revenue recognition (which we pinpointed to the completenass, éxistence and accuracy), and significant one-off or unusval transactions.
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independent auditor's report to the members of Mace Limited (contmued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

Qur audit procedures In relation o fraud included but were not limited to:

. Making endquiries of the directors and management on whether they had know!edge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud
- Gaining an understanding of the iftarnal controls established to mitigate cisks related to fraud;

. 'Di$cussiﬁg amongst the engagement team the risks of fraud; and

L "Add{'essing the risks of fraud through marnager'nenl override of cantrals by performing journal entry testing.

There are inherent limitations in the audit proéedures described above and the primary responsibility-for the prevention and detection of .

Irregultarities including fraud rests with manégement. As with any audit, there remained a risk of non-deteclion of irregularities, as these may
involve caltusion, forgery, inlentional omissigns, misrepresentatians ‘or the override of internal controls.

A further descnptlon af our respcnsmmhes for the awdit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Repnrllng Councll 5 websne
at www fic.org uk/auditorsrespansibilities. This descriplion forms parl of our ayditor's repor,

Use of the audit report

This report is made solely ta the Parenl Company’s members as a bedy in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of 1he Compames Act
2006, Qur audit work has been undertaken so that we iight stale to (he Parent Company's members those matters we are required fo sfate
to them in an audilor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permilted by law, we da not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the Parent Company and the Parent Company 's members as a'body for our audit work, for this report, or for the oplmons
we have formed.

William Neale Bussey (Senior Sfatutory Auditer) for and on behalf of Mazars LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor *
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Year ended 31 December 2022

Qruup revenus

‘Cost or'sales

Gross prafit
Ad;'ninisiraliva eXpenses

Other income

Fair value on financial liabilities measured at FVPL {inc. derivalives)

Operating praofit before exceptional items
Exceplional — impairment lass on loan (o Jeint venture
AExceplionaI — s0Hware expenses l

Operaling prafit

Share of nel profit of associates an.d joint ventures
.Prof}( on disposal of subsidiaries o
PraFlF trefare Interest

Finance income

Finance costs

Proﬂ't before la-xalion

Income lax expense

Profit from continuing operations

Profit far the year attributable in:.

0.wner_s of the parent

Non-conlralling interest

"Other comprehensive Income

Hlems that wilf or may be classilied o profit and loss:

Exchange differences on re-franslation of foreign subsidiaries

’ Hlems that will nol be classifiad to prolil and loss:

Remeasurement of pasl-employment benefit obligalion, net of tax

Teotal comprehansive Income for the year

Total comprehensive.ncome far the year eltributable to;

Owners of lhe parent

Nen-centralling inlerest

The notes on pages 39 o 90 form pant of these financial statements.

Note

11

1

18

16

2022 2021
E00s £000s
1,936,488 1,933,017

(1,713,55'5]'_ - (1,733,335)
247,918 190,682,
(166,424) (145.687)
4,045, 3,892
A56 (2,052)
53,346 54,841
{13,609) {5,983)
. 12,544)
40,387 42,314
2,625 2,988
§49 6,070
43,861 54,383
10,383 10.34é
{3,061} (7.800) -
50,983 53,846
{15,986) (11041
35,007 42,775
35,286 42,486
279y aoe
35,007, 42,775
5,227 2311y
901 191}
41,135 40,373
41,281° 40,064
(146).. 309
41135 40,373
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Consolidated statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2022

Mon-current assets

Prapecty, plant and equipment

‘ln!anglhie assels

Deferred tax assets

Investmenls In joint ventures & associales
Other inveslmen(s

Restricted cash

Trade and olher receivables

Current assels

Trade and olher receivables

Development loan to joint veniure
Development work in progress

Asselofa ;.’ispcrsal group cfassifiad as held for sale
Current tax assets I

Restricted cash

Cash af bank

Current liabilittes

Trade and ojher payables |

Provistons ' .
Liatilities of & disposal group classilied as heid {or sale,
Financial Gabililies ’

Current tax Fabilites

Lease iiabililies & borrowings

Net current assets

Total dssets less current Nabilities
Non-current llabilities

Trade and olher payables
Provisions

Financia! liabilities

Lease liahilities & borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities

Net assets

Capital and reserves

Share capilal i
Foreign exchange reserve
Relained earmings , ~
Equity shareholders® funds
NonAconrmiﬁng intgrasis

Note

19
20
20
25

27

23
22
25
23

24

24
22

23

24

12 -

26

3 December

31 December
2022 2021
£000s £0005
26,993 92,956
51,943 _ 51,410
7,503 6,808
" gaa 1,341
1,514 12,898
244 -
500 1,199
-39,947 95 821
637,004 623,847
" 44,430 50,352
7,484 12,543 .
- ’ 832
1,353 5,578
26,284 237
159,974 164,888
876,536 " 868,477
(714,129) (717.752)
" (8a34) (12.483)
' - ! {776)
(473) (2,3"20)
{7,105) (13.261)
] (51,413 (45,212}
(782,454} (791,844)
. bagsz * 76:633
194,029 173,454
{527) -
{88,395} 183,653}
181y (6,416)
{18,386) {20,577)
{1,511} (1,227)
84,029 " 51,51
1,000 1,000
{589) £5,683)
82 570 R 64,383
82,981 59.700
1,048 1,871
84,029 61,571

These linancial slatemenis of Mace Limited (Company riumber 02410526) were approved by the direclars, aulhorised forissue on 7 July 2023, and are signed on their

behalf by:

Chlef Financia! Offlcer

The niotes on pages 39 {o 90 form pari of these financial statements.

Mark Reynolds
Chlef Executive Officer
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Cornpany statement of financial posmon
As at 31 December 2022 .

N 31 December 31 December
2022 ‘ 2021
Note : £000s __ EODOs
Non-current assets - ’ ’
Property, plant and equipment - - o 13 ‘ i 72,757 19,104
Intangible assels : : S 14 19,713 . 20,244
. Deferred tax assets | o 12 S 1,143 ; 2,718
Inves(ments iri subskfiaries. . o T 18 : .. 30,380 - o 12,049
‘Trade and other receivables ) 19 . . 800 L 1,199,
. 74,593 55,404
. 'Current assels ) . . . . .
. Trade and other receivables . 19 ’ " 538,219 607,524
Assels of a disposal graup c1assnred as held-for sale : 25 - . 4,713 ’
Reslricted cash : ‘ ' 11,104 ) -
Cash atbank - . - L Agi 5822
' s55,847 - 513,346
Current liabilities ) .
Trade and other payables o ‘ 2, (456,538) (506,069)
Provisions o ' 22 - (766) {10,505)
Financial Liabilities, - 23 : el . (1,511)
"Current tax liabilities ‘ . o . o (534 S a281)
Lease liabilities & borrowings ' .24 {69,150) ) {(27,107)
: : : (526,995) . . {549,484)
Net current assets - o ' N 28,852 . | 63,862
. Total assets less current liabilities : . ' 103,445 ) ) 119,266
Non-current liabilities . .o .
Trade and other payables X . 21 (527) -
- Provisions o o 22 _ {83,408) o (7a.348)
Lease liabilties & borrowings 24 ) {17,525) ' (}8‘985)_
" Net assets . : SR, o o 1,985 . 25,935
,Capita[ and reserves . . .
Share capital B -2 ' 1,000 .. 1,000
Retained earnings - ) 7 B ) 985 24,935 .
Equity sharehlqlders' funds . . ' ' : ‘ 1,985 . 25935

A separaie profit and ioss account for the Campany (Company nurnber 024106286) is not presented as permitled by section 408 of the Companies Act
.2006. The loss aker taxahon aof the Campany was £6.0m (2021 profit: £9.3m} and total c:amprehensive losses was £6.0m (2021 prom £8.3m). .

* These financial slalements weare approved by lhe directors, autharised for issue an 7 July-2023 and are mgned on their behalf by:

,@% o,

Mark Reynolds Co Dawd Allen
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

The noles on pages 39 to 80 form pa'rf of these financial statements.
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face Limited

Consalidated statement of cash flows
Year ended 31 Decembher 2022

Note Year ended

. Year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
£000s £000s
Cash flows fr‘om operating acfivities 27 . 56,524 . 38,553
Cash flows from investing aclivities .
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and mtangmle assels {5,836) | - (7,008)
Acquisition af subsidiaries i (7,279) (6,001)
Dispasal of subsidiaries 16 : 82 8,818
Acquisition of Investments ) - - (2,882)
Dividends from joint ventures 18 2,524 4,406
' Proceeds from disposals of praperty, plant and equipment and |ntang|ble
assels ) ‘4561 -
Change in cash within assels held for sale 25 - 254
Met cash used in fram investing activities {10,058) - (2,820)
Cash flows from financing activities ) .
Dividends paid to Compazny shareholders, {18,000} (15,643)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (677) ’ -
Contribution of employee benefil scheme C - - {7833)
Repayment of borrowings - (123,044)
Repayment of lease liabilities ' (5,134) (3,566)
Net ¢ash movement from financing aC!lwhes {23,811) {149,886)
Net increase/ (decrease) in cash at bank and bank overdraﬂs 22,5655 {114,253)
Cash a1 bank and bank overdraﬂs al beginning of year 125,093 243,615
Effects of currancy translalion on cash at bank and bank overdraﬂs -(3,730) . {4,169)
Cash at bank and bank overdrafts at end of year 144,018 125,083
Cash at bank and bank overdrafts - 2022 .- zom
. . ; ! A
S £000s £000s
Cash at bank 159,974 164,888
Restricted cash 27 . . 26,525 ’ 237
Bank overdrafts 24 {42,481) {40.032)
: 144,018 125,093

The notes on pages 39 to 90 are an integral part of these consolidated. financia) statements.



Mace Limited

Consolidated statement ofcﬁanges in equity
Year ended 31 December 2022 '

Forelgn - MNon-
Share Exchange Retained  AHributable Controbliing
Capital Reserve  Earpings to Owners Interest Total
. : .

. . £000s . £000s5 - FO00s fdngs - £000s £000s
Equity shareholders’ funds as at 1 January 2021 . 1,000 - (3,410) 44,641 42,234 1,688 43,919
Profit after tax for the year : : - .- 42,466 42,466 209 42,775
gﬁr::asursmgm of post-employment benelit scheme, nel . . (81) . (a1 - {91)
Retranslalion Joss . - (2,272) - (2,273) _ {38) (2,311}
Total Comm"ehenslvn incnme for the year . - {2,273) - 42,375 - 40,1(52 271 40,373
Acquisilion of subsidiary - - - - §24 624
Dispasa! of hon-cantrolling interest . L - - : - - (69} (69}

'Contributicn to empicyee benelit frust - ’ - (?_.6'33) (7,633} ) - . (7,633
Dividends paid E L ' - - (15,000) (15,000} (643) . {15,643)
Equity sharehgplders' funds a5 at 31 December 2021 1,300 (5,683} 4,28) 59,700 1,811 61,571
Profit afler lax for the year . L. : - 35,286 35,286 (278) 35,007
Remeasurement of post-employment benafit scheme - - 11} . 980 R 980
Tax on remeasurement of post-employment beneft - .
obligation e T - . {79) {79} - (79

| Retranslalion gain L : ) - 5,084 - 5,094 33 - 5227
Total comprehensive Income for tha year - 5,094 35,187 41,281 (145)' 41,135
Dividends pald ~ - - - (18,0000 T {18,060) . (677) {18,677)
Equity shareholders® funds as at 31 December 2022 . 1,000 {589) . 82,570 82,9B1 1,048 84,028

The noles on pages 39 io 90 are an integral part af these consalidated financial statements.



Mace Limited

Company statement of changes in equity
Year ended 31 December 2022

Retalned

Share Gapital Earnings . Total

. £000s £000s £0005

Equity shareholders’ funds as at 1 January 2021 i ) T 4000 T 88,267 39,267
h’mm after tax for the year ' : ' ) - 2,301 s,aaq

Total compreﬁenslve ineome for the year. . L - - 9,301 9,301

Dividends paid (£15 per share) 7 - .. - (15,000} B {15,000)

Contribution lo employee benefil trust . - (7,623) (7,633)

Equity shareholders' funds as at 31 December 2021 ' . ’ 1000 . . 24,938 25,935
[Loss afier tax fos the year T : C S ) - (5.950} 15,950} l

Total.comprehensive [osses for the year . . X - - - (5,950) - {5,950)

Dividends paid (£18 per share) . | . A - . {18,000) . (18,000)

’ Equity sharshar‘dels' funds as at 31 Decembe(-a??.? ' - ) - 4,000 885 1,985

The notes on pages 39 to 90 are an integraf parf of these consalidated financial statements.
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Mace Limited ' . ' ‘ . : v

Notes to the financial statements
Year ended 31 December 2022

1. Accounting policles

General information . ' ‘
Mace Limited {Ihe "Gompany?} is a private limited Company incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales. The address of lhe registered
office is 155 Moorgate London, ECEM 6XB. The pnnclpal activities of the Group and the Company are detailed in the direciors’ Regon.

" The functional currency of the parent Company is pounds sterling because that is the currency of the primary economic environment in which
the Group operates. Paunds sterfing is also the prafentatlon currcnay of the Gompany and Group. The amounts stated are genominated in
thousands (E’ 000) .

Basis of preparation’ ’
The coasolidated financial statements have been prepared in accardance with UK- adopted international accounting standards and with the.
raquirernents of the Companies Acl 2006,

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of financial assets and Fabilities {including darivative financial instrumen!s) al fair value through profit and Joss.

The separate financlal statements of the Company are presented as required by the Compames Act 2006, The Company meets the definition
of a qualifying entity under Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 100 issued by the Financial Reporting Gouncil. Accordingly, in the year ended
31 Necemher 2022 the Company reperted under XS 101 as issued by lhe Financial Reporting Council, which does not result in any change,
in the amounts presented because the Company’s accounting policies under FRS 101 are consistent with those described in the Gxoup 5
-conleidalEd fihancial statements under UK-adopted international accounting standards.

As permitted by FRS 101, the Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure exemptions avaitable under that standard:

+ The requirements of paragraphs 91 lo 89 of IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement;

= The requirements of IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows;

= The requirements of paragraph 17 and 18A of 1AS 24 Related Party Disclosures;

« The requirements in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures to disclose reiated party transactions entered inlo between two or more members of
a group, provided that any subsidiary which is a paﬂy to the transactien is whally owned by such a member;

+ The requiremenis of the second sentence of paragraph 110 and paragraphs 113(3) 114, 1157118, 118(a) 1o (c) 120 to 127 and 129 of
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracls with Customers; .

= The requitements of paragraphs 134(d)-134(f) and 135(c}-135(e) of IAS 36 impairment of Assels;

« The requirements of IAS 8 lo disclose the details of slandards issued but not yet effective and the likely 1mpacl and

« The disclosure reguirements of IFRS 7 Financial Instruments, other than those required by law;

Where required, equivalent disdlasures are given in the consolidated financial statements.

in addilion to the application of FRS101, the Company has taken advantaée of Section 408 of the Act and consequently its statermnent of
comprehensiv&_income (including the profil and lass accaunt) is not presented as part of these financial statemenis

Going congern -
The directors continue to adopt the geing concern basis in preparing the Group’s 2022 ﬁnanmal statements.

The directors have cariied out an assessment on the Group's ability to continue as a gaing concern for the period of at least 12 months from
the date of approval of the financizl statements. The assessment has considered:

+ The likelihood of the principal risks of the Group occurring;

+  Gurrent liquidity levels and financing arrangements; '

- The most tecent unaudited trading performance of the Group at the point at. wmch the assessment took place, being March 2023,
+  The anticipated resuils for the 2023 and 2024 financial years with reference to secured levels of work; and .
+ The total value and phasing of the Group's forward order book.

In performing their assessment, the directors have modelled the impact of the occurrence of five adverse scenarios, which weare selected
through a detatied review af the Group's principal risks. The impact of the following live risks an the Group's financiai performance and liguidity
has been assessed atvarying levels of severity: .

<A reductlon in unsecured work; ) '
o Inflationary increases above assumed forecasl evels for ali categones of cost;
+ " Anincrease in base rates (SONIA);
+  Delays in receipts from key customers®; and
+  Delays in investment payback*,

*These scenarios replicale the !mpact of a significant delay in cash receipls whmh could be applicable in a range of different scenarios to those
describad.

In the most severe of these scenarias, the Group is still expected ta remain profitable, retain sufficient ligridity to operate efficiently and
remaln within its banking covenants throughout the going concern period. The directors alsa consider that a wide range of mitigaling actions
would be aualiabie ta miligate any adverse scenaria
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Mace Limited

Notes to the financial statements {continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

1. Accounting policies [continued)

Basis of consolidation
- The Group financiat statements incorporate the resulls af Mace timited, its subsrd:ary undertakings and the Graup's share Oi' the results of
Joint ventures and joint operations. Subsidiaries are all entilies over which the Group has controf.

The power over relevant activities, expasure or right to Varlab e returns from I'ts involvement with an investee, and the a.b:.hty to influence
those returns, are considered.when assessing whether the Group cantrols another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from lhe date
on which control is transferred to the Group, untii the date thal conltro! ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting s used to accoeunt for the acquisitioq of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an acquisition is
measured at the fair value of Ihe assels transferred, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange.
Cosis directly alliioutable to the acquisition are expensed 1o the income stalement. The identifiable assels acquired and liabillies and
contingent liabilities assumed in the business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of
any non-controlling Inlerest The excess of cost of acqmsnllon over the fair value of the Group's share of the identifiable net assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. .

inter-Campany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactiens belween Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses

. are also efiminated but considered an impairmentindicator of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of acquired subsidiaries are changed
where necessary, ta ensure cansistency with palicies adopted by the Group. All subsidiaries of the Group are inciuded within the
‘cansolidated financial'statements,

Changes to accounting policies as a result of new standards issued and effective
Changes to accounting p0|lC|ES as 3 result of new standards issued and effeclive do not have a maleriatimpact on the consolidated financial
-sfatements.

Standards and mterpretatrons lssued but not yet effective

A number of new standards and amendments to existing standards have been published whlch are mandatory but are not effective for the

year ended 31 December 2022. The directors do not anticipate that the adoption of these revised standards and interpretations will have a
significant impact on the figures included in the finangial statements in,the pericd of initial application.

Revenues and margin recognition

Revenue is measured under IFRS 15 at an amount that reflects the considération to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services in the normal course of business, net of disceunts, VAT and other sales related tax. Revensue is recognised in the
period in which the performance obligations are satisfied. Margin is calculated by reference 1o totat project revenue less costs incurred to
deliver the services. The different typas of contract lypes are described below with reference to our operaling engines:.

Davelop-contracts

The Develop engine defivers development managemen! as a service and develops real eslale assefs. Contracts for development
management sarvices are typically treated as having ane pedermance obligation but may be priced based on time and materials, a fixed
fee or a vaviable fee based on tolal project cost. Revenud Is calculaled on the same basis as the conguil contracls delailed above.

Develop contracts may include performance obligations delivered al a point in time, in which case revenue is rabognised at the point,
otherwise 1hey will be treated as being delivered over time in accordance with typical on‘going service type conlracts.

Revenue deriving from the sale of land or properly is recoghised when canfrol has baen passed to the buyer the amount of revenue ¢an be
rehably measwed and i is probable that the economic benefits assogiated with the transaction will flow to the Group. Sale of goods revenue
is recognised at legal complelion in respect of the total proceeds of building and development. Revenue is maasured at an amount that
reflects the consideration ta which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for the property, net of discounis and VAT. Cost of sales is
also recognised at legal completion, when the goods are sold, and until then the cesis are recorded within Development WIP on the ba'.ance
sheet,

fncome from feases where a member of the Mace Group is a fessor (s covered in the accounting policy for leases.

‘Consult conlracis

Consult contracts include those for project and programme management, cost cansultancy and advisory services. Contracts can have
multiple performance obligations depending on the nature of the services being provided. These can be clearly distinguished as they are
typically separately identifiable deliverables or services with a fee speclflcally attributable to them. Almost all consultancy projects are
deemed (o be delivered over time, in ‘accordance with the benefits being transferred to the client over time, unless there is a distinct
deliverable, and the fee is contingent on the delfivery of the finished product

" The mast common type of contract for consultancy services are time and materials. Satisfaction of the performance obligalions are measured-

using the input method, whereby they are based on direct labour hours, lime elapsed or resources cansumed, and therefore revenue is
recognised over time as the sefvices are delivered with reference to these inputs. These types of cantracts are often service agréements
with call cffs in the forms of task orders which act as a variation or extension {o the original agreement. Depending vn the specifics of the
call offs, they may be treated as one performance obligation or they may be trealed as separale, and revenue is therefare recagnised
accordmgly Where there is mare than one performance obligation, contract costs’are recorded separalely in order {o caleulate the expected
margin atlributable Lo each.

Some consultancy contracts are fixed fee or fixed hourly rate. Satisfaction of ihe performance obligations are measuted using outputs such
as scope deliverables or canditional milestones reached and therefore revenue is recaognised over time as the services are delivered with
reference lo \he extent to which these cutputs or conditions are being compléted or met.
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Mace Limited

Notes to the financial statements (ccntmued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

1.  Accounting policies {continued)

Revenue and margin recognition (¢ontinued) . ) -

Variable consideralion is included in the transaction pri'ce anly to the extent that it is highly probable thal a s.ign':ﬁc'ant reversal will not be
required whien the uncertainlies determining the level of variable consideration are subsequently resclved,

It conlracts contain an element of risk and reward, an estimate’ of tha risk is included in the contract cost price as soon as it's deemed
probable, while anticipated reward and parformance bonuses are only recognised al the point that they are agreed by the custemer.

Construcr contracts :
A significant percentage of the GTOUD s revenue is derived from construction conlracts. The majority of cantracts are considered to contain
only one performance obligatian for the purpases of recagnising revenue, While the scope of works may include a number of different
companents, in the conlext of construclion activities.these are usually highly interrelated and produce a cambined output for the customer.

Contracls are typically salisfied over lime. For fixed price construclion cantracts, progress is measured through a valuation of (he warks
undertaken by a professicnal quantily surveyor, including an assessment of any elements for which'a price has not yet been agrzed, such
as changes in scope. For cost reimbursable contracts, progress is measured based on the costs incurred to dale as a proportlon of the
estimaled lotal cost and an assessment of the final contract price payuble

Variations 1o the original contract sum are not included in the estimated tolal contract price until the customer has agreed the revised scope
of work. Where the scope has been agreed but the corresponding change in price has nol yet been agreed, only the amount that is
considered highly probable not lo reverse in the fulure is included in the estimated total contract price, Where delays to the programme of
waorks are anticipaled and liquidated damages would be contractually due, the estimated tatal contract price is reduced accordingly. This is
only miligated by expected extensions of time or commercial resolution being achieved where it is highly probable that this will not lead lo
a significant reversal in the future.

In order %o recognise the profit over time, it is necessary to estimale the total costs of the contracl. These éstimates take account of any
uncertainties in the cosl of work packages which have nof yel been let and materials which have not yet been procured, the expecled cosl
of any acceleration of or delays to the programme or changes in the scope of works and the expected cost of any rectification works during
the defect's liability period. Once the oulcome of a construction contract can be eslimated reliably, margin is recognised in the income

~ statement in line with the corresponding'stage of completion. Where a contract is forecast te be loss- maklng, the full loss is recagnised
immediately in the income slatement. Uninveiced amounts refaling to canstruction contracls are presented in the stalement of financial
position as conlracl assels.

Operate conrrac.‘s
‘Operate contracts include fees for facilities management, helpdesk and consunancy services. Due to the diversity of services delivered, the
_ divisian uses different types of contracts to suit the differenl delivery and pricing arrangements.

Fixed price, cost plus and guaranteed maxjmum price contracis may be used and are all ypically accounted for as a single performance

obligalion. Even when a conteact includes an array of different service lines, they are considered to form a single performance oblsgatlon

malching the intent of the contract.

For fixed price contracts, the Group typically receives paymems from the customer based on a contractual schedule of value that raftects

_the timing, performance of service delivery and achievemnent of key performance indicators (KPI's). Cest plus .contracls will include
contraciual entiffement to bill clients based on costs incurred plus an agreed mark up or at an agreed charge oul rate. Guaranteed maximum
price contracts will alse be billed based on a cost-plus basis but capped'at the agreed contractual price. In the evenl that a guaranteed
maximum price conlract reaches the capped ameunt, this is the maximum amouni of revenue that can be recognised, unless the maximum
price is increased farmally thraugh a change control process. During the duralion of these contracts these are subject to change, foliowing
an agreed change control process, whare such changes shall alter the price up or dawn. In all instances,  revenue is recagnised over time
in accoidance wilh the contract and un-invoiced amounts are presented as accrued income.”

Conlract costs ’

Costs 10 obtain a coniracl are expensed urless they are |ncrementai i.e.-they would not have been incurred if the contract had not been
obtained, and the contract i$ expected to be sufficiently profilable for {hem to be recovered. Costs ta fulfil a contract are expensed unless
they relate to an idenlified contract, generate or enhance resources that will be used to satisfy the obligations under the contract in future
years and the contract is expected to be sufficiently profitable for them to be recovered. Where Costs are capitalised, they are amortised
over the shorter-of the periad for which fevenue and profit can be forecast with reasonable certainty and the duration of the contract except
where the contract becomes loss making, If the cantract becomes loss making, all capitalised costs related to that contract are expensed
immediately. i o

Where work has been carried oul, but applications have not been applked for or certified, the value of the work is recognised as a contract
asset untit the right payment becomes unconditianal. This diffars to classification as contract recewables which relale lo accrued |ncome for
work performed where the right to payment is uncondlhona!
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Mace Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

1. Accounting policies (continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recegnised when there is :easonable assurance thal the cnndltlons will be met. Government granis are eithet
recarded in other income or reporled_to offset the refevant cost, depending on the type of grant, Government grants are recognised
fo match the associated cost olher than where expenditure has alieady been incurred, in which case they are recorded in the profit,
and loss immediately. Where government grants are repaid to cliients, this is recorded as a reduction in revenue, Where government
laans have nal yel beea approvéd as grants, these are reparled as a loan balance within loans and barcowings an the balance sheet.
No govemment grants have been received in relation to assels,

‘Other fncome
Other Income is Income derived from activilies unrelated to the main focus of the business, such as rental income, management fees,
insurance income or income from gaovernmenl grants where relevant.

Dlv:ssonal information

IFRS 8 requires an entity whase debt or equity securities are publicly traded Yo disclose information te ehable users of ils financial

siatements to evaluate the nature and financia! effects of the different business aclivities in which it engages and the difiergnt economic

environments in which it-operates. Although Mace is nol required to repart segmental information, divisional infermation has been

included in these financial stalements (o provide more 'detail on the financial resulis of the main opertating divisions or engines.

Operaling divisions are reported in a manner consistent with the inlernat reporting provided to the Board. The MEB is responsible for
» alfocalmg resaurces and assessing pedarmance of the aperaling divisions.

The Group has presen!ed disaggregalion in line with the divisional anslysis as shown in note 4. Material differences in risk betweeh .
the different revenue streams have been captured by the Group's aperating divisions as th\s bast depxcls how the nature, timing and
amoun! of revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors.

Assels and liabilities held for sale -

Assels and liabilities are classified as held for sale if it is highly probable that they will be realised through sale rather than continued
use. These assets ar disposal groups are recognised at the lower of thefr carrying amounts or fair vaiues less costs to sell. Any
impairment {oss of a disposai group is firstly atiributed to goodwill and then fo the reraining assets and liabilities on a propartionas
basis, with the exception that no loss is altributed to financial assets, deferred tax assets, assets in connection with employee benefils
ar investment property that.conlinues to be measured based an the Group's other accaunting policies. Impairment losses on the first-
lime classification as held for sale and any subsequent impairment Iosses are recognised In prafit or lass.

Intangible assets held for sale and property, plant and equipmemt are no longer amortised or depreciated and any investments
. recogﬂlsed using tha equily method are no longer equity accounted

Discontinued operations

_ A discontinued operation is a part of the Group that has either been sold or has been catggoiised as heid for sale, and which:
« represenls a major line of business or a geographical area of operations;
* ,ispartofa single coordinated plan to dispase of a separate, major line of busingss or geogcaphmal area of operations; or
» is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view ta resale.

'{ an operation is classified as a discontinued operahon lhe consolldaled statement of comprehensive income as well as the data
retating 0 if for the comparative year is adjusted so that il was as if the operation had-been discantinued fram the start of the
comparative year,

Goodwill and other intangibie asseté
. Goodwill represents the future economic benefits azising fram assets acquired in a business combination thal are not individually
identified and separalely. recognised.. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated |mpa|rment losses.

Goodwili is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. Forthe purpose of impairmeni testing, goodwill is allacated
ta each of the Group's cash generaling units (CGU) expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. CGUs to which the -
goodwill has been alfacated are tested. for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be
impaired. |f the recoverable amount or future economic benefits from the CGU is less than the camying.amount of the unit, the
impairment joss (s aflocated first lo reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then (o the other assels of the .
anit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. As impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed
in a subsequent perad, On disposal of a subsad:ary. the altributable amount of gocdwd! is ingluded in the determination of the. profit
ar lass on disposal. .

Software is recognised as an lmanglb!e assel. it is recogmsed at cost Ieas accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amartisalion is recognised on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life. The estimated useful life and amontisation methed are
reviewed at the end of each reparting period, with the effect of any changes in eslirnale being accounted for on prospective basis.
The estimated useful lives for the Group's finite life intangible assets are 3, 5 or 10 years depending on the expected usefu) economic
life of the r'ntangfb{e assets. Amortisation is recognised in administrative expenses. Amortisation of intangible assets commences once
the asset is in the condition and jocation to be used as inlended by managemenl. Assets under construction, such as the assels
assaciated with the imptementation, are nat amartised. .
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Mace Limited

Notes to the Financial statements {continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

Property, plant and equipment

Propeity, plant and equipment are stated at cos! less accumulated depreciatian and any recognised |mpa|rment loss. Deprecialian of ~
iangible fixed assels commences once the asset is in the condition and localion to be used as intended by management Assels under
construction, are not depreciated.

Depreciation is calculaled so as to write off the cast of a tanglble asset Iess its eslimated residual value over lhe estimated usefu
economic life of thal asset on the following basis:

. Ri'ght of use assels - : Qver the period of the lease, lo the break clause ass umption
Leasehold improvements " Qver the periad of fhe lease on a straight-line basis, 1o the first break clause
Plant, motor vehicles and equipment 10% to 20% per annum on a straight-line basis
Computer equipment 25% per annum on a straight-line basis”

Freehold property 5% per annuim ¢n a slraight-line Iqasis

*Comgputer equipment additions bn‘or to the change in estimate effective from 1 January 2022 are depreciated at3a% per annum on
a straight-line basis.

The estimated useful lives, resid val values and depreciation method are rewewed at the end of each reparting penod with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Anitem of preperly, plant and equipment is de- recogmsed upon dlsposal ar .when. no future economic benefits are expec!ed to arise
fram the conlinued use of the assel. The gain or foss arising or the disposal or scrappage of an asset is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recogmsed in prefit or loss.

lmpalrment of property, plant & equnpment and intangible assets excluding goodwill

Propedy, plant and equipment and intangible assets are reviewed for impairment if events ar changes In circumstances indicate that
the cairying amount may not be recoverable; or where there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in a previous period
either no longer exists or has decreased. When a review for impairment is conducted, the recoverable amount of an asset or a cazh
generating unit is determined as the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use.

The value-in-use estimale js calcylated using discounted cash flows and reviews in comunchon with the carrying amounts of tangible
and inlangible assets. Where the asset does not generale cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the assel belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can he
identified, corporate assets are atso allocaled to individual CGUs, or they are allocated lo the smallest group of CGUs for which a
reasonable and consistent aliocation basis can be identified. An intangible assel with an indefinite useful life is tesled for lrnpalrmen!
at least annually and Wheneverthere is an indication that the asset may be impalred. .

Leases
Where the Campany is a lessee, a right-of-use asset and lease Ilabmly are recognlsed al the oulset of the lease. The lease liability is
. initiatly measured at the present value of the Jease payments that are not paid at that date based on the Group's expectations of the
. lixelihood of Jease extension or Break options being exercised, The lease liability is subsequently adjusied to reffecl imputed interest,
payments made lo the lessor and any lease modifications. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cosl, which comprises the
ameunt of the lease liability, any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received, any
inilial direct costs incurred by the Group and an estimate of any cosis that are expected to be incurred at the end of lhe lease to
dismantle or restere the asset. The right-of-use asset is subsequenily deprecialed in accerdance with Ihe Group's accounting policy
on property, plant and equipment. The right-of-use asseltis also reviewed for impairment. The amount charged to the income statement
comprises the depreciation of the right-of-use asset and the Jmputed interest on the lease Jiability. Where a lease is for a term of less
than 12 manths ar the lease is of a low value, the lease cost is recarded as an expense in the income staternent when the cost is
incurred. .

Where the Company is a lessor, rental incame fram operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
Lease income is recﬂgnlsed in revenue where it is pant of the core cperatlons of the business, otherwrse it is recagnised-in other
incame.

Relirement bengefit costs .

The Group cantributes to the personal pension plans of ceitain employees on a defined ‘contribution basis. The assels of these
schemes are held in independently administered funds. The pension cost charged in the financial slatements represents the
contributions payable in the year. Differences between contributions payable in the year and contribulions actually paid are shown as
either prepayments or accruals in the statement of financial position.

Post-employment benefits
" In some areas where Mace operates, there is a legal requirement lo pay an end-of service-benefil to employees al the end of their
employment, where lhey have campleted at least one year of employment. The abligatian is accounted for as a defined benefit post-
- employment benefit with the expected Iaablllty accrued over the term of employment. Remeasurements, comprising of acluarial gains
and losses, are recognised immediately in the statement of financial position with a -corraspunding debit or credit to retained earnings
through other comprehensive income in the penod in which they occur. Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or ioss in
subsequent pediods.
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1. Accnunting policies {continued)

Equity compensation plans

Execulive directors and senior management have been granted share oplions under the Group share option scheme for equily in the
Company. They have also been granted share appreciation rights and shares on both restricted and unrestricted terms in return for
service. At the grant date, the fair value of the options or the shares is measured and recegnised over the period until the options vest

or lhe shares become unresiricted as an employment expense, with @ correspanding increase in equily for restricled and unrestricted =~

shares while for share appreciation rights the corresponding increase Is in liabilities The amount recognised as an expense is adeSlEd
to reﬂecl ihe aclual number of share options thal vest. .

The total amount to be expensed is datermlned by reference ta the fair value of the ophons ar the shares granted;

. {a) including any market performance conditions;

(b) excluding the impact of any non-market performance vesting coenditions, such as profitability levels, sales growth targe'ls and
continuing service; and -
(¢) including the impact of any non-vesting conditions, such as any savings requirements,

Non-markel pedformance vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected ta vest. The
fofal expense is recognised over the vesling peried, which is the period aver which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be
satisfied. At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises ils eslimales of the number of options that are expected L6 vest based
on meeling non-market performance vesting congiticns. il recognises the impact of the revision to ofiginal estimates, |f any, in profit
or lass, with a corresponding adjusiment ta eqully and Ilabllmes

The shares awarded and the shares subjecl to oplions have already been issued and are held by an Employee Benefit Trust {(EBT).
When the oplions are exeicised, the ultimate parent Company {eqUESIS the EBT la award the shares, The proceeds received net of
any directry attributable transactions costs are retained by the EBT

Qther long-term employee benefits
Lang term incentive plans have been introduced and aims to provide long term incentives lo those members of the MEB who are not.

-shareholders. The expecled cost should be recognised only when: 1) it has a legal or consiructive obligation ta make such paymenls

as a result of past events; and 2) a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

The benefits are expecled to be settled mose than 12 manths after reporting period, and the amount is classified as "long-lerm incentive
accrual’ under trade and other payables. .

' Taxahon

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currenily payable and deferred tax. The current tax payable is based an taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the statement of camprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in olher vears and it further excludes |tems that are hever taxable or deduchme The
Graup's liatility for current tax is calcutated usmg tax rates prevailing in the year.

Deferred lax is the tax expecled lo be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrylng amounts of assets and liabilities in
the financial statements and lhe carresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit and is. accounted for using the
statement of financial.position liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable lemporary differences;
deferred tax assels are recognised.to the extent that it is probable that laxable profits will be available againsi which deductible
temparary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the inilia)
recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition (other thar in a business combination) of other assels and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

_ Deferred tax is calculated at tha tax rates that have been enacled or subslantively enacted at the statement of financial position'dale.

The measurement of deferred tax kiabilities and assets reflects the tax conseguences that would foilaw from the manner in which the
Group expgcl's, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of.its assets and liabiliies. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are offset when there js a legaily enforceable right to set off current tax assets against curcent tax fiabilities and
when they relate to income laxes levied by the same taxalion authority and the Group intends to setlle its current tax assefs and
tiabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recagnised in profit ar loss, except when they relate to ltems that are recognised in ather comprehensive
income or direcily in equily,in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in ather comprehensive incame or directly
in equily, respectively. When current tax or deferred lax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Development work in progress :

Development work in progress is held in relation to Develop conLracls Development work in progress is initially stated al cost and
then held as the lower of this initfal amount and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct
tahour and thase overheads that have been incurred in bringing work in progress to its presemt value. Cost also includes interest
incurred on external borrowings funding the projects, where these are qualifying assets under the 1AS 23 requirements for
capilalisation of borrowing costs, Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of complellcn to
be incurred.
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1. Accounting policies {continted)
" Flnanclal instruments ’ - )

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group's statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party

to the contractual provisians of the instrument. The principal financial assels and liabilities of the Group are as follows:

a) Financial assels al amortised cost . : o '

Tiade aud utliel 1ecelvauies dre Inibaily recogmised at their transaction price and are subsequently measured at amortised cosl less any
_ allowance for expected credit losses. Interest recognised on overdue trade receivables is recognised as other income, within operating

prefit, '

The Group recagnises lifetime expected credit losses for trade receivables, contract assets and loans 10 joinl ventures. The expected
credit losses on Irade receivables are estimaled using a provision matrix based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adiusted
for factors that are specific o' the debtors,-general economic canditions and an assessmant of both the current as well as anticipated
future trading conditions al (ke reporling date.

b) Cash and cash equivalents ) - . o
Cash and .cash_equivalents comprise cash balances and cal deposits with a maturity of three months or less at inception. Bank -
' overdrafts are presented as current liabilities to the extent that there is no right of offset with cash balances,

c) Invesimenls o L. . ” : ) o
Investiments in subsidiary underiakings are staled at cosl less any provision for impairment. Any contingent consideralion is recognised
as an accrual at lhe acquisition date and is measured at the present value of he expected seltlement using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessment of the time vatue of money. The increase in the accrual due to the passage of time is recagnised as
an interest expense. Any change to the vafue of contingent consideration identified within 12 months from the acquisition date is reflected
in the original cost of the investment, if it Is a measurement adjustment in terms of IFRS 3. Subsequent changes to the value of contingent
consideration are reflected in the statement of comprehensive income.

Subsidiaries are all entilies over which the Group has control. This 'is usually where the Group has a shareholding of more than 50%
bul there can be other aspects of the arrangement that can give rise to control. Even lhough the Group holds 49% of the share capital
of Macro Qatar LLG, the invesiment is classified as a subsidiary since 3 of the 5 directors of the subsidiary are appointed by the Group
and Mace are responsible for appainting the general manager who has a wide range of duties to conlrol the operations of lhe Company. -
60% of tha subsidiary's profits are distributable 1a the Group. s - ’ : o

Where the Company or its subsidiaries has significant influence over an entity, normally being mare than 26% and less than 50%, then
that investmant is classified as an associate-and Is equily accounted for. Joint arrangements’ in tegal entities are classified as joint
venlures and are equity accounted for. An equity investment is initially recorded at cost and is subsequenlly adjusted to reflect the share
of the nel profit or loss.

Where the joint arrangement is not structured through a separate vehicle these are normally classified as joint operations. This applies
to most of the unincorporated joint arrangements in note 31 other than Dubai Expo 2020, which is structured through a separate vehicle
50 is lreated as a joint venture and amounts are recognised in relation to interest in the joird operation. The Group also assess the legal
- form and contractual arrangement between the parties to determine whether the Group has the direct rights o assets and cbligatians
of the arrangement. Joint operations accounting includes recegnising assels and liabililies based on its share of 2ny assels and liabilities
held jaintly, recognising revenue from the sale of ils share of the output of the joint operation and share of any expenses incurred jointly.

The Company assesses invesiments for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of
an investment may have suffered an impairment loss. if any such indication exists, the Company makes an estimate of the recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Valug in use represents the discounted
nel present valie of expected future cash flows. If the recoverable amount is less than the value of the investrment, the investment is
considered to be impaired and is wiillen down 1o its recoverable amount, and an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the
staternent of comprehensive income of the Company. | : . ' .

d) Cther investmants . .
This category includes an investment in Finsbury Tower that is an equity Investment carried in the stalement of financial position at fair
value with changes in falr vatue recognised.in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as part of operating profit (FVTPL).

e) Trade and other payables . o - - '
Trade and other payables are not interest bearing and are stated initially at fair value and subsequently held at amontised cost.
f) Other borrowings ' : . , :
_ Interest bearing borrowings are recorded at fair value (which is lypically equivalent to the proceeds received) net of direct issue casts
" and subsequently measured at amartised cost. Finance charges, including premiums payable on seltlement or redemption and direct
issue caosts, are accounted for at amortised cost and on an accruals basis in the statement of comprehensive income using the effective
" interes! method. Inlerest is added to the carrying value of the instcument to the extent that they are not settled in the pefied in which
they arise. . L
g) Financial liabilities and equily ) ‘ :
Financial Jiabilities and equity are classified according to the substance of the financial instrument's cantractual obligations rather than
the financial instrument's legal form. An eqguity instrument'is any coniract that evidences a residual intarest in the assels of the Group
after deducting all of its kabilities. . . : - .

The Gompany has guaranteed the liabilities of certain subsidiaries included within note 33.
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1. A_ccou'nting policies (continued]
Financiaj instruments [continued)

h) Equily instruments '
Equity instruments issued by the Company are fecorded at the proceeds received net of direct issue costs.

i} Denvative fnancial mstrumen{s

Financial assets and liabilittes are recognised on the Group s statement of ﬁnancnai position when the Group becomes party lo the
contractual provision of the instrument, The Group uses derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure o foreign exchange
risks. [n accordance with its treasury poficy, the Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. As
the Group has nol adopted hedge accounting, fair value of derivative contracts are recognised as fair value threugh proiit and loss.

Jj} Operating cyc!e .

The statemenl of financial position classifies thé Group and Company's asse!s l!ab! ities as eilher current or non-currenl. In respect of

the Group/Company's construction business; contract relaled balances are typically classified as current when management expect
" these Lo be settied within its normal operating cycle. Management have determined that the normal operating cycle forthe construction.

business_ls 41 months (2021: 37 months), being the lypica! length of a construction contract.

Foreigri currgncles

 Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded at the exchange rates in effect when they take place, Resulting foreign -~

ourrency denominated assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rates ruling at the reporting date. Exghange differences
arising from fareign currency transaciions are reflected in lhe income stalement

The assets and Kabiiities of overseas. subsidiary undeitakings are lranslaled at lhe rale of exchange ruling al the repdriing date.
Trading profits or losses are translated ataverage rates prevailing during the accounting period. Differences on ‘exchange arising from
the retranslation of net Investments in cverseas Subsldla!’y undertakings al the year-end rales are recegnised in other comprehenswe
incorne. Al other franstation dlﬂ’erences are reflected in the income staterne.nl

Goodwill and fair vaiue adjustments arising on the acqursmun ofa fo:E:lgn operation are treated as assets and habml:es of the forelgn
operatior and translated at the closing rale.

Provisions
Provisions for legal claims, defects and warranties and other onerous commllments are recognised at the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the Group's liability. Provisions are recognised when: i) the Group has a present legal or constiuctive

obligation as a result of a past event; ii) it is probable that an autflow of resources will be required ta settle the abligation; and iii) the

amaount of the 6bligation can be estimated reliably. Any insurance claims against third party resulting from legal claims, defects and
warranties follows the accounling policy far cantingent assets below.

.Onerous contract pmwsmns arise when the unavoidable cosis of meeting contractual obligations exceed the remuneration-expected
to be received. Unavoldable costs include total contract costs together with an allocation of other costs thal relate directly ta fulfilling
contracts. The provision Is calculaled as tha lower of the lermlnalmn cosis payabte for an early exit and the best estimate of net cost
to fulfil the' Group’s unavoidable contract obligations.

Contingent liabilities .

Conlingent liabilties are possible obligations arising from past events, whose existence will ohly be confirmed by fu{ure uncertain

evenls that are not wholly wilhin the Group's contral, or present cbli gatlons where it is not probable that an autflow of resources will
_ be required, or the amount of the cbligation cannot be reliably measured. I the outflow of economic resources is not considered

remate, contingent fiabilities are disclosed but not recognised in the financial statements.

Contingent assets )

Caontingent assels are possible assets that arise Erorn past events; and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or

nen-occurrence of one or more uncertain fulure events not wholly in the contral 01 the entily.

Itis probable that these amounls will be recognised in fulure periuds when the uncertainly over their recoverabili.@ has been removed.
The amounts of such claims are disclased as contingent assets but not recognised in the financial slatements. Insurance clalms are
recognised under 1AS 37 when the economic benefit arising from the claims is virtually certain,

Dividends
Equity dividends are recognised when they become legally payable Interim equity dlvn:lends are recognlsed when pald Final equity
rvxd‘end’s are recogmsed when approved by the sharehaiders al an annual generai meetlng

Use of non-GAAP measures . ’

In the reporting of financial information, the Group-uses certain measures that are not required undsr IFRS, lhe Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (GAAP") under which the Group.reports. The Group believes that operaling profit before exceptional items
provides additional usetul information on underlying trends ko the users of the financial statements. This non-GAAP measure is used
by the Group for internal performance analysis. The term ‘exceptional items’ and "operating profit before exceptional items' are not a
defined term under IFRS and imay therefare nat be Camparable with similarly titled measures regorted by ather companies. They are
nat intended lo be a substitute for, ar superior lo, GAAP measures. The separale reporing of exceptional items, which are presented
as exceplional within their relevant income slaiemanl category, helps to provide an indication of the Group's underlying business
performance. The principal items which are included as exceplional items are non-lrading tems such as profils and losses on the
disposal, closure or impairment of subsidiaries, joint ventures, associales, joint operations and investments ar other exceptianal write
offs ar impairment. The term ‘cperating profit before excephonar items’ refers to the refevani measure bemg reparted for confinuing
operations excluding exceplional items
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Z. Significant acénunting estimates and judgements and key sources of uncertainty

The preparation of financial stalements in conformity with IFRS reguires the use of certain critical accounting estimates arid
assumptions that affect the reported amaounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assels
and liabjlities. Estimates and judgements are continually made and based on historic experience and other faclors, including
expectations of fulure events thal are helieved to be reasonable in the circumstances. As the use of estimales is inherent in financial
reporting, actual results could differ from these estimates. The direclors telieve the following to be key areas of estimalion and
judgemant, . -

Sources of estimation uncertainty:

3)

b}

<)

d)

Eslimates of cost to compleie and coniract provisions

To determine the margin thal the Group is able to recognise on its construclion contracts in the reporting period, the Group has
to aliocale total costs of the conslruction contracts between the proportion compleling in the period and the proportion to complete
in a future period, The assesament of the of total cost to be incurred and the fsal contract value requires a degree of estimalion.

The estimation of final contract value includes assessments of the recovery of variations which have yet to be agreed with the
client, but which meet the criteria set out in the Group's accounting policies and are in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue from
Conlracls with Customers. The consideration recognised is the amount which is highly probable not to result in a significant
reversai in fuiure, Af the reporting dfate, unagreed variations accounied for 2.28% (2027: 0.15%) of total contrac! revenue.

The largest component of the cast 1o complate are the agreed subcontract sums; the stage of completion of which is assessed as
parl of the contract process. These amounts have a tow level of estimation uncertainly and typically make up the bulk of the' cost
to complete. However, the cost to complete may alse inciude provisienal sums and provisions for cost, both of which require
estirmation andjudgemen( in order to establish the appropriate -amounf {o recognise,

Provisional sums arise when no subcontract has been entered into at the contract date and so esﬂmates of the iikely cost arg
required for the pusposes of establishing cost to complete, untit such time that subcontracts are entered’into and the ultimate cost
can be delermined. Generally pravisional sums are putposely a minor component of the overall conkract value, due to the inherent
risk of entering info contracts without having cerainty of the ouiturn cost.

Contract provisivhs are made in accerdance with JAS 37 Provisions, Conlingent Liabilities ang Conhngenl Assels and are
measured at the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle obligations present at the reporting date. Cantract provisions
may include estimales of remediation warks that could be required where defecls are present or where insurance claims bave
baen made. The assessment of this cosl is based on best estimates made by experienced senjor management, on an individual
contract basis and with reference to relevant contract provisions and insurance excess premiums. Where the cost cannat be
reliably measured, and the likelihoed of incurring the cost only considered possible rather than prubable estimated amounts are
disclosed as conlmgent liahilities, details of which are disclosed in note 22,

Recoveries of these amounts from insurers or third parties are trealed as a deduction of cost rather than revenue and are only
recognised when recavery is deemed (o be virlually cerain. Management miligates the degree of uncertainly by ensuring
estimates of recovery are produced by suitably qualified individuals and are subject to thorough review by sentar ‘Mmanagament.
Insurance recoveries that are considered probably recoverable but not viftually certain are disclosed as contingent assets. Detaiis
of contingent assets recegnised in the year in relation to insurance matters are disclosed in note 22. .

Valuation of development work in progress and loan to joint venture
The key estimales in determining the net realisable vajue of land and wak in pmgress are estimates of
- Costs ta complete; and

. The recoverable value.

These assessments include a degree of uncerlainly, but rellance is placed on third pary valuations as the best estimate of the
market value at the balance sheet date. These valuations are compared against the carrying amount of the asset. Where the
carrying amaunt is higher than the net realisable value, write-downs of land and work in progress may be necessary. The same
estimalions extend to the carrying amount of the loan to joint venture as the repayment of loan is dependent on the valuation of
its development work in progress. The balance of work in progress assels and loan ta jaint venture are detailed in the development
waork in progress note 20 . .
-
Goodwil!
Determining whethar guodw:li is impaired requires_an estimation of the value in use of the Cash Generallng Units to which the
goodwill has been allocaled. The value requires an estimate to be made of the timing and amauat of fulure cash flows expected
to arise from the CGU and the application of a suitable discount rate in order to catculate the net present value. Cash flow forecasts
for the next five years are based an the Group's budgets and forecasts. Other key inputs in assessing each CGU are revenue
grewth, operating margin and discount rate. The significant assumptions are set out in note 14,

Fair value ol investments )
The investment in Finsbury Tower is valued al fair value using a discounted cash fow approach, the inputs of which.are determmed
using forecasts where management judgement is applied in relation to assumptions on the timing for complation and exiting the
investment, as well as the rental yields used for detemnining the value of the return on investment. The assumed £2.2m
undiscounted return on investment is based on the cxpecled rate of return and assumes reaiisation of the investment in early
2024, facloring in the potential for delays with 2 project of this scale. A one-year advance In exit date could increase the return up
to & further £1.1m. A one-year delay in the exit date assumption would reduce the return by £1.0m. Changes in the exit yleld in
completion would also impact the value of the investment. The movemenls on investments in lhe year |ncludmg fair value
adjustments, are’ presented in the investment nate 18. -
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2.

Significant accounting estimates and judgements and key sources of uncertainty {continued)

Judgements made in applying accounting policles:

e)

Q)

Excepnonaf items

Exceptional ilems are reparted separately in arder ta calouate adjusted resulls, as the Group beheves these adjusted measures

prov:de additional usefu! informatian an continuing performance and trends. Judgement is required in determining whether an
item should be classified as an exc:ephona! itern ar incleded within adiusted results. The definilion of exceptional items Is Ou”med

in note 1. \

Con!mgenr liabilities and con!mgenr assels ’

Provisions are made usirig the directors’ best judgemenls and esilmaies “of known egal claims, investigations and legal actionps
relating lo'the Group which are Gonsidered more likely than not to result in an outflow cf economic benefit. If the directors cansider
thal a claim, jnvestigation or aclion refating to the Group is unlikely {o succeed, no provision is made. If the direclors cannot make
a reliable estimate of a polential, material-obligation, no provision is‘made but details of the claim are disclosed as contingent
liabllities. At 31 December 2022, the Company and Group had no contingent abilities in relation to claims (2021: Enil).

The Gioup had contingent assets of £15.7m {2021; £15.4m) in relation to claims against third-parties for the reimbursement of
costs on construction contracts. As at 31 December 2022, there were § ongoing matters thal sre disclosed as cantingent assels
{2021: 8). Under IAS 37 these amounts may only be recognised when the economic benefit arising from the claims is virtually
certain, It is probable that these amounts will be recognised in future periods when the uncertainly aver their recoverabilily has
been removed.

Assels and lisbilities held for sale and applying the definition of a disposal group -

The held for sale assets and liabilities held at the 2021 year-end related to an investment in a subsidiary that is not a major line
of business or geographmal area of operation for the Group and was nol acquired exclusively with the view to resale. It was
therefore not classified as 3 discontinued operation.

Changes in accounting estimates:

Revision of useful lives of computer equipment

The estimated tolal useful jives of computer equipment was revised from three to four years for additions from 1 January 2022.
The net effect of the change |n the current year financial year was a decrease in depreciation expense of £104, 000

Assummg the assels are heid until the end of their estimated useful lives, deprecvauan in fulure yeais in relation to these assets
will be mcreasedl(decreased) by the follcwmg amounts: .

Year ending 31 - £'000
Dgcamber :

2023 - .. 78)
2024 . {178)
2025 230
2026 230

~ 3. Financial risk management

General ’
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its contracts with clients and suppliers and ils use of financial instruments:
aj) Interest rate risk;

b)  Credit risk; .
c) Liquidily risks; and 7
d) Fereign curtency and exchange rate risk;

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group's risk management framework. The Board
has established a Group Assurance function which is responsible for develaping and manitaring the Group's risk managemernt
strategy and policies. The Group's overali risk management pragramme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Graup's ﬁnanciei pefformance. :

The Group and Company operate within financial risk policies and procedures approved by the Board. W is, and has been
throughaut the year, the Group's policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be underaken. The Board prowdes writien
principles for overall risk managemenl, as well-as wrilten policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest
rale risk, credit risK, use,of derivative financlal instruments and non-derivative financial instruments, and invesiment of excess .
kiquidity. The Group and Company financial instruments principally comprise bank borrowings, cash and cash equivalents,
receivables and payables, and foreign exchange forward contracts that arise directly from its operations and its acguisitions.
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3,  Financial risk management (continued)

a} inlerest rate risk : . '
In 2021 the Group repaid the carporate bond and disposed of its investment in the special purpose vehicles that held the assels and
the senior debt facility of a portfalio of purpose-built sludent accommeodatien (PBSAY roomns in Cardiff and Exeter.

There was no external debt held at 31 Dasember 2021, On 28 January 2022 the Campany procured two new 3 year commitled
liquidity facilities. These farillies qra ESG linkod focilitics. The bwo ladiities aie.

+ A E10m unsecured revolving credit facility (RCF) from BBVA; and

s+ A E50m unsecured ioan facilily provided by JP Morgan and with the support from the UK Expoert Finance.

" Both facilities are guaranteed by the Company and the material subsidiaries of the Gompany. The balance of external debt al 31
December 2022 was £E30m.

The interest rate basis for both liquidily facilties is SONIA plus a margin, and therefore the interest rate is variable. There is a
commilment fee payable on undrawn but commiited ameunts of between 35% and 40% of the margin-charged.

The interest rate margin chargeable on the revolving credit facility (RCF) is between 2.15% and 2.85%. The margin willvary depending
on financial covenant targets for leverage and interest cover plus sustainability targets which cover the carbon reduction, increased
use of renewable. energy and safety performance of the Group, measured by the three KP1 measures which are embedded in the
facility documents; the variability being up 1o plus or minus 5 basis points. The facility was undrawn at yéar end.

The interes! rate ‘margin chargeable on the unsecured loan. facility is between 2.0% and 2.1%. The margin will vary depending
sustainability largets which cover the carbon reduction, increased use of renewable energy and safety performance of the Group,
.measured by the three KPI maasures which are embedded in the facility documents; the variabilily being up to plus or minus 5 basis
paints. The rate charged at 31 December 2022 was 2.0%. | - ) . .

'b) Cradit risk . . .

The Group's credil risk is primarily attributable to its rade receivables and other currenl assets with the exception of cash and cash
equivalents, which are predominanlly held with JP Morgan, in respect of which, the credit risk arising is considered low. The maximum
_expasure o.credit risk at the reporting date is the book value of each class of receivable listed in note 19.

The directors do not consider the Group to have any significant cancentration of iisk-in respect of Irade receivables, contract assets
or conlract receivables at the balance sheet date. The diversified operating model of the Group is intended to safeguard the business
from risk and consequently receivables are spread across a wide range of clients, geographies and sectors.

The amount of trade receivabies presented in the consolidated balance sheet is net of expected credit loss. The Group applies the
' . IFRS 9 simplified approachto measuring expecled credit losses which uses a |ifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables,
contract assels and contract recejvables! ' ’

" As at 31 December 2021, the directors estimated an allowance for expécted credit losses based on past default experience and their

. assessment of the current and future economic enviranment. The Group pravided for spacific trade receivables if they became aware
of factors which may have indicated credil risk. Management also reviewed the aged trade receivables analysis at the' end of each
reporting period and assessed the balances for impairment using the following provision matrix, adjusted for exceptions and
anticipated future events: ’ '

Age of debt UK trade receivables provision Overseas trade receivables provision
0-60 days overdue 0% - 0% .
60-90 days overdue - 10% . 0%

90-120 days gverdue . 25% . 10%

120-180 days overdue - 50% : 25%

181-270 days overdue 75% 50% °

271-385 days overdue ' . 100% - 75%

Over 365 days overdue 100% . 100%

As at 31 December 2022, the prcvisién malrix for measuring expecled credit loss has been adjusted. To measure expecled credit
losses, trade receivables, conlracl assets and contract receivables have been grouped based on shared or similar credit risk
characteristics and the days past due, that the Group has determined this to be relevant based on geegraphical location and customer
profile. ) A

. The contract assets relate to unbifled work in progréss and have subsiantially the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables.
Therefore the Group has concluded thal the expected loss rates for "not yet due” category is a reasonable approximalion of the loss
rates for the contract assets. The grovision rate across the Group.ranges from 0% to 7.5%. .- '

The expected loss rates are based on 12-month rolling assessmeni, on the pay’ment profiles of credit sales over a perigd of 24 maonths |
before 31 December 2022 and the corresponding historical credit iosses experienced within this period. The historical loss rates are
adjusted to reflect current and forward-tooking infarmation on macroeconomic factors aifecting the ability of the customers to setile
- the receivables. The Group has identified customer type, the seclor and geographical location of the custamer is in, and the economic
outloak to be the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based on expecled changes in credit risk from
* these factors. The adjusted provision matrix for measuring expected credit loss does nol resull in materiai effect in the current period.

A Accordingly, pravisions for expecied credit losses booked amounted to E4.0m {2021: E4.3m) in tespect of lotal overdue trade
receivables of £48.6m (2021: £46,8m). The-ageing of the debt is included in note 19. .
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3. Financial risk management (continued)

Due to'the nature of the Group's operations, some cantracts entilie clients tc hold retentions in respect of préiects in progress or
completed projects. Reteptions held by clienis at 31 December 2022 were £137.0m (2021: £104.8m). The Group manages ths
collection of retentions throughaout the duration of a project and during its posl completion project monitoring procedures lo ensure
thai potential issues that could lead to the non-payment of retentions are identified and addressed promptly. At the reporling date .
£40.0m of retentions heid by clienls were due in more than one year undef the terms of the respeclive contracts. Unlike trade
receivables, the ageing of these balances is not an indicatorof impairment and hence recoverability has been assessed based on the
individual characleristics of the coniract counterparty and the nature of ihe prolecl as well as the currenl and future anticipated trading
conditions. Accordingly, the direclors believe that no signilicant credit provision is required on these balances.

The disectors always estimate the loss allowance on trade receuvables COntract assets and coplract receivables at an amount equal
to lifetime expected credit lasses.

Credif risk alse arises for the Company by virtue of the receivables due from relaled parties, being other Group companies. The
assessment of credil risk in regard to these receivables is performed on a regular hasis, specifically with reference to the future viability .
of the entily’s ability {a repay ths amounis owed. In the event that the enfity is uniikely to generate sufficient cash to repay the amount
owed, the Company will impair or write off the amount in the reporing period. Credit risk in regard to related parties is managed
carefully as part of the Group's wider capital risk managenant policy.

Of the amounts owed by related parties, the receivable awed by the Bolley joint venturé altracts the highest concentration of credit
risk, due lo the size and naiuie cof the investment. At the balance sheet date, the Group was owed £82.9m (2021: £85.8m) by the
Bo!ley geoup of companies, which represented shareholder loans and accrued and interest. Following a RICS “red book™ vatuation,
the drrec!ors have prowded £38.5m (2021: £25.5m) against lhe !oans and interest.

At the reporting date, there were no trade and okher receivables which have had renegotlaled terms that would atherwise have been
. past.due.

c) Liquidity nsk

‘The Group seaks to manage liquidity risk to ensure sufficient liguidity is available to meel the requnemenls of the business and to
invest cash assets safely and profitably. The Board reviews regu1ar y available cash to ensure {here are sufficiant resources for working
capital requirements. The following table summarises the maturities of the Group's undiscounted financial hablhives at the eporting
date, based on conlraciual payment dates.

31 December 2022

£000s .
Less 1105 - More Total
than 1 years . than 5. y .
. year years
Trade and ather payatles - 517,104 527 - © 517,631
Comtrach liabilities; purchase retentions 34,940 45,645 . 16 80,601
Bank overdrafls 42487 . o - 42,481
Employee benefit trust loan - . 2,800 B - .-2,800
Lease habilities 5897 19,478 1,840 - 27,285
Derivative financial assets: - S :
Derivative conlracls — paymentis . 1,636 - - 1,636
Oervative contracls — receipts {(1,629) - - - {1,629)
Total 603,229 (EE:EO' : . 1,626 670,805
31 December 2021
. £000s :
, Less than 1t 5 More .. Total
- 1 year years ‘than § -
.- N : years . -

Trade and other payables 525,488 . - - 525,488 .
Conlracl liabilities: purchase B 43,754 38,757 - " 82,511
retentions . i -
Bank overdrafis ’ 40,032 - . - © 40,032
Employee benefit trust loan - 2800 - 2,800
Bank botrowings B - . - Co-
Lease liabifities . 5,180 21,051 1,446 . 27677
Derivative financial assels: - i
Derivative contracis — paymienis 25,803 . 1.636 < 27,439
Oerivative coniracts — receipls {24,363) {1,565} ) - (25,828)

Total . ) 615 894 62,679 : 1,446 680,019
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o) Foreign currency and exchange rate risks

Due to the Group's geographical spread it is exposed to changes in national economic conditions, exchange rate flucluations and
local frading resfrictions. However, the Group emplay focal people and suppliers and has estabiished tocal operaling companies in
each of its global hubs 50 that exposure 10 exchange rale changes is limited apd knowletpe of the Inral bisiness prvitnnmant ig
strenglhened

The Group has cerain invesiments in foreign aperations, whose nel assels are exposed {o-foreign currency translauon rlsk A ten per
cent slrengthening of sterling against lhe following curiencies at 31 December 2022 would have decreased equity and profit or loss
by the following amaounts:

2022 ) o 2021

£000s ) . £000s
Profit or foss Eguity . Profitor : Equity
. ’ loss |

Qatari Rial - 541 - {708) 52 1,172
United Arab Emirates Ditham . (508) (1,462} (210) (982)
Peruvian Nuevo So! (56) . . (343) : (558) {722)
Euro ‘ (1,248) . {1,416) o 748y (694)
Saudi Riyal- - {230) (388) Co{2gy - i
United. States Dollar ©(721) {1,087) {353) . {593)
leelandic Krona N {184) (417) {156) . {264)

. A ten percen! wezkening of sterling against these currencies would have an oppasite effect. A common analysis basis has been

applied for both 2022 and 2021. This analysis assumes that all other variables, particularly interesi rales, remain unchanged. The
sensitivily is regarded a5 being represen!ative of the position throughout the year.

At 31 December 2022, the Group held EUR 78.8m, AED 34.9m, USD 8.7m, CHF 4.7m and QAR 15.0m and some smaller foreign
currency balances in cash at bank, A ten percent strengthening of sterling against these cusrencies at 31 December 2022 would have
resulled in losses of £7.0m, £0.8m, £0.7m, £0.4m, £0.3m respeciively. .

Caplta| management

The Group's policy is to maintsin and develop a strang and flexible capifal base in order to maintain investor and creditor confidence,
Similar policies apply to individual business divisions so as ta minimise dermands for routine trading activilies on finance obtained at
Group level. The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents, equity and debt. At 31 December 2022 the
Group had £30m external debt excluding overdraﬂs and lease Ilablhues (2021: niY) with a further £30m of facilities undratvn,

The Group-is funded by ordinary shares, retained profits, and exlernal borrowmg, In 2022 the Group entered inta twa new banking
facifities. During the prior year the corporate bond was repaid and Lhe debt facility for the development project for the purpose-built
student accommadation in Cardiff and Exeter transferred out of the Group with the sale of lhe entily that held the loan, as parn of the
disposal of the development. There was no external debt held at the end of the prior year. The Group and Company's objectives when
managing ‘capital are ta safeguard the Group's ab]hty lo continue as a going cancern, in.arder to provide returns for shareholders and
benefils for other stakeholders, and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. The capital requirements of
the Group's divisions differ, wnh property development typically requiring equity and debl, cansultancy and facilities management
‘ypically requiring working capital, and construction lypically being cash generative. The economic cycle of each business is different.
The Group manages its capital taking these diffaring requirémenits into account. The new liquidity facililies are subject to covenanls
aver interest cover and-gearing, both of which were comfortably met at the signing date.

Fair values ’

_ The investment in Finsbury Tower {nole 18: other mveslments) represents an investment in 8.1% of the ordlnary shares which have

no voling righis. As there is no control or signiticant influence in thls investment il is classn'ed as an eguity 1nvestment under IFRS 8
and held at fair value. ”

‘ The valuation as al 31 December 2022 is baseo on a level 3 hierarchy, given there is no observable input for the asset In 2622 The -

valualion was based on a discounled cash flow approach;, referencing an eslimated yield from the investment la the Group which is
expected to be what a similar market parlicipant would achieve from the investmenl.

The investment has been reviewed and revalued at lhe year-end. Based on Ialest forecasts there has been a redljction of £1.7min
the carrying value at 31 December 2022, There is no difference between lhe baok value and fair value of ather financial assels and
liabilities due 10 the short-lerm nature of these instruments.

Contingent censideration was reccgmsed in 2021 and 2022 in relatmn to the acqmsrhon of the Tenman subsidiaries. Mare detail an
fhe acquisition can be found In note 16.

The valuation at acquisilion and as at 31 December 2022 are based an a level 3 hierarchy, given there is no observable input for the -
liability. The contingent consideration is based on meeling revenue and EBITDA targets ‘s the vatuation was based on 3 dlSCOur‘Iled
cash flow approach referencing the expected parformance for years 2021-2028,
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. 3. Financial risk managemen‘t (continued)
[nterest is charged .éxn the financial liability. The closing balance is disclesed in the financial Kabilities note 23.

The expected contingent consideralion was reviewed and revalued at the year-end based on latest forecasts and a reduction in the
financial liability of £1.0m (2021: £0.2m) was recognised lhrough fair value through profit and loss. lncreased credit on deferred tax
assels due to the increased UK lax rate applicable i in the year

Financial assls!(habllmes] derivative financial as-setsl(habllltles)

The fair value of forex options, farward contracls and interest rate caps are given below. These denvallves are measured at fair value
and the value is calculaled as the present value of estimated cash flows based on observable yield curves corresponding to level 2
as defined in 1FRS 13.

. 2072 : 2021

) £00Cs - _£000s
Forex forward contracts: Group & Company - . ' {7) ) . (1,511)

Aé the Group has not adopted hedge d@ccounting, fair vaiue of derivative contracls is recognised as fair value lhiough profit and loss,
A fair value gain of £1.5m (2021; £2.3m loss) was recagnised in ihe year in relation to derivatives.

Categorisation of financial instruments and fair value of other financial assets and liabilities

2022 - 2021
. £000s : . £000s
Financlal assels ] . ‘ ]
Financial assels at tair value . - ' . 11,314 - . 12,998
Financial assets at amortised cost . 662,083 . © 875,527
Cash and cash equivalents 159,974 | 164,888
Financiat liahilities . : -
Current horrowings measured at amorlised cost ' - 45,281 42,832
Gurrent financiat liabilities measured at amortised cost . 591,984 807,999

Prepayments and acerued income are exciuded financial assets at amortised cost, Statutery liabilities, deferred income and payments
on account are excluded from financial liabilities measured al amortised cost. There is no difference betweeh the book value and fair
value of alher financial assels and liabilities, *

Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are excluded from the analysis above.
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4. Divisional analysis

Rovenue

An analysis 6f the Group's revenue is as follows:

Lontinuing operatfons:
‘UK & Europe

Middle East North Africa
Asia

Sub-Saharan Africa
America -
Inlercompany trading
“Total revenue

General

2022 021"

. £000s £000s
1,820,623 1,885,861
108,284 95,654

30,399 46,539

6,912 9,169

62,322 41,539

(92,052) (115,745)
1,833.017

1,836,488

For managemenl purposes the Group is organised into four opesational divisions and Group Services, which includes corporate
overheads and supporl as shown in the table below. These divisions are the basis on which the Group reports informalion to the
Board. Limiled secondary information is presented for the operating divisions of consuitancy and other services. ’

The Baard assesses the performance of the divisions based on man’agrernen\ accounts which reflect the allocation of ¢cross charges,
interest, depreciation and amorisation, The adjustments exclude the effects, if any, of non-recurring expenditure from the operating
‘divisions such as restrucluring costs, legal expenses and goodwill impaliments resulling frorn any Isolated, ron-recuiring event.

2022

Group revenue
Costs recharged to clients -

Total Group revenug
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Adminisiralive expenses -

Other income .

-Fair value changes on financial liabilities measured at FVTPL
Operating- prolit befare exceptional items
Exceplional ilems
Qperating profit

. Share of operating éroﬁi ot Jvs
Profit an disposal of a subsidiary
Profit on ardinary activities befera Interest
Ne! finance incomef{cosls) . 7

‘Profit before la:.z frem continuing operations

-

. ' Group "

Develop Consult Construct OPerale _Services Tota!
_ £000s £000s E0D0s £000s £000s £000s
10,732 499,789 1,381,975 90,117 87 1,982,-700
. - - _{46,212) - (46,212)
10,732 499,789 1,381,975 43,905 87 1.936,488
(7,827) {399,528y (1,273,167} {37 630) {(419)__ {1,718,569)
2,305 100,263 108,808 6,275 (332) 217,819
(2.839) (68,766} {43,392) (7.250) (44,177) " (166,424)
(134) a7 Y 334 T4 1.045

- 1,034 1,506 - (1,689)__ B5S

(68) 32,568 68,355 (841) (45,419) 51,398
{13,008) - - - - (13,009)
(13,077) 32,569 66,955 (841} - {45,419) 40,387
2) 2,626 - - 1 2,625

- . - 849 i - 849
(13.078) - 35,194 66,556 8 (45,418) 43,661
5,072 | (3,188) 61 (80) __ 3445 ' 7.332
{8,007) " 34,028 67,017 (72) {41,973) 50,993
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'." . Divisional analysis {continued)
. ) ' Group -
} ) Develop Consult Gonstruct Operate Services Total
2021 ’ - £000s £000s £000s £000s __E00gs £000s
Group revenue | ' . T 7 .35,332 366,351 1,469,355 110,162 246 1,982,446

’ Costs recharged to clients - - - L . (49,929} - {49,428}
Total Group revenue o 36,332 366,351 4,469355 60733 248 1,933,017
Cost of sales ‘ 7 ' (34,820) (288,808)  (1,356,274)  {51.416) 12,016)  (1,733,335)
Gross profit - 1512 77,542 113.@81 9,317 {1,770) 199,682
Administrative expenses' : (3,601} ) ’ {44,872} ' (55,825} (7.549) . (34.834) . {146.681)

. Other income o : ‘ - 230 oo E 609 3,892
Fair vélue_changes an finandial liabilities measured al FVTPL  * - i - {2,052) ) - - (2.0__5_2]_
Cperating profit hefurg exceptlonal itams . {2,085} 3&.971 a ‘55,11‘35 : 1,789 (35,995} 54,341.
Exceptional ilems - ' . {9,983) . - - - ' {2,544) {12,527)
Operating profit : 12,072) 34,874 56,185 1,769 (38,539} 42,314
Share of operating grofit o_SJVZs o i ) @ 3,002 - ‘. - 2,999
Prafil on disposal of subsidiades L 5,968 - - 102 - 6,070
Profit on o‘;dsr;ary activities before interest : (5,107) 37,873 56,185 1,874 (js,s:_s) 51,383 °
Net finance incoref{casts) - 343 (560} _(80) @y 2797 2433
Profit before tax : ’ {5,764) 37,413 56,05 1,804 (35,742) 53 615
A further analysis of the Group’s Gonstruct revenue is as fallaws: |

. . 2022 . 2021
Continulng cperations: i £000s ' £000s
Fixed Price & Cuslﬁeimbt{rsem,ent . - } . 1,323,975 1,389,327
Construclion Management- ! B i 58,000 . : 80,028
Total revenue N . . : ‘1 381,975 : 1,469,355

Inter-divisiona! salesare carried out at open market rates. Income from three major clients in relation to construction projects amounted to 22% (2021, -
23%) of total Group revenue during 2022, . .-

- Key balance sheet iftems by division:

. 2022 balance shest

.. Group -
. Develop Consult  Construct Cperate Services Total
. £000s £000s _ £000s £000s £000s £CO0S
Gaodwilt - | ’ . 5 20,170 3,343 4,404 - . s
Developmént WIF & loan Lo Joint venture. o 51,924 . : - .- 5182
Contract assels. ' ) ) o 7,296 . 125,167 4,515 - 136,974
Coniract réceivables - - ss283 21,726 7,33 o 87,320 .

Contract !ia.biliiies . . . {510y {38,176) (150,648) {3.532) {231) {195,095)
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4. Divisional analj.-s_is {cantinued)

2021 balance sheet

N . : . Group
: Develop Consult  Construct Operate | Services Total
£000s ~ £000s .EUUOS ‘ £000s £000s £OOUS
Goodwil : - 7 18,996 3,343 3.940 - 26,286
Development WIF & loan to joint venture B ' 72,8495 . - . - - - ) - 72,895
Contract assels - ‘ - . 104,817 - - - - 104,817 .
Coniract receivables - ;15,97?; 59,377 _ 1l1,141- - 105 ° 146,600
Contract fiabililes . . ' ,(1245) (29,0?2) (159;242) (6.183) (90) (195,827}
Assels of a dlsp0531 group classified as held far sale . A o= - 932 - 912

Liabilities of a dispoesal group classified as held for sale - . - - -« . (778) - (776)

.5 Revenue

Atthe end of the period there was revenue still to be recogmsed on construction projects where pen’ormance obl:gallons were unsalisfied
due ta the nature of the long-lerm contracls, where revenue is recognised over time.

The time bands below present the likely consideration value of secured contracts but may be subject to future modlflcatlons thal m'lpact
the amount andfor timing of revenue recoghition.

Aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to construction contracts that are pariially ar fully unsatisfied at lhe'year-end:

2022 2021

. £000s . £000s

Due in less than ane year . - . 1,869,732 : 1,091,650

Due in one lo five years. ) C 1,218,022 ° . 769,897

Total revenue . : ’ . ‘ . 3,187,754 - 1,861,647

6. Opératlng profit and_EBITDA l

. : 2022 . 2021

The operating profit Is stated after charging: ) e _£Ouus. : . £000s

Deprecialinn nf owned assets © : ' 2,004 - 3,166

Depreciation of right of use assets ’ . 3,961 - : 3,230

Amortisation S . 3,160 T 2,408

Profit on disposat of fixed assets _ ’ 5 ’ : -
Share-based payments - ‘ ’ ) B Co1st

Employee beneft costs o : - 589,553, - ' 515,107

.. . n B '
" Short term lease rentals: . S .
_Land and buitdings oo ﬁ L T 3476 ‘ 521 -
Motar vehicles s - < © 146 .-
 EBITDA ] :

© Profit before interest* . , A © 43461 . 51,383

. Depreciation of property, plant.and eguipment ' : ' . 6,955 . 6,396

Amortisation of intangible assets . ) ' . 3,160 2,109

: ' | 53776 . " 60,188

“The Group uses proﬂ before mkeresi and lax as the basis for calculating EBITDA Including profiloss fram joint ventures and associates is
consxdered apprapriate given the Graup has a number of joint venlures as part of ifs operations.
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6. . Operating profit and EBITDA (¢onlinued})

In the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 lhe analysis of aperating profit included dlsc!oswe of tesearch and
developmem cosls. Research and development cosls are now disclosed on page 4 in the Strategic repon. .

During the year the Group (including its overseas submdmrles) obtained lhe followang services from the Company s auditors and |ls
assomal&s

Re-presenled®

2022 ] ) 2021
£000s . £000s
Fees payable l(-f! the Compa:ny"s auditor far the audit of the parent Company 7 . -
and consalidated accounts - : 1,022 . 710
UK - _ ‘ . ' ' ' 158 o 110
Overseas o - . ' 187 130
Additional audit fees for prior period - 7 ' R 392- 288
’ ' : 1,759 - 1,238
‘Figures have been re-presented lo include additional audil fees in relation to prior periods.
7. Other income :
. 2022 ©o20
£000s £000s -
Government grants o ) . ’ 644 ‘ 2123
Property incor;ne' " ‘ ) o o 196 : 229
_ Management fees B - } 199" -
Insurance income ) o - 246
Interest from overdue receivables . ) ‘ ’ - ) 703
Other income , ' 3 591
g ' ’ ' 1,045 ] 3,892

There weare some further amounts received for gavernment geants in 2021 but the majority of Group govemment grants for 2021 relates to
fargiveness of a US Government loan. A USD 2.7m US Government loan was received in 2020 ta support business needs during the
pandemic The US government loan was recorded in short term foans and borrowings as at 31 December 2020. An applicalion was submitted
in 2021 1o grant forgiveness of the loan and this was approved on 14 June 2021. This was recognised in other income in 2021 to cover payroll
expenses that were incurred over the period of 24 weeks from the grant date, as required in the conditions of the loan.

There are ne unfulfilled conditions and contingencies in relation to the gDvernmenlgranls and they were recognlsed in other income to match
- the cost of salaries for employees.
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8.

9.

Finance income and cosls
)

Bank and other interest receivable’
Loan inlereéi receivable
lntérest receivable from pareni company
" Interest receivable from ultimate parent company
Interest receivable fram joint ventura

Total finance income.

Bank and ather interest payable
Interest charge on financtal liabilities

“tnlerest on posi—employment benefil abligation
interasl éipense fp.r lease arrangements

Total finance costs

Interest is charged on intercempany loans at markel rates, at the time the loan is taken out. -

Directors’ remuneration

Remuneration Iar services (mcludlng benehls)
Share-based payment
Performance related remuneration

- Pension contributions

Pension contibutions were made in respect of 3 directors (2021: 4).

The tatat amaunt of directars’ remuneralion in respect of thelr qualifying services are as belaw:

2022 2021
£o0os £000s
127 118
375 -
1,483 1,006
3,336 4,145
5,072 4,983
" 10,393 10,342
(1,157 (5.851)
(746) (278)
(259) (167)
(899) (1,615)
(3,061) (7,909)
2022 2021
£00as £000s
7,004 5,245
566 1,603
2,248 1,008
12 19
9,829 7,065

The directars' remuneration disclosed above.includes amaunt paid through Mace Finance Limited, the ultimate parent company.

Directors’ remuneration includes the following amounis.in respect of the highest paid director:

'Remuneration for services (lnciudlng beneﬂs]
Share-based paymehnts

2021

The MEB members are cansidered to be the key management personnel. The total amaunt of key management personnel

compensation are as follows:

Short-lerm employee benefits
Post-employment bengfiis
Performance related remuneration

Share-based payments

2022
E000s £000s
2,176 886
- 1,502
2,176 2,388
2022 2021 .
£000s £000s
8,529 8.711
52 53
2,968 1173
© 566 1,603
12,916 - 9,540
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022 -

1Q. Staff costs and' numbers i
. 2022 2021
Staff costs were as follows: . . Lo ) £000s £000s
Aggregate gross wages and salaries . : ’ - 511,281 448,872
Emplayer's sacial security costs R : ) - 44,948 ) 36,646
Olher pensicn costs ' . 34,681 - 29,824
) 530,910 515342 .
Average monthly number of personé emplayed by'the Group during the year:
2022 . 2021
Corporale support services . . : 290 301
‘Project delivery staff ' ’ 5,156 5,315
o ' 6,446 5516
The total number of direct employees as al the reporting date was: _— 6,700 6,044
et Exceptional items
2022 2021
£000s £000s
Pravision on oan to Joint venture - : . L {13,009} ) (9,983)
Software expenses Coe ) : ) - - (2,544)
-~ {13,009) (12,527)

There is no cashflow impact of the exceptional items in 2022, A provision against the loan receivable reduces the expecled future

cash inflow.
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Notes to-the financiél statements {continued)
Year ended 31 Decemher 2022

12.  Taxon profit orordinary activities

. ) 2022 2021

(a} Analysis of Group charge in year . £000s FO00s
Currenttax . . L o
UK corparatian tax al 19. 0% (2024: 19.00%) ) ) . - ) -
Laloup telk) payment - ’ o 1,053 . 2,353
Adjustments in respect of prévidus periods ' ) ~{275) ' (1,022)

: B o A o ' : 778 1331
Foreign tax o ’ L o 13,017 : T 8225
Adjustments In respect of previous periods o ' ‘ 2,954 &7z
Total current tax expense . , ' : : 16,748 © 1o2es
Deferred tax .
Originaticn and reversal of temporary differences ‘ . . T {460) 1,727
Impact of deferred tax rale movements an opening asselliability . . {7y T (1,578)
Adjustments in respect of previous periods - : (231) e 6B4
Total deferred tax (credil)fexpense ‘ ’ : ' - o 763 813
Fotal tax (note 12(b)) ' L o ' 15986 . - 11,041

(b) Factors affectmg Group tax charge for year
-The tax assessed for the perlod is higher than the slandard rate of corparation tax in the UK (19. OU%) The differences are explained

below:
Re-presented
2022 2021
£000s £0Q0s
Profiton erdinary aclivities before lax - _ 50,993 53,816
Profit o’ ordinary activities multiplied by slandard rate of corporation tax in the UK . )
af 19.00% (2021 19.00%) ) . 9,689 . 10,225
Effeets of ' ' '
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 7,622 : 9,356
Income not'iaxXable for tax purposes " {6,024)" - (9.805)
Graoup relief claimed ’ . - {1143) : (115)
Non-taxable foreign branch income : (58) : )
Withholding tax deduction . 5,289 : -
Different rates of tax on overseas earnings ’ ) ’ {1.016) 1,383
Research and development expenditure charge i - - 32
Movement in temparary differences not recognised in deferred tax . : (625) 927
Increase in tax losses not recegnised in deferred tax : ) . = 20
tmpact of deferred tax rate movements © (198} (1,494)
Adjustments to tax charge o respect of previous years — UK taxation T(2rs)y” (358)
Adjustments Lo lax charge in respect of previous periods — verseas laxation_ . . 2,954 672
Adjustmenis to tax chaige in respect of previous periods [231) s -
Current tax charge for the year (note 12{a)) C 15,986 ’ 11,041

Re-presentalion of 2021

" The Group changed the- presenlatlon of expenses not deductiple and income not taxablé for tax purposes from a net to a gross basis in
2022, Far comparability purposes, the net reconcmng entry for 2021 has been re- presented on a gross basis. .

Changes In tax rates

n the U|-< Budget on 3 March 2021, the Chance!ior annaunced the intention fo increase the UK corporale tax rale from the current rate of
19% 10 25%, effeclive fram 1 April 2023. As this change had been substantively enactéd al the balance sheet date, the impact-of this change
has been reflected in rhe deferred tax assets and liabilities of the UX Group where the timing differences are expected lo reverse after 1
April 2023,



Mace Limited - . . ‘ o ‘ : ’

Notes to the financial stﬁkements {continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

12.  Tax on profit on-ordinary activities (cantinued)
Effective tax rate

. The Group is present in @ rumber of jurisdictions and its effective tax rate is subject to various factors aulside of the Group's contiol,
The effective lax rale of the financial year 2022 was 31.3% as a resutt of £1.7m of backdated withholding taxes paid during the periad
in Saudi Arabia, and a prior period adjustment of Peruvian taxes withheld at source and offset against corporation tax of £2.8m.
Without these two effects, the effective tax rate would have been 22.3%. The effective lax rate of 20.5% far the financial year 2021
benefited from an |ncreased credit on defarred {ax assels due to the increased UK tax rate applicable in lhe year. - M

Future dﬁveiopmenls

Following an-agreement reached by the Finance Ministers from the G7 in Juiy 2021 backmg the creallon of a global minimum
corpgrate tax rate of at least 15%, aver 130 countries and jurisdictions have agreed to the OECDIG20 Inclusive Framewark on BEPS,
also refesred 1o as BEPS 2.0. The new framework aims to ensuré 1hat large multinational enlerprises pay a fair share of tax wherever
they operate and o set a globat minimum tax rate. Earliest possible implementalion is in 2024 and implementalion in key countries
has commenced. Whilst some defails are still unknawn, the United Kingdom announced the adjusiment of their local tax legislation
by 1 January 2024. Based on the current understanding of the anticipated changes 1a the global tax landscape, he Group.expects
no material 1mpact upon its future effective tax rate once adjustments are made to-relevant locaf fax legis[ahon The Group's future
effective tax rale is expected lo'be in a range of 25% to 30%. As mentioned above, this effective lax rate is also dependent an the
various factors including foreign exchange rate movements, and any one-cff events. .

Deferred taxes - Group .
Fixed asset Short-term

o temporary temporary Losses carried .
Deferred tax assets differences " differences forward Total
E00Ds £000s o ‘£000s . £000s
At 1 danuary 2021 - 4422 4,898 . 1,456 ’ 7,777
(Charged)/credited to: : : . o : _ ‘ :
- Protit and loss {109y . (2,000) . ... 1380 : {745)
- Equity B - ) -~ (69) . (55) (124)
At 31 December 2021 | : 1,317 ' 2,830 . 2,761 6,908
{Charged)/credited to:. . :
- Profit and loss (880) s 13 . 1,830 963
- Foreign exchange through . .
equily - - a3z 3z
- Actuarial gains thmugh QcCl . - - i . -
At 31 December 2022 437 ) _ 2,843 4,623 - . 1,903

e
Deferred tax reported in equity relate to lormgn exchange movements on deferred tax held in subsidiaries whose functional currency is not
the Group presentational currency {GBP). This movement-is |ncluded in the retranslation gain/loss reported in the consolldaled statement of
changes in equity.

Fixed asset Short-term .

. i ' ) temporary temporary Losses carried
Deferred tax liabilities . - differences differences ~ forward ' Total
' e £000s - £000s £000s £000s
At 1 January 2021 - © 489 - - -, 1s9 -
Charged/ (cradited} to: i ) . ’ : . . .
- Profit and toss - 68 ‘ - &8
- Acquisilion of subsidiary . . ’
companies i . 1,000 - : - ) 1,000
At 31 December 2023 1,000 227 i ) - . 1,227
_Charged/ {credited) to: i . -
- Profit and lass ' : 110 © - 66 . 24 200 -
- Foreign exchange threugh CL : . '
equity - 5 . - : . 5
- Acluarial gains through equity .~ - : 73 . - T 79
AL 31 December 2022 ‘ . 1110 317 24 151
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
Year ended 31 Décember 2022 ’

12.  Tax on profit on ordinary activities {continued)

Deferred taxes - Company

Short-term

Fixed asset - .
L temporary ", temporary Losses carried’
Deferred tax-assels differences “differences forward Total
e EO00S__ - £000s £000s £000s
At 1 January 2021 . 1,333 1,182, - 2,515
" {Chargegycredited to proft and loss (104) 305 - 201
At 31 Degember 2021 : 1,229 1,487 - 2,716
(Charged)/credited to profit and loss (855) {708) - {1,573
At 31 December 2022 : - 364 773 - 1,143
Tax losses carried f&rward
Tax losses for which no deferred tax assef was recognised:
2022 2024
" - Gross amount Tax effected Gross amount Tax effected
. £000s - £000s £000s £000s
Tax losses expiring: .
Within 10 years i - 1,166 227 ‘2,630 599
Mare than 10 years = ; . - - 345 86
Availzble indefinitely L 24,104 " 6,032 2,562 509
25,267 5,259 5,537 1,194
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Year ended 31 December 2022

13.  Properly, plant and equipment

Group

Cost

At 1 Jannary 2021

Exchange differences

Acquisition of sﬁbsidigry companies

Additiairs
Reciassification as asset held for
sale

Reclassification
Disposals
. At 31 December 2021
Exé:han.ge differences
" Additians
Disposal
At 31 December 2022

Depreclation and impairment
At 1 January 2021

' Exchaﬁgg differences
Charge for the year
Acguisition of subsidiary companies
Reclassification as asset held for
Reclassification
‘Disposals
At 31 December 2021
Exchange differences
Charge for the year
Disposals

. At 31 December 2022

Net book value

At 31 December 2022
At 31 December 2021

Propérty

Plant, motor

" Computer
Freehold . right of use Leasehotd equipment & vehicles &

property assets improvements IT systems’ equipment Total
£000s £000s £000s £000s " £000s “£000s”
1,254 32,872 11,789 12,891 1,622 60,228

12 {46) @ an {18) (74)

- T - 53 43" 86

. 3,098 718 2,182 65 6,063

- - {2) {28) (35) (63)

- - 110 - (110) -

- {3,625) (305) (4,852) - @n . (8,809)
1,266 32,299 "12,303 10,029 1,542 57,439

150 343 57 s 97 832

; 7,440 482 3,162 12 11,096
(352) (1,220) 92) (112) (12) . (1,788) .

1,064 38,862 12,750 13,324 1,639 67,619

424 19,758 5,424 9,374 4,242 36,219

4 (35} (5) (6) {14) (58)

48 - 3,230 789 2,212 117 6,396

. . - 20 22 T a2

- - ) (27) (34) (64}

R - 107 - {107) -

- {2,876) (303) (4,849) - (26) (8,054)

476 20,077 6,006 6,724 1,200 34,483
56 172 56 168 80 532

- 3,961 681 2,223 50 6,955

- (1,220) (92) (5) @) {1,324)
532 22,999 6,651 9,140 1,363 40,846

532 15,872 6,048 4,214 276 26,983

790 6,295 3,306 342

‘

12,222

The Group had capital commitments of £0.5m at 31 December 2022 (2021: £0.9m}
4 . "

22,956
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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13.  Property, plant and equipment (Contintued)

Company

Cost

At1 January 2021
Additions

Disposals

At 31 December 2021
Additions

Dispbsm

At 31 December 2022

Depreciation dénd impairment

At 1 January 2021
Charge for the year
Disposals

At 31 December 2021
Charge for the year
Disposals

At 31 December 2022

' Net bogk value

At 31 December 2022
At 31 De_cember 2021

Com pu.ter‘ ’

Pruperty ) Plant, motar
right of use * . Leasehold. - equipment & vehicles &

assetls improvements AT systems equipment Total
£000s £000s £000s " £000s £000s
27,840 10,222 8,098 164 46,324
1,841 706 1,842 - 4,389

" (1,526) T (305) (4,829} {4} (5,664)
" 28,155 - 10,623 5,111 160 44,049
5,455 391 2,366 - 9,212.
(714) - - : 714)
*33,896 11,014 7477 160 52,647
16,569 4,229 '5,287 121 26,206
2,363 546 1,904 14 4,827
{1,043) (305) (4,829) (3) -(6,180)
'47,889 4,470 2,362 132 24,853
3,210 639 1,790 12 5,651
(714) - - . {714)
20,385 5,109 4,152 144 20,790
13,511 5,505 3,325 16 22,757
10,266 6.153 2,749 28" 19,196
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

14.  intangible assets

Computer Assets . Goodwill Customer Brand Total
Group " Software unfier T relationships '
construction .
: © EQ00s . £000s ‘g000s £000s £000s £000s
Cast N - .
A1 January 2021 : : 5081 . 14,540 18,805 - - 38,196
Additions . 2357 " 142 - - - . 4,039
Acquisition of subsidiaries - - 9,888 4800 300 14,988
Reclassification . ) . . 14,540 - (14,540} ' - .- - B -
Reciassification ¢ asset held for sale {nate 25} ’ - - {95) S - {96)
At 31 December 2021 21,988 T 1,642 28,397 - 4,800 300 57,127
Additions ' - - 20 - 2,034 - - - 2054
Reclassificalion R - 14 (1,597) . - - - -
Exchange differences : : - - 1.836 - - 1,636
At 31 Decembér 2022 - 23,605 2,079 . 30,033 4,800 300 60,817

Amartisation and impairment

At 4 January 2021 ) " 1,188 e 2111 - . 3,299
Charge-far the year . 2167 . - - 200 42 2,408
- At 31 December 2021 o ] 3,355 - 2411, - 200 42 5708
Chasge for the year ' i 2.583 - - ‘,_480 97 3,160

AU31 December 2022 : 5,938 e 2,114 680 138 8,868

N;a'. book value ) i . .
At 31 December 2022 - . : © 17,667 2,079 - 27,922 4,120 161 - 51,949
AL 31 December 2021 T 18,633 1,642 | 258,286 4,600 . 258 . 51,418
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

14, _ Intangible assets (continued)

«  Computer © Assets Total
G . . Software - under
Lompany ) - . T ’ - " construction
£000s ° © E000s £QQ0s
Cost . B
At1January 2021 : . : ‘ ! ’ : 5,007 14,540 - © 19,547
Additions . : . . - 2378 1,638. 4,016
Reclassification C N . 14,540 (14,540) : -
' At 31 December 2021 : ’ 21,925 1,638 ©23,563
 Additions : B _ - 2,034 2,034
Reclassification L ‘ . 1,587 “(1,597) . -
At 31 December 2022 ) ‘ 23,522 ) 2,075 - 25,507
Amorﬁsa‘tion and impairment . .
At 1 January 2021 . . ' ) . ©o1,489 ) - 1,169
Charge for the year . - ) 2,150 X - 2,150
At 31 December 2024 : ’ 3,319 - o a31e
Charge for the year 2,565 - ‘2,565
At 31 December 2022 ) - ) ‘ ‘. 5,884 - 5,884
Net book value
At 31 December 2022 ) ’ 17,638 2,078 19,713
At 31 December 2021~ | . - 18,606 . 1,638 20,244

The addition to goodwali in 2021 relates to the acquisition of the MaceTpm partnership. More details ae included in the acqmsmon note 15.
Gaodwill in relation to Mace Macio Technical Services LLC was reclassified to assets held for sate in 2021, More |nformanon IS included in
the held for sale nole 25. The carrying amount of goodwill is allocated to the CGUs as follows:

2022 2021

£000s £000s

Develop ’ o ' ‘ : 5 - 7
Consult . ) ’ : - . 20,170, 18,996
Construct . . ‘ 3,343 ’ 3,343
Operate ) . 4,404 . 3,240
' 27,922 T . 26,286

In 2022, £0.002m of goodwill has been transferred from the Develop CGU tothe Consull CGU due to the transfef of deveiopment management
business between the engines.

The recoverable amount of each CGU has been delermined by eslimaling ils value in use by reference to the present value of forecast
revenue and the residual profits. The forecasls were prepared for commercial purposes and rely op specific assumptions and projections on
2 CGU-By-CGU basis, using management’s detailed knowledge and expeclations of the outcome of each CGU. The projections were primarily
prepared using historic perfarmance indicators, secured arder book values and a comparison of the secured order book to hisloric trends.
They were originally prepared based on a five-year strategy. starting from 2022 to 2026, and subsequently the 2023 forecast is updated to
align with the Group's budget and extended to 2027 based on CGU specifié growth rate. The terminal valua of Consull, Construct and Cperate.
CGUs are calculated based an the latest 2027 forecast with an assumed 2% long-term growth rate. The terminal value of Develop CGU is
calculated based an the expected cash inflaws of projecis due to the long-term nature of development projecls.

" The forecasls are discounted using CGU specific post-tax rates that reflect the current marke! assessment of the time value of money and the
risks specific 1o the CGU. The post-tax discount rate used as lhe starting point is baseéd on the estimated weighted average cost of capiial,
which has then been adjusted for a number of factors to determine’ the discount rate, including the risk-free rate in the UK and the inherenl
risk of the farecast income slreams lncluded in the Group's cash flow projections. Pre-tax dlscaunt rates are then determinec from the post-
tax discaunt rates, .

.
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‘Notes to the financial statements (contlnued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

14, Intangible assets (con!mued)

The analysis has been done primarily on the goodwill altributed to each of the CGUs but also incarpaorates olher intangible and tanglble assets.
Develop CGU: A pre-tax dl_scounl rale of 12.8% has been applied to the Develop VCGU. .

Consult CGU: A pre-tax discount rale of 14.5% has been applied la the Consult CGU,

Construct CGU: A pre-tax discount rate of 16,4% has been applied 1o the Construct GG,

Opérate CGU: A pre-tax discounl rate of 14,1% ha§ been applied ta the Operate CGU. .

Analysns using lhe 2023 — 2027 forecasls does nol indicate any need for Impairment based on the goodW|II carrylng values as al 31 December
2022. Therefore, the directors con5|der that no |mpa|rment or futher adjustment of the gaodwill, ather intangibles of tangible assel carrying
value i5-hecessary,

As al the measurement date, the recoverable amount of all.cash-generaling unils, based on their value in use, is significantly higher than the
carrying amount relevant for the impairment tesl. After considering all key assumplions, management considers that a reasonably pessimistic
revision of key assumphons which can ralionally be expected would not cause the carrying amount of the cash-generaling units lo exceed their
recoverable amount. .

.

15. Acquisitions

On 6 August 2021, Mace announced a new slrategic partnership in South East Asia, known a5 'MaceTpm' being a partnership belween Mace
and Tenman Tpm. In forming this parinership, Mace Consullancy (Asia Pacifi¢) Limited, 2 subsidiary of Mace Limiled, acquirad a 100%
ownership of wo Tenman Tpm enlities based in Hong*Kong and a Tenman Tpm enlity based in the Philippines for a £14.7m consideration.
€1.8m of this was contingent consideration al acquisition and £5,4m was deferred consideration at 31 Decernber 2021, Goodwill of £9.9m
was recognised on acquis'nion of the business. This partnership will be fully integrated within the Consult Engine and part of the Asia Pacific
global hub, with operations in the Philippines, Singapore. Macau and Vietnam. The voting rights as at acquisition date was 60% and
subsequenlly increased to 100% on 11 February 2023. The 40% voting rights have been accounted for as deferced consideration under
fnancuai fiabifities in 2021,

Paﬂ of the contingent consideration and deferred cansideration have been paid off in 2022, The payment of deferred and contingeni
consideration is different from the balance recognised as at 31 Decembear 2021, this reftects interest cost and foreign-exchange difference in
the year. The contingent consideration has been reassessed in 2022 and £Tm gai (rom changes in fair vafue through profit and foss has been
recognised.

) . ) 2022 - 2021
Cash outflow in relation to the acquisilio'n is presented below; B ' . 2_'000 £'000
* Acquisition cost : L o _ ) . ‘ - 14,695)
Payment of deferred and contingent consideration . . . {7.279) -
Less deferred and conlingent cansjderéiion - o ' . —~ 7,157
Cas.h écquirgd . : . . . - 1,823
Transaction'cbsts ) : ] . " . C - - 1286
et cash autflow fram acquisitian of subsidiaries : . —— (7,278) (6,001}
Amounls recognised as at the acquisition date for each major class af assels and liabilities assgmed: ' ' . \- £'000
Non-current assets - - ] o : ) ) - 5,153
Current assets . ) ‘ i ‘ - 3,057
Cash & cash equivalents ) ) ’ B ., . ) 1,823
Gurrent liabilities - ’ Lo - ) . (3,602)
Non-carrent habllllles . Co L . (1,060)
Net assets acquired ~ ' S ‘ . - 5431
“Acquired Receivables: Trade debtors Prepéymenls : Ot-her debtofs Total
' £'000 "E'000 £'000 £000
Grass conlraclual amounts receivable ' 1813, ' 105 164 d 082
Best estimate at the acquisition date ‘of the contractual . o ' ’
cash flows not expected to be collected - ' (1,025) - - . - (1 025)
Fair value of receivatles . . 2,788 X - 105 164 3,057
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Notes to the financial statements {continued}:
Year ended 31 December 2022

5. Acguisitions {continued)

Reconciliation between consideration and net assels

Consideration

1 &s5 Net assels anaiired

Less: Dividend llablllly as NCi being {aken oul from net assets, acqurred E
GOOdwnII

16. Disposals

£000

14,695
(5,471
" g24

9,888

On 15 August 2022, the Group comalsted the disposal of Mace Masro Technical Gervices LLC for consideration of £1,0m. The
entity has not been classified as a disconlinued operation as it does not represent a maior operation for the Group. The enllty

was classmed as held for sale in 2021,

The gain on dr'sposaf is-analysed as follows: .
Proceeds
Net asset disposed {see below)
Transaction costs
' Recycling of forelgn ‘exchange reserve
"Profit on disposal of subsidiary
‘Income tax expense on gain an disposal '

- The current year net cash flow efflect of the disposal is analysed as follows:

Proceeds

Less proceeds receivable

Less intercornpany balances settled
Cash disposed

Transaction costs

" Net disposal proceeds received

The major classes of assels and liabilitizs disposed are as follows:

“Goedwill .
Properly, plant and equipment
Trade and other receivables
Current lax assets
Cash ) -
Trade and other payables
Current tax liabilities

_ Net assets disposed

£000s
952
{186)
(€5)

£000s
952
(520)
(31)
(254)

‘ (55) 7

82

EQ0Ds
96

T 807

254
(630)
(145)..
186
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Notes ta the financial statements (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022

16. stposals (contmued)

On 22 February 2021, the Group dispased of its 100% xn!erest in the entities in relation to the Cardiff and Exeterdevelopment
within the Develop busmess for gross consideration of £12:6m. These enlities have net been classified 4s a discontinued
operations as they do not represent a major operalion or gecgraphical area of operations for the Grcup The struclure of the

arrangement was to dispose of the entities that held the completed developmenl assets.

On 16 December 2021, the Group disposed of its 85% interest in the Owners Association Management Business, within the
Operate Business, for a gross consideration of £0.3m. This entity has not been classified as discontinued aperations as il does
not represent a major operahun or geographical area of operations for the Group.

The gain on disposal is analysed as foflows:
F’roceeds .

Net asset disposed (see be!ow)
Transaction costs

Gain on disposal

|ncome tax expense on galn on dlspusal

The prior year net cash flow effect of the disposal is

-analysed as follows:

Proceads

Less proceeds from deferred consideration receivable

_ Less intercompany balances setlled
Cash disposed
Transaclion costs )
Adjusied fcrtransa_clion cosis payable

Net disposal proceeds received

The major classes of .5856"5 and liabilities disposed are

as follows: .
Development work in progress
Trade and other receivables
Cash

Trade and oﬂ'ler payables
Shon term borrowings
MNan-gentrofling i‘nterest

Net assets disposed

Cardiff & Exeter

‘Mace Macro
Student Owners Total -
Accommodation* Association
Management Co
£000s £Q00s £000s
12,619 281 12,900
{5.451) {139) (5,590}
{1,200) (40) (1,240)
5 968 102. 6,070
Cardiff & Exeter Mace Macr,o
. Student Cwners Total
Accommodation® Association
Management Co
£000s £oles £000s
12,619 281 12,800
- {136) (138)
- (31) (31).
{2.657) (41) (2,698)
(t,200) (40) (1,240)
- 21 21
8,762 54 8,816
£000s £000s £000s
145,978 - 145,978
3470 246 3,418
2,657 41 2,698
. .{52,032) (73) ) {52,105}
(94,322) - (94,322)
- (75) _(75)
5,451 139 5,690

* The legal entities disposed of as part of the Cardiff and Exeter student accommodation disposal includad the followmg
Graduaticn Exeter and Cardiff (Jersey) Limited; Graduation Exeler Retail ‘Management Limited; Graduation Cardiff Retail
Management Limited; Graduation Cardiff Management Limited; Graduation Exeler Management Limiled; Mace Developmems
(Cardiff) Limited; Mace Developments (Exeler) Limited, Graduation ‘Exeter (Phase 2) Limited.

€68
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Notes to the financial statéments {continued)
Year-ended 31 December 2022

17.  Joint arrangements

The Group has invesiments in a number of joint arrangements that are classified as joint ventures or joint operahons depending on the natuie
of the investment, as described in the accounting pohmes note t. . . .

Joint ventures

the year

The fulluwing iepresents the 1olal resulls of joint ventures in which Mace has a part share: ¢
Dubal Expo 2020 MWJV Limitad Botley Mace Engenhara E Qiher joint venturas Tolai
) Servicos Lida " and [olnt oporalions
2022 2021 2022 2024 . 2022 204 2022 -2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
. £000s £000s 0008 £000s £000s £OOQs | £000s EC00s £000s £000s £000s _E£000s
Nan-current assels - . i 5 . - 153 70 40 26 . 239 101
Current essels 2,454 2,636 2,034 2174 103,359 133,920 1,481 4,136 497 300 109,825 143,166
Cash and cash-
equivalents -- - 1E)T . 508 173 ] 7,452 . 3,312 5,213 3807 144 . 155. ‘ 13,445 7.375
Current liohiliti {1.523) (1,601} . (84,705)  (68,823) {6,348) (6.726) (384) (2403 (92,850) {89,553}
Currant Inancial ' — - R ) :
. liabillies - (2,513) a(z.zan - - - - 2,263 (2,503 -
Non-current ~ - R
inoias - {1,319)  (69.848) - - &) @ (1.322) (69,850)
Non-current ~ . _ . _ _
financiat abifles - - I s - {T0.012)
Total a 1,142 27 o4 (45,425) (21,429) 547 1,087 294 348 - (43,328) {18,764}
Revenue 15,478 18,919 11,548 8077 4,367 3.581 " S804 3,228 3,850 | 2378 41388 3,181
Expenses {10,631) (12,350} {11,506) (7,952) {11,708) (1.283) {4,078) {2.781) {3,773} (2,318} (41,702} {26,694)
Depreciation & . : ’
amertisalion - i 5] ] - - - - - 2 .18 {4)
Interest axpanse . . . {7,597) " (86.945) - - 9 - (1} (7.608) (6,946}
Income tax . - m .2 306 ' - 1,018) - (1) - (721 (21),
Proflifoss} far 4,847 5,569 27 - B8 (14,032) (4.647) 748 445 1239) 81 (8,649) 2,516

Dubai Expo 2020 is a joint venture within the Consult eperations formed for the exclusive purpose of acling as Programme Managemeni
Consultant to provide programme delivery management services for the Expo 2020 event, operating in Dubai. This was postponed due ta

. COVID-19, and consequently ran from October 2021, to March 2022. Mace has joint conteol with a 49% profit share and net asset agreement.
The arrangement is created as a separale vehicle so classmed as a jmnt venture with the equity method of accounting applied.

MWJIV Limited is a jomt verture heiween the Mace Group and Ward Willlams Associates delivering multi-disciplinary services to the pub ic
secter in the South West. Mace has joint control with a 50% profit share and nei asset agreement. The arrangement is classified as a 1o|nl
. venture, and the equity method of accounllng has been applied. .

Botiey" includes the Develop joint \reniures Botley Developmenis (Hotdings) Limited which owns BDC Phase 2 Itd and The Botley
Development Company Limited. These are separate legal enlities, so the arrangement is classified as a joimt venture of which Mace Lid has
50% jaint control with another party and has equal voling rights. The equity method of accounting has been applied.

The purpose of the Botley Development (Holdings) Limited is to undertake the deveiopment of the site in Oxford. The JV operates from the

UK and is an entily registered in England and Wales. The Botley Development Company Limited has raised its own develapment debt finance,
which has security over the assels. Bottey Development (Holdings) Limited has raised shareholder debt finance from Mace letled

Mace Engenharia E Ser\;icos Ltda is & Company incorporated under Angolan law with a reglslered office in Luanda. It has two shareholders,
Mace — Consultoria e Gestio de Projectos e Conslrugao, Lda which holds a 47% share, and Engiseivices Engenharia e Serviges Lda, which
holds a 53% share. This Company emboadies an exclusive partnérship agreement between the parties to provide professional engineering
services under the Mace brand in Angola. Itis part of the Consult operations of Mace. Under the Shareholders’ Agreemeént there is joint control
" and all forms of decision making reguire unanimous agreemen! between the shareholders. The arrangement Is ¢classified as a jdint venture,
and the equity method of accounting has been applied. ‘
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18.

Investments

Group

Cost less provisions

At 1 January 2021

Exchange diferences

Additions )

Share of post-acquisilion profit after tax
Dividends received,

At 31 December 2021

Exi:h_ange differences

Share of post-acquisition profit after (ax
Dividends received ‘

Fair value ad]usimt-':nl.

At 31 December 2022

Joint ventures &

. Other Totat
. associates investments
£000s £000s £000s
2,676 10,116 . 12,792
72 e 72
- 2,882 2,882 -
2,859 - 2,999
(4,408) - (4,406) _
1,341 12,998 14,339
{498) - {498)
2,625 - 2,625
(2.524) - (2,524)
- (1,684) {1,684)
944 19,314 12,258

Additions to other investments related to additional canlribulions by City Fringe in the investment in Finsbury Tower. The equity was
raised in propartion o the exigling equily subscription, 50 the Mace s‘hare in the investiment remained at 8,1%.

Company

Cost less provisions
At January 2021
Lijﬂpairmeni

AL.31 December 2021
Additions )
Impairment reversal

Reclassification to held for sale (note 25)

At 31 Decemt_!er 2022

Joint ventures & Subsidiaries Total
associates £000s . "EQ00s
£000s
7 15,518 15,525
) (3,459) (3,476}
- 12,049 12,043
- 18,331 18,331
' - 1,713 1,713
- 1.713) (1,713)
_ . .. 30,380 30,380

Additions lo invesiments in 2022 related to additional investment in‘Mace— Consult Limited. Mace share in {he investment in

subsidiary remains at 100%. in 2022, the impainment provision for Mace Cost Consultancy Limited has been reversed.
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19,

Trade and other receivables

Amounts. falling due after more lhan onhe year:’
Prepayments

Amounts faliing due within'one year:
Trade receivables ©

Contract agsets

Coniracl receivables

Amounts gwed by ullimate parent company
Amounts owed by immediale parenl company

. Amouits ywed by subsidlary undertakings

Amounts owed by joint ventures and associates
Loans to directors ] -
Loan receivable

Loan interest receivable

Cash collalera)
Other debtors

_ Other tax and social securlly recelvables
" Prepayments

Mace Limited Company contract assels includes £0.1m of accrued income (2021: £0.1m) relating to sales {o subsidiaries.

Group A Corripany
2022 2021 2022 2021
£000s £000s £000s £000s
600 - 1499 __s0o 1,199
213,868 ° 167,119 113,029 99,127
136,978 104,817 70 457 70,570
87,320 116,600 45,149 . 48,823
77,159 115,739 77,159 115,743
43,589 43,638 43,589 43,638
. ‘ . .123,815 168,833
1,018 1,726 260 24
135 - 136 y
2,500 1,250 2,500 ° 1,250
689 344 " 689 314
- 1,975 - 1,680
50,717 53,446 42,160 49,295
9,364 7,005 9,361 1,121
13,672 10,318 9,821 6,106
637,004 623,947 538,219 - 507,524

Retentions will be collecled in Llhe normal operaung cycle of the Group and are therefore shown in. current receivables. £40.0m (2021:
£41.2m) of the refention receivable Is due in more than ane year and £97.0m {2021: £63.6m) of the re!entron receivable is due within

one year,

The reason for the increase in contract assets from 2021 to 2022 is moslly due to growih of project relention balance. The value ‘of
the sales relention depends on the stage of the project at the balance sheet date and lhe size of the praject.

Debtors past and overdue

Trade receivables not past due

© Trade receivables past due 1-30 days

Trade recejvables past due 31-60 days
Trade recivables past due aver 60 days
Gross Wade receivables

Less provision far expected credit [osses

Trade debtar.

. Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
£000s- £000s £000s £000s
169,267 124,606 100,774 76,553
26,457 19,087 10,925 " 8,784
6,485 19,437 893 14,413
15,703 | Balt 737 394
217,912 171,441 113,329 100,644
(4,044)° (4,322) {300). (1,517)
213,868 167,119 113,029 . -.99,127
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20. ljevelopment work in progress and loan to joint venture R
. ) 2022 ) 12024
£000s £000s
Wark in progress - 7494 _ 6,058
Finished &evelapmz;nt assets - . 6,485
) Development work in progress 7,494 12,543
Loan ta joint venture. - 82,914 85,827
Provision on loan ta joint venlure (38,484) {25475}
Development loan to joint venture 44,430 60,352
Work- In progress 6n devetopment schemes includes £0.1m of capitalised interest during the year (2021: E0.6m}. £§.5m
development work in progress was expensed as cost of sales in the period (2021: £30.4m).
21, Trade and other payables
. : Group Company
02 Repesened 2022 2021
i £000s £000s £000s £000s
_Amounts falling due more than one year:
Long term incentive plan accrual 527 - 527 R
Amounts _fall‘lng due within c.n.e year:
Trade creditors * 116,590 105.253 62,914 §8,901
Contract liabilities 1 95.095 195,827 126,472 122,759
Amaounts due to ultimate parent campany 114,932 2,244 8,954 ’ 20
Amounts due to immediate parent company » - 1.369 - - 1,309
Amounts due to subsidiaries ’ . - - 71,665 . 45.021
Amounls due to joint ventures and-as$ociales" 130 124 16 . .16
Dividend payable to non-controlling interests 341 ) - : . .
Accrugls s 298,013 82 . 149,777 212,639
Taxalian and social security payables 71,311 92,609 34,560 56,877
'Post-employment benefit obligation B167. 9,737 . -
Cther creditors 12,550 8,877 2,180 1,346
714,129 717.792 " 456,538 508,069

Cantract liabifities includes deferred mcome and amounts payable on construclion contracts.
liabilities includes £3. 2m of delerred -income (2021 £0.1m) relating to sates to subsidiaries.

Mace Limited Company contract

Rekenhons will be pald in the normal operalmg cycle of the Group and are lherefore shown in current payables

E78m of group revenue recognised in the period was included in 1he conlract fiability bafance at the beginning of the year (2021:

£127m).-

Group contract liabilities have increased as a result of more income being deferred in 2023 in relation to large congtruction projects
which are in early skages Advance payments on lhese projects are deferred and the incame will be recognised when further costs

are incurred:

'Re-presenfaﬁon ta reclassify £20.1m reported as other craditors in 2021 lo trade creditors.

72



Mace Limited

Notes to the ﬁnam:la[ slatements (contmued}
Year ‘ended 31 December 2022 -

21, Trade and other payablas (continued)

Reconcliliation of post-employment benetit obligation:

Post-employment benefit liability at 1 January 2022
" Dispesal of subsidiary
Reclassification
Change in assumptions
Service cost
- Interest cost
Settlement gain
L iahility ulifised
’ Actuarial {gain)/ loss
- Exchange difference

Posi-employme-nt benefit obllgallon at 31 December 2022

Gru‘up') Company

2022 2021 2022 2021
£000 - £000 £600 £000
9,737 5,844 - -

(158) - .
. 3,341 . .

- 921 .
2,088 - 1,718 - -
. 259 197 . _
{119) - 8 .
(3,138) (2,463) - -
(980} 91 L -
1,112 88 - -
8,801 9,737 - .

The reciassufcatlon halance in 2021 represenls gratuity provisions in other entities in the Group, that were previously recagmsed

within accruals,

Post-employment henefit obligation remeasurement:
Liability gain due to changes in assumptions

‘Liability experience loss arising during the year
Total actuarial (gain)! loss recognised in other
_camprehensrve income

Exchange difference

Total amount recogmsed in other comprehensme income in
the year

" Post-em ployment benefit obligation future cash flows:

Expected benefits paid by the plan far the next financial year

- Consult:

_Amount, timing and uncertainty of post—emp1oyment
benefit obligation future cash flows:
Senswhwty 1 - discount rate plus 0.5% - % difference in post—
employment benefit obligation

Sensitivity 2 — discounl rate minus 0.5% - % dtfference in
post-employment benefit abligation

- Sensitivily 3 = salary growth rate plus 0.5% - % dlﬁe;ence in
post-employment benefit obligation,

Sensilivity 4 - $alary growlh rate minus 0.5% - % dlﬂerence
in post-employmenl henefit cbligation

Post- employn‘:ent benefit chligation assumptlons
Discount rate
Rate of compensatian increase

Plan duration (years)

{1,075) _ (412) - -
08 503 . .
(380} Y - -
4,112 88° - .
132 179 - -
1,233 (1.391) - .
{4.3%) (4.6%) - -
4.7% 4.9% - .
4.9% 5.2% - -

, (4.6%) (4.8%) -
5.0% 2.6% - -
4.0% 3.0% . .
9.80 10.12 . .
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21, "Trade and other payables (continued)

Operate:

Amount, timing and uncertainly of post.employment
benefit obligation future cash flows:

Sensitivity 1~ discount 1ate plus 0.5% - % difierence in post-
employment benefit obligation

Sensitivily 2 — discount rate minus 0 5% - % dlfference in
posi- ‘employmen! benefil obligation

Sensitivily 3 —~ salary growth rate plus 0. 5% - % dlfference in
post-employrment benefit obligation

Sensttivity 4 ~'salary growth rate minus 0.5% - % difference .
in post-amployment benefit obligation

Past-employment benefit obligation ass.umptions:
Discount rate : ,
Rate of compensation increase

Pian duration (years)

Group

2022
£000

(4.9%)
5.4%
6.2%

(5.7%)

51%
3.0%
11.36

2021
£000

(4.5%)
4.9%

5.0%

. 44.6%)

2.8%
'3.0%

1021

Company

2022 -

. E000

202t
£000

The assumphons used differ be'lween Consult and Operate as they are based on the staff profile in these businesses and localions where the
: benefit is paid. The duration of the plan liabilities relates to \he weighted average timing at which the End of Service Benefit payments are’
expected to occus, This is 8 resuli of the actuarial projeclions and depends on the profile of the membership data, maln\y age, salary and
service, and on the assumption, basis adopled, mainly the normal rehrement age and turnaver rates.

22, Prov}s!ons. contingent liabllities and cantingent assets

PI’OVISIO!‘IS

Pravisions primarily inciude onerous contract provzs:ons tand cverage paymeant and construcuon liabilities. The construclion hab!hues are
pnrlclpa“y legal cla|ms and costs, where provision js made for the directors’ best eslimate of known Iegal clasims, investigations and legal.

actlons in progress.

Onerous contract provisions

At1 January 2021 and 1 January 2022
-Add|llona1 provisions

At 31 December 2022

- Other provisions

At t January
Unused amounts released
Ulilised provisions
Additional pravisions
Exchange difference

* At 31 December

Other provisionsjinmuded land overage payment provision of £6.3m (2021

Group

Company

£000s £000s

3775 623

. - 3,775 523

, .
Group Company

2022 - 2021 2022 2021

£000s £000s £000s _£000s

96,146 84,315 84,852 71,054
(11,332) (3,313) * {10,629) (2.784)

(18,541) (8,712) (18,295) 7.911)

27,737 24,858 27,623 24,458

_(56) - - .

. 93,954 96,146 83,551 84,852

E6.1mY.
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22: Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets (continued)

Itis anlidipated that amounis provided for will e utilised as follows:

Group Company
apa2 ’ 2021 2022 2021
£000s €000s £000s £000s
Due within-one year ) . o .
9,334 12,483 _766 10,508
Due after one year N o ’ 88,395 83,663 83,408 74,346

97,729 86,146 84,174 84,852

" in refation fo the amounis included in provisions, £33.6m (2021: £34.1m) of expecied reimbursement is included within ofher debtors in note
19.

Contingent liahilities -

The Company is party to a Group ||ab|my arrangement with its principal bankers providing a nghl of set-off of all Group balances. Whilst certain
Group companies have bverdrawn balances, al 31 December 2022 there was no net Group mdebtedness to its bankers and therefore the
direciors consider no centingesncy arlses, . ' :

In addition to bonds for constructian prejects we also have a number of bonds for a variety of other pufposes such as projecl ma nagement
assignments internationally and guarantees.

Provisions are made using the directors‘ bestjudgements and estimates of known legal claims, investigations and iegal actions refating to the
Group which are considered maore likely thar nat ta result in an oulllow of economic benefil. if the direciors consider that a claim, investigalion

- or aclion relating to the Group is unlikely to succaed, no provision s made. If the directors cannot make a reliable estimate of a polential,
malerjal obligation, no provision is made but details of the claim are disclosed as contingent liabilities. At 31 December 2022 the Mace Limited
Company and Group had no conlingent Iiabililies in relalion to claims (2021: £nil).

Contingent assets
The Group had contingent assels of £15. 7m (2021: £15.4m) in relation to claims against third pames for the relmbursemenl of costs on
- construction contracts relating to § ongoing matters (2021: €).

Mace Limited Company had contlngent assels of £15.8m {2021 £13. .4m) in relation lo clalms against third- pames for the reimbursement of
cosls on consbruction conlracls relating to 5 ongoing matters [2023: 5), .

Under IAS 37 these amounts may only he recognised when the economic benefi arising fram the claims is \m‘lually certain. It is probable that
these amaunts will be recognised in future penods when the uncertamly over their recaverabmly has been removed,

.23 Fmanmal liabllities

. Group B - Company
2022 2021 2022 . s
‘ £000s - . £000s £000s £000s
Amounts due within one year:
1 . .
Derivatives nat designated as hedging instrurnents: . .
Fareign currency exchange conlracis ’ 7 1,511 7 1,511
Acquisition forward liability ‘ o - 652 - .
Acquisition contingent liability : A o ‘466 117 . R
) : 473 . 2320 - 7 1,511
Amounts due after more than cne year:
Acquisition forward liability . : . 4,898 - -
- Acquisition contingent liability - ' 181 1,518 B .
’ 181 . 6,416 - ’ -
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‘24

25

Lease liabilities 8 borrowings

- Group . . Company

2022 2021 2022 - 2021
. £000s £000s £000s  ° £000s

Due within one' year: L . T T ’ )
Bank overdraf . ©o4z2481° 40,032 . 51,098 . 22,633
‘Employee benelit trust loan ° . . 2,800 - © 2,800 -
Lease liabilities _ 6,132 5180 - 5262 . 4474
‘ ' ’ ' 51,413 45212 . 69,150 27,107

Dug within two to nve years: E :

Lease liabilities . : i 19,386 - 17777 17,825 " 16,185
_ Employee benefit trust loan . o . . 2800 : . 2 800
18,386 20,577'. 17.525 . 18985

See the section on capital risk management in the financial risk management note 3 for further details of external barrowings.
Assets and liabilitiés held for sale-
Company:
As al 31 December 2022, £1.7m investment in subsidiaries of the Company were reclassified {o held for sale..
The inv.estrnenl in subsidiaries heid for sale are Mace Iniernational Limited (and its subsidia'ries) Mace Holdings Limiled {and ils
subsidiaries), Mace Cost Consultancy Limited, MSecure Limited, and Mace Construct Specialist Services’ Limited. The assels are
expected to be sold within 12 months to Mace Consult Limited-and Mace Construct Limited. Mace Consult Limited and Mace Construct
Limited are wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group. On 1 January 2023, the Company-disposed of the entilies, Infermation: on the
disposal is mcluded innote 31. :
. Group:

Mace Macro Technical Services LLC entity is a subsidiary of the Growp that was reclassilied 1o held for sale on 15 June 2021 with
the expectziion that this would be sold within 12 months.

f .
- The held for sale assels ang llablhhes held in 2021 relale to an investment in subsidizry that is not a majar line of business or
geographical area of operations for the Group and ‘was not acquxred exclusively wilh the view to resale, I is therefore not classifiéd
as a discontinued-aperation. .

On 15 Augusl 2022 lhe Group disposed of Mace Macro Technical Services LLC. Infarmation on the d\sposal is included in the disposal
note 16.

Assets of a disposal group classnfled as held for

sale: : - 2022 2021°
.- v . : £000s £000s
Propery, plant and equipmant . L _ j 1
Intangibte assels ) ) . : . 96
Trade and other recelvables . - : 578
Current tax assels ’ T o oL 3
Cash at bank S : ' o . Vo . 254
. - 93z

Liabiiities ol a disposal group classlified as held for - . '
sale: . . : 2022° 2021

o ) £000s ) £000s

Trade and other payables - - - : ' - (631)

Current tax liabilities o . : ) - - {145)
L (776)
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25. - Assets and llabilities held for sale {continued)

Statement of comprehensive income: C . ;
Mace Macro Technical Services {.L.C : - . . . 2022 2021

' 7 ’ ' F000s £000s
Revenue ’ ' - S .. 3875
Cual ul sales ' ) - . ) i .- {3,098)
Gross profit ‘ ‘ ) o - 576
Adminislrative expenses : . ' - {90)
QOperating profit - ) : : To- 486
Finance cosls ) . - : - ()
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation ] - - 479
Income tax . - -

Profit ' : . - _ATS

- 26, Share capital and reserves
Number of Ordinary
.shares’ shares value
Groulp and ?ompany: ) S ] . £000s
Alloited, calfed up and fully paid -

Ordinary shares at 0.01p each’ 997,281 " - . 997
_ Ordinary A shares at 0.01p each . - ' ) . 348,000 . 3
At 31 December 2()21 and é022 ] _ I . - 1,345,281 1,000

The A Ordmary shares have no voting rights. If approved in wnlmg by holders of naot less than BO% of the Ordinary shares a dividend
may be paid on the "A' Ordinary shares.

Reserves; -
The forelgn exchange resesve ‘holds gains and losses on the re-translation of subsidiaries denominated foreign currencies.

Retained earnings movement relales to the profit and loss result of the year as well as distribution ofdlwdends.
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27. . Notes to the cash flow statement

Group reconciliation of operating activities to operating cash flows =

. 2022 ) 2029 -
Note £000s £000s

Cash flows from operating activities - : o ' - o ) . e
Profit before interest =~ - - ) C : - 43,661 51,383
Adjustments for: ' L ' :

~ Profit on disposal of fixed assels o & . 5 -7 -
Profit on lease amendments . o - ) ST (279)

" Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 13 6,955 : B
Amortisalion of intangible asséts : 14 : 3,160 2,409
Acquisition costs - : : . ) s . ’ 295

" Profit an disposal of investments : 16. {649) ' (6,070)
Share of net profits of joint ventures o T - 18 . (2,825) " (2,999)
Revafuation to fair value ) . ' . 650 . (207)
Movement on pravisions - . i . 30,837 ' T . 34,165
lncome from government grants - ' (14,842} (2,100}
Other non-cash movements : o - © (354)
Forelgn exchange - retransiation ' ! 5,438 T 4164
Cash flows befare changes in warking capital ' 72,490 86,809
Warking capital cha‘ngesz } .
nerease in trade and other receivables ' . s 1875} : k116,035)
Decrease in wark in_pfogress : ’ - ) . 5,045 . 24,421
(D'ep:rease).‘ increase in irade payables . ' 7 . (24,996) 55,478
Goveérnment grants and lcan o L . 14,942 144
Decrease in working capital ‘ - . ' ) (5,580} _ (35,992)
Income taxes paid . . ’ . {12,578) (5,840)
Net finance income/ {costs) ’ . ) 2,492 (6,424)
Net cash inflows from operating activities ‘ - __ 56524 38,553

Reconciliation of changes in liabilitles arising from financing transactions:’

' Nqn-éash changes

.ForeAign - . 39

1 January Cash exchange Falir value’ December

2022 flows movement Additions changes . -~ 2022

£000s _£000s £000s__ . £000s £00U0s

Employee benefil trust loan . 2,800 - ' B . - ' - 2,800

Lease liabilities . . - 22,9857, (5,134) ’ 216 7.479 - - 725518

" Derivatives not designated as hedging . :

instruments: Foreign currency exchange : i :

contracts . - 1,511 - - . - {1,504) - T
Tatal fiabilities from financing . - ’
activities 27,268 {5,134} - 216 7,479 - {1,504} 28,325
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27.

8.

Notes to the cash flow statement (continued)

Restricted cash ’ : :
Resltricted cash of £26.5m (2021; £0.2m) includes £11.1m held within Mace Limited Company Jomt operations for restricted use,
" including £3.4m of cash held in project bank accounts. £14.8m was held for an advance payment bond that was relessed in 2023.

' There aie some other smaller restricted cash balances amounting ta £0.6m (2021: £0.2m). -

Nat rash recanrciliatinn . ) ) ' ' . Jla WA ) 2021

s - Fo0n £'000
Short term lease liabilities and borrowings . o .o ' {51,413) (45,é12)
Lang term lease liabilities and borrowirigs . . {19,388} : {20,577}
Less: lease liabilties ’ . 25,516 22,857
Cash at bank (excluding restricted cashy) .. - ’ B 158,874 ) 164,888

Net cash ’ . 114,691 - 122 056

Share-based payments

.

As part of lhe arraagements censtituting the MBO of January 2014, 1,850,000 ordinary shares were issued at par to an Employee

. Benefit Trust controlled by the ultimale parent Company. The purpose of the issue was to enable the Group to incentivise directors and

eligible employees by granting them shares or options over the 'shares. At 31 December 2022, 1,905,000 {2021: 1,565,889) shares had
teen granted. Share based paymenl charges arising from share oplions and an unrestricted share issue relating to directors of the
Company have been charged to the statement of comprehensive income and disclosed within directors® remuneration in note 9. The
share-based paymenls have been recharged from the ultimate parent Company; in the accaunts of which the charges have been
credited against reserves.

Share Option Scheme

The Group's share optlon scheme was created in 2014 for the . pnmary purpose of providing -incéntives to directers and etigible
employees. Undes the scheme, the Board of the ultimate parent Company may grant oplions pver shares in the ultimale parent Company
held by the EBT lo eligible employees, including directors. In November 2014 options were issued over 170,187 shares to seven
individuals. No con5|derat|on was payable an the grant of an aption. Options may be exercised once certain conditions have been met.

The right to exercise expires on the 10lh anmversary of \he date of the grant of the option. A further 40,000 options were granted in
2017 ta 2 Indlwduals The fair value of the options granted was calculated using the Black Scholes Model-and included the following
inputs: .

. 2017 2014
Exercise price £0.78 £1.07
Expected volatility 29.05% . 50.96%
Qption life . : ' © 5vyeais : 5 years
Expected dividends 3.47% 8.69%
Risk free interest rale 0.57% 1.32%

The fair value was recognlsed over the vesting period which was estimated as 5 years. The charge in 2022 amounted to ‘£nil (2021:

.E76,5977). The share-based payments have been recharged from the ultimate parent Company.

_ Set out below are summaries of options granted under the plan:

2022 ) 2024

Average Average
exercise price Number of exercise price Number of share
) - per share eption _ share options per share option oplions
As at i January T £0.99 ’ 139,142 £0.99 . 154112
Exercised during the year : £0.96 ' (111,075) £1.07 (15,000)
As'at 31 December . . . - EN.07 T 2B,037 £0.99 . 139,112

Vested and exercisable as at 31 December £1.07 ’ . 28,037 £0.99 ) 139,112

Share appreciation rights

In April 2022, the Company issued 145,000 share appreciation rights of the ullimale parent Company to 4 individuals for Entl
consideration. The restrictions denoted lhat, untit certain cenditions were met, the shares could not be vated or receive a dividend and
would only be settled in cash by the exercise of options by the Company. The conditions fo be fulfilled are considered not probable in
2022 and no charga has been recoghised in 2022, .

Contribulion to parent Company employee benefit scheme ’ o

In 2021, the Company made a contribution 1o an employee benefit scheme. The employee benefit scheme is consolidated inlo the
ultimate parent Company accounts and thus, this cantribution has been treated as a distribution to the ultimate parent Company, Mace
Finance Limited, The contribution o the EBT Is presented as part of financing cashflows in the cashflow statement.
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29. * Related party transactions

©Group . ; © . 2022 2021
: : £000s : £000s

Transzctions between the Grdup aitd fts joint venlures:

Trading transactions

- Sales o o ‘ L 2602 - 9,656
Purchases ) . {109) . {126)
Non-trading transactions’ s 7 .

Dividends received . : : O ) 2,524 4,408
Interesi receivable . . 5,072 4,983

Balances between the Group and its joint veatures can be found in notes 19-21°

Léans-to directars ) o : .
Directors dverdrawn loanr accounts included in receivables (note 19} are leans.awing fram directors which are repayable on exercise
of their share opiions. S455 tax has been provided in respect of these directar overdrawn loans. These loans are not interest bearing.
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30. Leases

The Group holds property leases for offices in the UK and infernationally, The mosl'sigﬂfﬁcant property lease is for the Group's head office in
Moorgate, London. The Graup also has shor term leases for motor vehicles. '

The Group acled as a-lessor in the period and received rental income for student accommadation and a retail unil.

Croup . : Lompany.
2022 201 ' . 2022 2021
R ] . £000s - £000s £000s £000s
_Income in relation to leasing - - 186 1,474 s 209
Group Company
. C2022 2021 2022 - 2021
: . ' £000s £000s £000s £600s
‘Dué within 1 year ’ ) o 209 : 187 - <209 166
Due within 2-5 years .- - 628 664 62B 664
Due in more than 5 years ’ . 7 - 7
Total S ' 837 858 _ B37 ] 837
. Cash flows in ralation to leases;
Cash inflow in relation to leases where Mace is the . . ’
lessar L 186 1,474 196 o209 -
Cash outflows in relation to leases where Mace is.the - : :
lessee {5,892) (6,217) © (4,999) {4.052)
Net cash outhlow : : : (5,696) (3.743) (4,803} (3,843)

The prlncmal elemenl of the lease paymenl is included in financing activities and the mterest cornpunenl is included in operating acuvuues in the
cash flow slatemenl

Other disclosures: :
Analysis of the right-of-use assets on the batance sheet is included in the property, plant & equipment nole 13.

Analysis of the lease liabilities on the balance sheet is included in the lease liabilities and berrowmgs nate 24 and the related interest charge in the
interest note 8. )

The maturity analysis of the lease liabilities is presented in the financial risk management note 3. )
In“addition to the closing lease Kability at the year end, the Group also has commitments for leases that are short term. The expense |ncurred in
relation to these leases is disclosed in the operating profit note 6.

Commiiments and future cash outflows in relation to lease expenses are expected to be in line with the annual expense dlsclosed for the year
anding 31 Decamber 2022, as reported in the operating profit and EBITDA note 6 .

31, Post balance sheet events

Gmup restructure chenges

Cn 1 Januvary 2023, Mace Limited transferred the I'o[lowmg entities o other subsidiaries of the group with total consideration of £14.2 mikion
and gain on disposal of £12.5m in Campany. level income statement. The related investment balance has.been raclassiiied to asset held for
sale for the year ended 31 December 2022. There is no accounting impact on the consolidated balance sheel and income statement.

- Mace International lelted (and its subsidiaries); Mace Holdings Limited {and its subsidiaries), Mace Cosl Consuitancy Limited and
MSecure Limited were transferred from Mace Limiled to Mace Consult Limited. .

- Mace Construct Specialist Services Limited was 1ransferred from Mace lelled to Mace Construct Limited.

Drsposaf of a subsidiary
On 14 Masch 2023, the Gmup d|sposed Bethnal Green Regeneratlon Llrruted for consideration of £0.05m resultmg |n a gam of dispasal of
£0.05m.

Legacy projec! piuvisiun - Upo‘ate s

QOn 26 June 2023, a courtjudgemem was handed down in respect of a legacy contract for which a remedlahon provision has been made. The
formal hearing has been adjourned, dnd the judgement remains subject to potential appeal. The judge determined several principles that are
positive for Mace and are expected to result in the value of the year end prowsmn belng reduced, Atthis slage, it is not' possible lo quantify
the potent\al impact an the year end provision.
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32, List of joint ventures, joint operations and associate undertakings

The following is a list of joint venlures énd associate entities of Group.

COevelop
Company ‘ Country of Tax Resldency Voting Natu.re of business —1
. . : registeation! ' _rights - .
incarperation N
BDC Phase 2 Limited* - - United Kingdom Uniled Kingdam <{ . 50 | Develop
Botley Developments (Holdings} Limited* " | United Kingdom ' United Kingdom ) 50 | Develop
Botley DevManGCo Uimited* Uniled Kingdom United Kingdom 50 | Develop
Commercial Road Developrﬁenl Management Limited™ United Kingdom Uniled Kingdom +580 | Develop
- Mace Develop Latimer (Slevanage) LLPY ' Unlted Kingdom - Uniled Kingdom -+ 50 | Develop
Mace Delvelc\p Lalimer {Stavenage) Plot A LLP* .| Uniied Kingdom LUn(led Kingdom ) < 50 | Develop
EDevelnp Latimer {(Stevenage) Piot K LLP~ . United Kingdom ’ United Kingdom ’ 50 | Develop .
Mace Develop Latimer Lirited” . United Kingoom Unlled -Kingdom 50 Dever:.ap
LMPD Trinity LLP* ‘ : Uniled Kingdom | Uniled Kingdom - 33 | Develop
The Bolley Devalopment Campany Limited* ’ United Kingdom | Uniléd Kingdom 50 | Develop
West Way Academic Residential 1 Limited® ~ United Kingdom United Kingdom 50 ¢ Deveiap
Wasl Way Academic Residenlial 2 Limited” United Kingdom United Kinédom : 50 | Develop
LWestway Estate Management Limiteg* ) . United Kingdom -Uniled Kingdom 53 | Develep
Gonstruct .
Company . _rCounw of ’ Tax Residency Voting ‘| Nature of business ‘l
ncorporation | rlane
New Burlington Developments Limited" {closure In ' R X
L proc_ess) . . - . United Kingdom United Kingdom Caonstruct
Consuilt . . ] . ' . ‘
| Company . Gountry of R ‘Tax Restdéncy Vating |7Nature of business 1
- reglisiration/ rights - .
incamoratlgn : i .
Mace Avista Ply Lid . -Austraia - Australia 50 7. Consult
Mace Engenharia E Servicos Lida o . Angola Angala © 47 § Consult: N
neAQSMace Censultancy (Ply} Linited, . South Alrica Sauth Africa 49 | Consull
MMQS Mage (Ply) Limited ! : - South Alrica Sauth Alica 48 | Consult
. CLM Delivery Partner Limited® " | Uniled Kingdom Uniled Kingdom 25 | Consult ]
| MWIY Limited Unjled Kingdom United Kingdarn * 50 | Consult
\Lﬂace - Jagabs Consarlium . Greece . Greece 50 ﬂsull
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32. List oljoih’: ventures, joint operations and associate undertakings

The following is a list of other joint arrangements that the Group participate.

Consult
Unlnc'orporaiédjclqt arrangement - - Participation share | Mature of arrangement
HS2 Euston : . ’ . 50% Consull
"Dubal Expo 2020 . ' ] . ©OM% | consul
;’aragon . ‘ - - . 0% Consult
Schiphol Airpart {Pier Alrsige) — . ' A 55% | Consull
TiL Integrator ) ‘ ‘ - ] ' 7 50% | consult
_Highways Englang PDP . ’ i 33% | consul
Pero G2G “' ) N . . i 454 Consull
Narthern Estate (Programme, Project and Cost Managemenl svervices lo the Corporate 50% | consul
Officers of (ke Hayse of Commans and the House of Lords} — :
Bicentenary Educafion G2G ‘ T . 50% | Congun -
HS2 Curzon-Sireet . 5% | Conoult
Hallinikon ‘ ' ‘ : B9% | consun
Onlario Go Expansion . ) . . ’ ’ 3% | consun
Metrolinx Subways Delivery Paringr ' : 33% | consult
7
Canstruct:
Unincerporated ]oin‘t arrangemeﬁl ' . . Participation §hare Nature of arrangement
Sumner Street - Landsec C ‘ : . ’ 50% Ccnstrm;l

* Companies are regislered al head office address in the UK: 155 Moorgate, Londan, EC2M 6XB
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33. List of subsidiary undertakings

The lfollawing #s a list af the direct and indirect subsidiary entities of the Group.

Develop - .
Country of registrations Tax Residency Veting Nature of husiness
Company | Incorporailon’ sights
Bethnal Green Regeneralion Limiled* (sold United Kingdom United Kingdom 51 Develap
14403/2023) : ) .
Graduation Student Living Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom - 100 Develop
Greenwich Square Commescial Limited* United Kingdam United Kingdom 100 Develop
J Greenwich Square Limited® United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Develop

Mace Develop Limited* United Kingdom . Unil_ed Kingdom 100 Develop
Mace Developments (Greenwich) Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdom 400 Develop
Mace Developments (Stevenage) Limited® United Kin-gdcm United Kingdom - 100 Cavelop
Mace Developments Limited” United Kingdom United Kingdom 00 Develap

”_I\"lace Estale Sojutions Limited*  United Kingdorm Unlted Kingdom 100 Deavelap

Construct v -

"Country of registration/ Tax Resldency Voting Nature of business

Company incorparatian rights i -
Mace tntemational Conslruction {Belgium) BY Belgium Belglum 100 LConstruct
Avenue Mamix 23, fifth floor .
1000 Brussels *

| Beigium A
Mace Technology Denmark ApS Denmark Denmark 100 - Construgi |
Harhour House
Sundkragsgade 21
2100 Capenhagen

-Denmark -
Mace Technology ([reland) Limited Treland freland 100 Construct
Floor 3,-Block 3 :
Miesian Plaza
Cubtin 2, irefand .
Mace Management Services BV, Netherlands - - Netherlands 100 Canslruct
Zuidplein 116 | -
Tower H, Level 14, 1077XV
Amsierdam
Netherdands .
Como Construclion Limited* United Kingdom . Uniled Kingdom 100 Dgrmant
Coamo Group Limited™ United Kingdom Uniled Kingdom 100 Holding Company
Como Hames Limited* Uniled Kingdom Uniled Kingdem 100 Dormant
Mace Consiruct Limited* United Kingdom' United Kingdom 100 Canstruct
Mace Construct Specialist Services Limited® Uniled Kingdom United Kingdom 100 Construct ™
Mace Construction {Inlernational) Limiled® Uniled Kingdom Uniled Kingdom -100 Conslrucl
Mace Facades Limited* Uniled Kingdom Uniled Kingdom - 100 Conslruct
Mace Interiors Group Limited* Unitad Kingdom United Kingdam 180 Céns!r‘ucs

1 .

Mace Living Limited* Uniled Xingdom Uniled Kingdom 100 Conslruct
Mace MEP Services Limited* Uniled Kingdom Uniled Kingdom 100 .Conslrucl
Mace Plus Academies Limiled” United Kingdom Uniled Kingdom 100 Conslruct
Mace Plus Graup Limited® United Kingdom Linited Kinigdom 100 Construct
Mace Plus Limited* Uniled Kingdem United Kingdom_ 100 Cpnslmcl
Mace Tech Limitad* United Kingdom 100 Construct

United Kingdom
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" 23. List of subsidiary undertakings [continued)”

Consult

Company ]

Country ef reglstration/
incorporation

Tax Resldency

Voling
rights

Nature of business

Mace Acslialla Proprietary Limiled
S14 02 Lavel 14, 6B-Pitt Streat,
Sydnéy NSW 2000 -

Austialio

Austrafia

Auslralia

100 Cansult and Operate -

Mace Consullancy (Canada) Limited £
c/a ARC information Services Ing -
3-84 Casllebury Crescent

Totorto, Qalario M2H 1W8

Canada

Canada

Canada

100 Cansuls

Mace Zagreb d.o.0.
Pelrin]ska 42 a
Zagreb 10600
Croatia

Croalia

Croalia

100 -Consuli

Callomin Prepery Solutions Limited
59-61 Acropolis Avenue

3 ficar, Flat 301
Nicnsia 2017
Cyprus

Cyprus -

Cyprus

-t00 Consuil

Mace Holdings Limited &
59-B1 Acropolis Avenue
"3 fioor, Flat 301,
Nicosia 2012

Cyprus

Cyprus

Cyprus

109 Consull --Holding company

Mace International Limited ®
69-61 Acropolis Avenue
Savvides Caurt 3 flaar
Nicasia 2812
“Cyprus

Cyprus

DOubai

100 Consult

Mace Egyp! for Projeci Management L L.C.
10 Al-Qbour Buildings | .
Salah Satern Road

10" Floor, Apartiment 1

Cairo

Egypt

Egypl

Egypl

100 GConsull

wace Projels Sarl R
27 Place de la Madeleine
75008 Paris.

France

France

France

100 Consull

Mace GmbH
Hamburger Alfee 45
60486 Frankfur

Germany

Germany

Germany

100 Caonsult

Mace Management Service Limited
Kwakkranya Street .
Accra 1389 -

Ghana.

Ghana

Ghana

160 Consuil

Mace Limiled
Room 24, Unit B, 8/F
HungMou Industrial Building
82 Hung To Road
Kwun Tong
Hong Keng

Hong Kong

Hong Kong

100 Gonsult and Qperate

Tencore Limiled

Unit 507, 5/F Chinachem Plaza
77 pMaody Road

Tsim Sha Tsui East

Hong Kong

Hong Kong

Hong Kung-

€0 . Caonsulf

Tenman (HK) Limited
Unit 807, &/F Chinachern Plaza
.| 77 Mady Road ’
‘| Tsim Sha Tsui East
Hong Kon

Hong Kong

Hang Kang

50 Consult -

Mace Praject & Cost Manageneni Private
Limlted .

01A171 & 014172 Platina Tower, MG Road
Near Sikandarpur Meiro Station, Sector 28
Gurgaon
Haryana
122002
India

india

Indta

100 Consult

Mace Consultancy (Ireland) Limited
Floor 3 Block 3,

Miestan Plaza

Dubiin

ireland

Iretand

Ireland -

100 Consuit
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-33. List of subsidiary undertakings {centinued)

Consult

N

Country of reguslrahonl rTax Resldency

Incarparation

Voting
rights

Nature of business.

< any .
face Consultancy {Jersey) Limited
44 Esplanade, St Helier |
Jersey JE4 WG

Jersey

Jersey

100

Consult

Mace Management Services LLP

78, Bailursynuly Strgel Ve
Aparimenl 38, Almalinskiy Disltricl

050022 Almaty .
Kazakhsian

Kazakhsian

Kazakhstan

100

Dormant,

Mace Management Services Limsled

The Westwood, 9th Flaor

Vale Close off Ring Read Westiands Mairobi
Kenya

Kenya

Kenya

100

Consult

Mace YMR Limlled Llabnllly Parlnersh!p
4Ih Floor, East Wing

Lion Place, Nairobi

Kenya

Kenya

Kenya

B1

Consult

Mace Limitada

Alameda Dr. Carlos dAssumpcaa, no. 263
China Civlf Plaze  ~  ,

6o. andarMe N

Macau

Macau

100

“Consukt

Macau
. mceYMﬂ Lid
c/o Malco Limited, 111h floor, Towear 1
Nexteracom Buiiding
Ebene Cybercity
fMauritius

Mauritius

Mauritiug

61

Consuit

Mace Management Services, SARL
108, Rue Abderrahman Sehraoui
Casablarica, 20070

Morocto

Moarocco

Morotco

100

Cansult

Utremace B.V..
Zuidplain 118, Tower H, Level 14
1077XV Amsterdam

| Netherlards

Netherands

Netherlands

100

Dermant

Mace Management Services Limited
248 Amadu Tijani Close, Vicloria Is|and
Lagos State, Nigeria

Nigeria

Nilgeria

100

Consult

Mace International LLC
PO Box BBS

Muscat Governatorate
Mulrah, Ruwi

112 Oman

Oman

QOman

- B5

Consull

Mace Consult Pakislan (Private) Lmled :
4ih Fioor, Genlra! Hotel Building

Civil Lines

Mereweather Road

Karachi

Pakistan

Pakislan

Pakistan

100

Consult

Mace Consultancy (Peru) S.AC
Avenue Santa Toribio 143

San Isidro )

Lima, Perv

Q0

Consult

Tenman Projecl Managemenl Inc

Rooms 805-808, 8™ Floor The Qne Execulive
Office Building

5 West Avenue

Brgy Nayong Kanluran

Quezan City

Philippines

Philippines

Phllippines

. 6O

Consult

Mace Polska Spalka zoo
Al Jana Pawla 1l 29
00-867 Warszawa
Paiand

Peland

Polang

100

Gonsuilt

Mace — Consultoria-e Geslao de F'rcuedos 2
Consirueao, Lda
_Rua Nova StellaNo ?

2780 — 087, Caxias

Portugal

Mace Management Services Limited

Umujyi wa Kigali

Gasabo, Kacyiru

Rwanda

Ponugal

Pertugal

160

Consult

Rwanda

.Rwanda

100

Consult

Mace Arabia for Engineering Consultancy LLG
The Business Gate, Unit A, Second Flaor
Zane C, Building 4

PO Box 12185

Riyadh, 11473

Saudi Arabla

Saudi Arabia

Saudi Arabia

100

Cansuit
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33. List of subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Consult

Company

Country of registration/
incorporation

Tax Residency

Voting

O

Nature of business

Mace Holdings leiled

Al Mousa Centre, Tower 4
Unit 435_ Olaya Street
P By 91A47, Riyadh
42241

Saudi Arabia

Saud| Arabla

Saudi Arabia

rights
T ss

Consull

Mace Asia Cansullancy Pie Lid
B0 Robinson Road

- No, 02.00
Singapore
068893

Singapore

Singapore

100

Consult

Mace Projgcl Solutiens {Pty) Limited
Bryanston Place Office Park

1st Flogr Southview Building

199 Bryariston Drive

Bryanston

Gauteng 2129

Souih Africa

South Africa

South Africa

48

Consult

. Mace Managemen! Services (Ply) Limiled
Flaar 2 Building 1 Waverley Office Park
15 Forest Road, Bramley

Johannesburg

Gauleng 2199

Soulh Africa

South Africa

Scouth Alrica.

100

Const

Mace Management Services 5.A
Pasen de la Castellana .
135 Edificlk Cuzco Lt

Planta 3, 28046

Madrid

Spain

Spatn’

Spaln

100

Consult

Manzagemen! and Excellenca Cansuhancy
{Qatar} Limiled
2nd Floor, Office 204

i Building‘Ga, Al Malar Streel 310
Zone 27,-Daha
Qatar

State of Qatar |

State of Qatar

87"

Caonsull

Mace SmbH (closure in pracess)
c/o Urs Schneebeli
Scheldeggsirasse 119

8038

| Zurich, Switzeriand

Switrerland

Switzerand

100

Consult |

Mace Managemenl Services AG
<lo 0BT AG
Slemengraben 42, 4051, Basel

Swiltzerdanag

Swikzeiland

100

Cansuil

Mace Syna LLC
"No registered office

Syria

Syria

100

Darmant

Mace Construction. Management and
Consullancy Services Limiled

Magka Cad Tuncer Bu]ldlng No:28 D.13
Macka, $isl

Istanbyl, Turkey

Turkey

Turkey

A00

Consull

- YMR Partnership Uganda
Plol 24b Akibua Road, Nakasero
Ericson’Bullding 3r¢ Floor
Kampgla
Ugands

Uganda

Uganda

5%

Consult

Mace (New Zealand) Omited: @

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

100

Consuil

Mace (Russiay Limited"

United Kingdam

United Kingdam

100G

Consult

Mace (Slovakia) Limited”

_ United Kingdom

United Kingdom

100

Consult

Mace Angala Special Projects Limited*

United Kingdam

United Kingdam

100

Consut

Mace Cansult Limited*

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

100

Coansul

Mace Consultancy (Asla Pacific) Limiled*

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

100

Cansylt

Mace Consultancy {Eurcpe) Limited” ®

Unilted Kingdam

United Kingdom

100

Consult

Mace Consultancy (MENA) Limiled®

Uniled Kingdam

United Kingdom

100

Coneult

87




Mace Limited

Notes to the financial statements (continued) )
Year ended 31 December 2022 -

33. List of subsidiary undertakings (continued}

Consult . -

Company . ! Country of registration/ Tax Resldency Voting Nature of business
- ) fncorporation rights 5 5

Mace Consuftancy (Netherlands) Limitag* 8 United Kingdom . -1 Uniled Kingdom 1400 Cansuit

Mate Consultancy (Peru) Limiteg* ® - - | United Kingdem United Kingdom 100 Consult

Mace Consuitancy (Sub-Saharan Africa) Limited* United Kingdom _ United Kingdomn 100 Consult |

Mace Consullancy (The Americas) Limited* United Kingdom United Kingdem 100 Consult

Mace Cost Consullancy Limited* . United Kingdom ) United Kingdem 100 ° | Consult

Mace lernalional {UK) Limiteg* ) ) . United Kingdom United Kingdom’ 100 Consull

Mace International Overseas Limited* ® United Kingdom Unilted Kingdem 100 Consult

Mace Prajecls (South Alrica) Limited*? United Kingdom . | United Kingdom 1a0 Cansult M{

Mace Sustain Limited* - United Kingdom United Kingdom . L 1a¢ Darmanl

Msecure Limited" Unlted Kingdem United Kingdan - 100 Consult

Mace Norh America Limited ® : UsSA USA 160 | Consult

3500 Lenox Road ) :

Suile 1500

Atlanta GA 30326

United States of America . .

Mace Vietnam Company Limited ® - Vietnam Vielnam ' 100 Consult
Fioor 13, BIDV Tower, No. 194, : R

Tran Quang Khai Street . . .
Ly Thai To Ward .

Hanai City

Vielnam ) . ) .

Group services - .

Company - . Country of registration/ Tax Residency Voting Nature of business
. incorporation : . “rights

Cldve Holdings lnvestments Limited** . Gibraltar Giealtar N/A | Holding company of

. . ermployee benefit frust
Mace Group I.C.5 Lirnited T Ireland . Iretand 100 Dormant

Floar 3, Black 3
Miesian Plaza
Oubfin 2

Ireland .
Cily Fringe Limited* T United Kingdem United Kingdom _ . 100 Holding company
Frontier Finance Pic” {in liquigation} . . United Kingdom _United Kingdom 100 Public limited company

Mace Living Sotutions Limited United Kingdom United Kingdom 100 | Living Solutions

Mace l_nfraslruc{ure Limited - Urnited Kingdom Unilad Kingdom 100 Cormant _J

QOnperate : -

) Company Country of registration/ Tax Resldency Vating Mature of business
. Incorporatian - rights -

Mace Macro Brazil Consuliotia Em Projetos E Brazil . Brazil 100 Operate |

Construcao Ltda - .
Alameda Sanios 200, Conjunio 82, Sao Paulo,
01418-00, Brazil : .
Mace Macro Chile Spa X Chile Chile T 100 Qperate

Padre Mariang No 272
Office 602 -
Providencia

Sanfiago

Chile .
Maca (Chinay Limited -~ - China - China f 160 Oporate
Roam CO4, 17/F . . i

2650 Norlh Zhongshan Road
Putuo District

Shanghal

China . ) -
Mace Macro Internaiionai Limited & Cyprus ~ * Dubai 100 Qperale
58-61 Acropolis Avenue - .

3" ficor, Flal 301

Nicasia 2012 - .
Cyorus L
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33. List of subsidiary undertakings {continued)

Operate

Company

Gountry of registration/
incosporation

.Tax Residency

Vating
_righis

Nature of business

16" Floor, Building 9, Tower A
Regus Pride Buslness Genlres F'rwals Limited
N F Qyherrliy, Phaes 4
Gurgaon, Haryana
122002 India

Mace Macro India (FM Solulions) Privale Limited

India

India

100

Operate

Mace Macro (Ireland) Limited
. Joyce House
" 22/23 Holles Streey
Dublin 2~

ireland

Ireland

lreland

- 100 |

Operate’

Jordan

720 Level 7
Waha Ammoun Building
Gardens Sireet, Amman, 45652
Jordan

Mace Macrg Iﬂlefnahona! Invesiments mem:d -

Jordan

Jordan

100

Operate

Mace Macro Luxembourg S.& vl
45-rue des Sciias

L - 2529 Howald

Luxembourg

Luxembourg

Luxembourg

100

Qperate

Mace Macro Inlernational Limited LLC
Office 201, 2™ Flogy

Makiabi 4, Al Khuwalr

| PO Box 1149

1 Muscat 1114

Oman

Qman

Oman

7t

Operate

Mace Macro Pakistan (Pvl) Limfted
4in Floor, Central Holel Bundlng
Civit Lines

Mereweather Road

Karachi

Pakistan '

Pakislan

Pakislan

100

Operale

Mace Macro Savdi Arabia Limiled
P.0. Box 14048 Jeddah Kingdom Saudi Arabia

Saudi Arabla

. Saudi Arabia

50

Operate

Macro Saudi Arabia Limiled

PO Box 1601, Amir Sultan Street
Jeddah 21424,

KSA -

Saudi Arabia

Saudi Arahia

75

Dormant

Macro Qatar LLC

Office Na.3, 3rd Flaar, Buliding No. 7
Al Hitrnl Village

C Ring Road

Doha, P.O.BOX 31237

Qalar

Stale of Qatar

élale of Qatar

IR)

Operate

Mate Macro Inlemalional Invesimenis Limited
Bin Shabib & Assoctates (BSA) LLE

DIFC Building 3, 8th floor

PO, Box 262, Dubai

Unlted Arab Emirates

UAE

UAE

100

Operate

_Ft24 Limited*

United Kingdom

Uniled Kingdom

100

Operate

Mace (Poland) Limited* ® _

United Kingdom

Uniled Kingdom

100

Ope'rate

Mace Macra (Asia Pacific) Limileg* ®

United Kingdom,

Uniled Kingdom

100

Operate

Mace Magro (The americas) Limited® ®

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

100

- Operale

Mace Macro Africa Uimited® ®

" Uniled Kingdom

United Kingdom

100

Cperale

Mace Macro Euroge Limited* ®

Linited Kingdom

United Kingdom’

100

QOperate

-Mace Macra Limited*

Uniled Kingdom

United Kingdom

100 .

Cperate

Mace Operate {MENA) Limited*

Uniled Kingdom

United Kingdom

100

Cperale

Mace Operate Limited*®

United Kingdom

Uniled Kingdom

100

Operale
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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33, List of subsidiary undertakings (ccntinue’&)

Companles are registered al head office address in ihe UK; 155 Moorgale, London, EC2M BXB

* Clove Investments Holdings Limiled is an indirect Invesiment of the Company. I is a direcl invesiment of lhe Mace Limiled Employee
Benefit Trusl. The shareholder of Clave Investment Holdings Limited is a nominee shareholder and acts on inslructions given to them by Mace Ltmlleu

34,

% Companies with one.or more international branch leg|s|rauons

The Ccmpany has guafanleed the iiabilities of the following subsidiaries exempl from audit under section 479A of the
. Companies Aclt 2008 The company hames and registered numbers (CRN) are below:

Ciy Fringe Limiled
{CRN: 11479884) - -
Como-Censtruclion Limited
(CRN: 4643980}
Como Group Limited
(CRN: 4643572}
Como Homes Limiled
{CRN: 4969652)
FM 24 Limiied
{CRN: 3773320)
Graduation Student Living Limited
(CRN: 7773718)
Greenwich Square Commercial Limited
{CRN: B136122)
Greenwich Square Limiled
{CRN: 08220809)
Mace (New Zeatand} Limiled
(CRN: 9553353}
Mace (Poland) Limited
(CRN: 8120932)
Mace (Russia) Limited
[CRN: 8127297}
Mace {Slovakiz) Limited
{CRN: B950843) .
Mace Angoia Special Projects Limited
(CRN: 10875311)
Mace Construct Specialist Services Limited
(CRN: 5726148)
Mace Construclion (Inlemalmnal) Limiled
{CRN: 11640220}
Mace Consultancy {Asia Pacmc) le|led
{CRN: 11480706)
- Mace Consilancy (Europe) leiled

{CRN: 11604881)
Mace Cansullancy (MENA) Limiled
(CRN: 11941058)
Mace Consultancy (Nelherlands) Lxmlied
{CRN: 10827128} .
Mace Cansultancy {Peru) Limited

. {CRN: 11938013)

© Mace Consultancy (Sub-Saharan Africa} Limited
(CRN: 13331920)
Mace Consultancy (The Americas) Limited
{CRN: 10874751}
Mace Cost Consultancy Limited
{CRN: 53328G3)
- Mace Develop Lim'tad

{CRN: 3471116)

‘Ultimate parent undeﬂakmg and controlling party

-Mace Developments [Greénwich) Limited

{CRN; 6987720)

Mace Developments {Slevenage) Limited
(CRN: 317344568}

Mace Qevelopments lelled

({CRN: 11639828)

Mace Estate Sajutions Limited

(CRM: 13728583)

Mace Facades Limiied

({CRN: 11908325) .

Mace inledors Groug Limited

" (CRM: 04543976)

Mace International {UK) Limlted
[CRN: 11639975)

Mace infrastrycture Limited

(CRN: 14452714)

Mace Internalional Dverséas Limited
ICRN; 7463978

Mace Living Limited

(CRN. 5158449}

Mace Living Solutions anlled
[CRN: 13060238)

Mace Macro {Asia Pacific) Limited
(CRN: 7407865}

iace Macra (The Americas} Limited
(CAN: 5910338}

Mace Macro Africa Limited

{CRN: 10448074)

Magce Macro Europe Limiled

{CRN; 5B97543)

Mace Macro Limited

(CRN: 11639977)

- Mace MEP Services Limited

(CRN: 13545668)

Mace Operate (MENA) Limited
(CRN: 13708787) - -

Mace Plus Academies Limited
(CRN; 5897847) .
Mace Plus Group Limiled
(CRN; 5349265) :
Mace Pius Limited

(CRN: 5282952)

Mace Projects (Saulh Arnca) Limited
(CRN:.09623284)

 Mace Sustain Limited

{CRN: 5979488}
tMace Tech Limited

{CRN: 11677474}

Msecure Limited
{CRN: 5072221)

The Company is awholly owned subsidiary of the Mace Group and its ultimate parent is Mace Flnance Lirnited. Both companles are
incorporated in England and Wales. The resuits of the Company a inciuded in the’ consafrda(ed accounts aof Mace Firance Limited,

copies of which are available 1mm Companies House,
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